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Passion is a key driver at ithmaar Bank. it pervades our 
every thought and action as we carry our enterprise 
forward. Passion is often a painful process which we know 
only too well as we proceed with the renewal and growth 
of the Bank through a continuous process of reallocation 
of resources from low yielding that negatively impact 
business to high yielding. Passion drives our search for 
new vibrancy and strength.

Passion - a strong liking or desire for, or devotion to some activity, object or concept; an intense enthusiasm for something; derived from 

the late latin passio and the latin - pati which means to suffer.
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ithmaar Bank B.s.c. is a Bahrain-based licensed islamic retail 

bank regulated by the central Bank of Bahrain. formerly an 

investment bank, ithmaar Bank B.s.c. completed a comprehensive 

reorganisation with its then wholly-owned subsidiary, shamil Bank 

of Bahrain B.s.c. (c) in april 2010. it is a publicly held company 

listed on the Bahrain Bourse and the kuwait stock exchange; and is 

the second largest capitalised islamic Bank on the Bahrain Bourse.

   our vision a trusted leading islamic financial institution offering a comprehensive range of 

financial solutions and contributing to social development.

   our mission To be the preferred Bank for our customers, counterparties and strategic partners by 

creating value through innovation. These include: retail and commercial banking,  

asset management, investment and private banking, private equity, public and 

private issue of securities, mergers and acquisitions advice, takaful, equipment 

leasing, and real estate development.

   our values  comply with sharia principles

 honesty, integrity and objectivity in all our relationships

 market and customer focused

 continuous improvement, creativity, innovation and willingness to bring about changes

 active role in community
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realisation of aspiration is what we capture, snapshot style, in this section. 

The path to such realisation consists of several key initiatives which ithmaar 

Bank has been developing and working on, over the year. The success of 

these initiatives will fuel the Bank’s continued growth, development and 

well-being and establish it as a regional islamic Bank of stature, delivering 

sustainable returns to stakeholders.

The Enterprise of a Premier Islamic Retail Bank

aiming to become  
a regional islamic Bank 

we have expanded our footprint beyond the borders of 

Bahrain, establishing a presence in countries across  

the region.

through broadening  
delivery channels 

growing our network of branches, aTms and other 

access points and tapping new ones including social 

networking media are taking business further afield.
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the enterprise of a Premier islamic retail Bank

realising synergies  
of the group 

drawing the ‘threads of enterprise’ of constituent group 

entities for the benefit of the whole is a sine-qua-non.

reallocating resources 

reallocating assets from less productive to more profitable 

and operating within a framework of islamic retail banking 

continue to drive growth.
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investing in it and people 

developing and empowering our people and enhancing iT 

capability are vital ‘building blocks’ to success.

and setting a new paradigm in 
environmental stewardship

measuring and disclosing our carbon footprint is but a small 

first step that will spur a giant leap in our quest to leave 

behind a better environment for our future generations. 

the enterprise of a Premier islamic retail Bank
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Financial Highlights

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
(restated)

net profit/(loss) (us$ ’000) (61,906) (140,008) (251,508) 85,162 188,310

net profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders (us$ ’000) (62,886) (150,409) (247,415) 22,168 102,755

Total equity attributable to shareholders (us$ ’000) 576,828 656,578 711,435 923,909 1,087,808

Book value per share (us cents) 21.50 24.45 31.27 43.89 50.60

earnings per share (us cents) (2.31) (5.89) (11.31) 0.95 5.79

Total assets (us$ ’000) 6,899,420 6,747,467 6,105,934 5,380,426 4,078,789

funds under management (restricted and unrestricted  
   investment accounts) (us$ ’000) 2,506,281 2,966,362 2,206,461 1,991,673 1,723,814

return on average shareholders’ equity -10.20% -21.99% -30.26% 2.20% 10.93%

return on average assets -0.91% -2.18% -4.13% 1.80% 5.09%

return on average paid in capital -9.37% -24.26% -45.12% 4.16% 23.07%

cost to operating income ratio 121.71% 72.06% 139.31% 51.51% 41.27%

cash dividends (us$ ’000) – – – – 53,747

cash dividends per share (us cents) – – – – 2.50

stock dividends – – – 10% 20%

capital adequacy ratio 12.88% 13.20% 12.77% 14.41% 18.63%

market price per share (us cents) 6.5 12.5 24 26 58

price earnings multiple – – – 27 10

market price per share/Book value per share 0.30 0.51 0.77 0.59 1.15



A View from the Top

one point that clearly emerges is that the strategy we chose 
to follow has been proved correct

HrH Prince amr mohammed al Faisal - chairman mohammed Bucheerei - ceo and member of the Board
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in the name of allah, most gracious, most merciful

dear shareholders,

it is still a little too early for celebrations. Yet, looking back on the past two years, the steady improvement 

recorded by the Bank in most key performance indicators is more than heartening. not only does it hold 

out hope of a relatively early return to profitability, it also confirms that the bold strategy upon which we 

embarked in 2010 following the reorganisation with shamil Bank is the right one. 

notwithstanding the depressed and troubled global market conditions and the unprecedented local  

and regional political turmoil, the Bank posted a total income of $451 million in 2011, an increase of  

2.9 percent over the previous year. although the balance sheet grew a modest 2.3 percent to reach  

$6.9 billion during the year, the growth in customer deposits (current accounts and unrestricted 

investment accounts) and financing were far more impressive. customer deposits increased by  

23.5 percent to $1.48 billion, while financing increased 8.7 percent to $2.73 billion. such steady 

improvement is encouraging, but no cause for complacency. although it suggests that we are getting 

things right strategically and operationally, it is hardly a milestone on the path to be traversed. 

despite improved performance and a stronger retail focused balance sheet, the year’s bottom line is 

still negative. in the year under review shareholders of the Bank sustained a net loss of $62.9 million, 

notwithstanding a strong 58 percent recovery over last year’s loss of $150.4 million. and while liquidity 

has improved significantly since the parlous position in mid-2010, capital adequacy continues to be a key 

focus for the Bank.

no easy oPtions in 2011 given the necessary readjustments and upheavals that accompanied the Bank’s transformation in 2010, 

we should have been grateful for a quieter year…a breathing-space in which to accustom ourselves to 

the demands of a new business model and catch our collective breath. it was not to be. The year 2011 

was unusually difficult for the world, the region and Bahrain.

most salient, for Bahrain, was the unrest in the kingdom since february 2011, affecting business activity 

and creating much uncertainty amongst investors and ordinary folks alike. 

overshadowing all of this was, of course, the eurozone debt crisis, which raised the spectre of sovereign 

default in more than one european country and suggested unforeseeable political, economic and 

monetary turmoil resulting from the danger to a single currency. many observers expressed fears of yet 

another global recession, hard on the heels of the one from which the world - and your Bank - are now 

slowly recovering.

indeed, global liquidity declined even as financial markets weakened. world and regional growth  

slowed - and, in some markets and segments, stalled altogether.

such was the backdrop against which ithmaar Bank was obliged to manage its transformation.  

what sustained us, in the end, was our vision of what could be achieved, the passion and loyalty of 

our management and employees, and a determination to overcome every difficulty and obstacle with 

sustained, cooperative effort. The unwavering support of our shareholders and the central Bank of 

Bahrain also played a key role.

a view from the top
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a deCision validated Just as we did last year, we have structured and presented this year’s report so as to convey the 

operational and financial position of the Bank as plainly and candidly as possible. This is more than 

simply a question of doing what is demanded statutorily, for implicit in these figures is much that we can 

take pride in. 

one point that clearly emerges is that the strategy we chose to follow has been proved correct.  

To reinvent ourselves as an islamic retail bank was a radical move in the eyes of some, given our past 

history as an investment bank. having chosen our strategy, moreover, we stuck to it even as Bahrain 

and the world economies were engulfed in serial crises that sapped the confidence of investors and 

consumers alike. 

The results, this year, from our islamic retail banking operations fully bear out our decision.  

The contribution of retail Banking to revenue is the largest amongst internal business units. encouraged 

by our reputation for fair dealing, and through well-designed products and services as well as innovative 

advertising campaigns, customers have been quick to sign up with us. we also increased our branch and 

aTm networks, invested in personnel development and improved a number of core systems.

Yet, even in retail banking there is no room for complacency. our return on investment in this area is 

geared to improve considerably in the near future.

disPosal oF a legaCy ithmaar Bank remains burdened with the carrying cost of a sizeable underperforming investment 

portfolio, a legacy from the financial crisis of 2008. it is, we are happy to say, a considerably lower  

figure than the one we started the year with. in fact following the ithmaar-shamil reorganisation in  

april 2010, we have reduced this portfolio by nearly $161 million. had the carrying cost and the 

impairment provision on them been smaller, it would have been our pleasure to announce the Bank’s 

return to profitability in 2011. swift divestiture at the right price was and will continue to be our key 

objective, though increased and sustained efforts will have to be made in this area if we are to return to 

full profitability soon.

a question oF CaPital as mentioned earlier, the Bank aims to maintain a necessary level of capital for its ongoing growth.  

however a large part of its capital, in line with the current capital adequacy regulations, is allocated to 

support the investment portfolio, a legacy from the investment banking activities of ithmaar Bank prior 

to its reorganisation with shamil Bank in 2010. The Bank needs new capital infusion to forge ahead and 

exploit future opportunities for sustained growth in its core banking activities namely, islamic retail and 

corporate banking.

an infusion of additional capital is essential for operational as well as statutory reasons, since it will 

substantially reduce our risk profile and hence reduce our borrowing costs. raising capital is therefore 

a key priority in our strategic thinking as we look to the immediate future. it also means that we are 

making every effort to increase the value as well as the profitability of your investment to make the 

Bank a more attractive prospect for investors.

a view from the top
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strategiC outlook The main drivers of our growth will continue to be retail and corporate banking. To achieve this objective, 

our strategy is to expand our islamic retail and corporate banking portfolio through the introduction of 

new products, while seeking to improve the ratio of financing to deposits.

corporate banking activities will be concentrated on the regional market, with particular emphasis on the 

sme sector in key markets such as Bahrain and saudi arabia. meanwhile, the restructuring and divestiture 

of selected legacy investment portfolio will continue. The asset management group will continue to play 

an important role in this area.

in international banking, we have expanded our target markets and begun intensive meetings and 

presentations to key prospects.

private banking has delivered successful results despite the political upheaval in the region, and we 

expect to see an increase in revenues over the next few years.

aCknowledgments as stated earlier, the greater part of the credit must go to the employees and managers of the Bank for 

the execution of a successful turnaround in these challenging times. The value of their contribution is 

incalculable by any monetary measure. we would like to place on record our sincere appreciation to all 

members of our management and staff, as well as those of all our subsidiaries and associates around the 

globe. The values and the passion we share have proved their worth yet again, and we have no doubt 

they will continue to do so in the future.

we are most grateful to the members of the Board of directors as well as the sharia supervisory 

Board for their wise counsel, oversight and continued support. The Board remains unswerving in its 

commitment to our shareholders and to the highest standards of probity and business ethics.

Thanks are also due to our numerous and varied stakeholders. in particular, we would like to thank our 

customers for their valued patronage and trust, our shareholders for their loyalty and goodwill, and the 

central Bank of Bahrain for its continuing oversight and support.

amr mohammed al Faisal mohammed Bucheerei

chairman ceo and member of the Board

28 february 2012

a view from the top
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Building a sustainable Business

already more than 60 percent of our assets are in corporate and retail banking.  

This reallocation of assets continues, as we move towards completing our transition 

from an investment bank to an islamic retail bank. in tandem, so has been the  

steady increase in our income stream. we endured high front end costs to invest  

in growing our corporate and retail banking core businesses with a long-term  

view…a more painful but sustainable path of delivering on our successful strategies, 

versus showing short-term results. we are now on the threshold of revealing the 

newly resplendent ithmaar.

T H E  I T H M A A R

PASSION
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A Financial Review

Living Passion - A Year of Endurance and Reward - 2011

introduCtion ithmaar Bank, following its reorganisation in april 2010 with its wholly-owned subsidiary, shamil Bank, 

continues its transformation to an islamic retail Bank from that of an investment Bank. 

at the time of reorganisation, a three year strategic business plan was prepared identifying the 

challenges that it must overcome for it to return to profitability; the most significant of them was asset 

allocation. ithmaar Bank has made reasonable progress in terms of addressing these challenges and in 

particular in its overall performance.

Though ithmaar Bank has reported a loss this year, its performance needs to be viewed in the context of 

the following challenges and results.

The global economic crisis continued to impact ithmaar Bank’s operations in respect of some of its 

subsidiaries and associates overseas. The unrest in Bahrain, the Bank’s primary market, made matters 

worse. it was against this backdrop of challenging socio-economic conditions and uncertain investor 

sentiments that ithmaar Bank continued to reorganise its business model, moving from an investment 

bank to an islamic retail bank.

The reorganisation with shamil Bank had its own challenges. while the market continued to offer 

business opportunities, competition also heightened, throwing an additional challenge to ithmaar to 

complete its transformation, while being saddled with legacy issues arising from its investment  

banking assets.

a significant challenge for ithmaar Bank was to rearrange its asset allocation, where more of its assets 

were moved to islamic financing as opposed to investment assets. accordingly, a critical review and 

plan to rationalise ithmaar’s investments were put into action. some of them are earmarked for sale. 

however, though ithmaar Bank has made progress in reducing its investment portfolio, the depressed 

market conditions have slowed the divestment process. on the positive side, ithmaar Bank’s core 

business - retail and corporate Banking - grew substantially (see separate notes on retail and corporate 

banking). The retail and corporate banking businesses are set to grow significantly in the medium term.

PerFormanCe consolidated total income grew to $451.0 million in 2011 from $438.4 million in 2010. The growth is 

significant because last year’s income includes one off gains totalling $82.8 million arising from two 

transactions one totalling $44.1 million and the other $38.7 million gain arising from an acquisition. 

should we compare year on year having removed this one off income, then the growth in total income is 

a remarkable 27%. importantly the growth in total income comes from a significant improvement in the 

income from murabaha and other financing - a recurring and sustainable income for the longer term. 

Though total income improved, it has been off set by a large increase in financing costs ($276.1 million 

in 2011 vs $212.8 million in 2010) and large increases in total expenses. Total expenses increased 

primarily in one of ithmaar Bank’s overseas subsidiaries because of an acquisition of another business in 

october 2010. cost rationalisation plans are under way to contain them. 



i T hmaar  B ank  B . s . c .     annua l  repo r t  2 011 15

a Financial review

living Passion - a year of endurance and reward - 2011

on a positive note, the net impairment provisions for the year reduced to $21.8 million compared to 

$209.3 million made in 2010. as before, the provisions during 2011 were estimated in line with the 

Bank’s accounting policies.

however, despite the gains in total income and impairment provisions, they were offset by the increase 

in total expenses, resulting in a net loss of $62.8 million attributable to shareholders of the Bank, which 

is 58% lower than the net loss of $150.4 million made in 2010.

FinanCial Position

assets on the asset side, murabaha and other financing increased from $2,515 million to $2,733 million during 

the year. arising from the increase in business volume, total assets increased from $6,747 million to 

$6,899 million in 2011, reflecting a 2.3% growth. as shown in note 30 to the consolidated financial 

statements on segmental information, corporate and retail banking now account for approximately 63% 

of the group’s total assets. 

Funding it is encouraging to note a significant improvement in various sources of funding, notably customer 

current accounts, amounts due to investors (mainly corporates and individuals in faysal Bank limited) 

and equity of unrestricted investment account holders. current accounts improved from $684 million to  

$792 million in 2011 while amounts due to investors decreased marginally from $1,970 million to  

$1,930 million. further, equity of unrestricted investment account holders also increased from  

$1,195 million to $1,476 million during the year.

equity Total owners’ equity decreased from $656 million to $576 million as at 2011 mainly due to the net loss 

incurred for the year.

ProFitaBility The large reduction in the net loss during the year resulted in the return on average assets improving 

from a negative 2.18% to a negative 0.91%, while return on average equity improved from a negative 

21.99% to a negative 10.20%.

asset quality

imPairment Provisions The Bank continued to review the asset portfolio and make impairment provisions on a prudent basis.  

a significant portion of these provisions was in relation to the investment portfolios. details of 

impairment provision for assets are given in notes 28 and 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
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a Financial review

living Passion - a year of endurance and reward - 2011

staBility The capital adequacy ratio (car) is one of the most important indicators of the stability of a bank. 

accordingly, ithmaar Bank has over the years been mindful of the need to maintain this ratio at levels 

above the statutory minimum. as at 31 december 2011 the consolidated car was 12.88%. The Bank 

is cognisant of the need to improve the ratio further to comfortable levels which will strengthen the 

stability of the institution while creating leeway for future business expansion. ithmaar will be taking 

necessary steps in the coming years to further improve the car.

liquidity maintaining adequate liquidity received considerable attention throughout the year. having raised funds 

through multiple sources, and refinanced certain existing liabilities to mature in 2015, the year ended on 

a positive note for ithmaar. in particular, the maturity profile of the liabilities too has been improved to 

longer term, where more of the liabilities mature beyond one year compared to last year.

grouP suBsidiaries and assoCiates The major operating subsidiaries and associates within the group are briefly discussed below.  

restriction on the transfer of funds or regulatory capital within the group are as per regulations in 

respective countries.

Faysal Bank limited faysal Bank started operations in pakistan in 1987, first as a branch of faysal islamic Bank of Bahrain, 

and then in 1995, as a locally incorporated pakistani bank under the present name of faysal Bank 

limited (fBl). another group entity in pakistan, al faysal investment Bank limited, merged into fBl in 

2002, which resulted in a larger, stronger and more versatile institution. fBl is a full-service banking 

institution offering consumer, corporate and investment banking services through a large network of 

branches in the country. in line with ithmaar Bank’s focus on growing its core retail business overseas, 

fBl fully acquired the operations of royal Bank of scotland (rBs) pakistan in 2010, thus increasing the 

number of its branches from 133 to 220 in 2010. at 31 december 2011, fBl had increased its branches 

to 257. The group owns 66.7% of faysal Bank limited.

Faisal Private Bank faisal private Bank, originally established in 1980 as sharia investment services sa in geneva,  

is the first swiss bank exclusively dedicated to providing islamic financial services. faisal private Bank is 

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the group.

itHmaar develoPment ComPany ithmaar development company is a developer and manager of ithmaar Bank’s major development 

projects, which include real estate, infrastructure, resorts, hotels, commercial buildings and medical 

facilities. many of these are high profile projects, such as the dilmunia at Bahrain health island, light of 

Bahrain, reflections of Bahrain and dilmunia at essaouria, morocco. ithmaar development company is a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of the group.
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a Financial review

living Passion - a year of endurance and reward - 2011

BBk BBk was established in 1971, and has grown to become one of the largest commercial banks in Bahrain. 

it has a strong local and regional presence, including branches in kuwait and india, and a representative 

office in dubai, uae. BBk provides a full range of lending, deposit, treasury and investment services, and 

has established a number of subsidiaries in the areas of brokerage, financial services and credit cards.  

it caters to a wide spectrum of customers and sectors, both locally and regionally. The group owns 

25.4% of BBk.

sakana HolistiC Housing solutions sakana, which was established in 2005, provides both residents and non-residents an opportunity for 

home ownership through a mortgage finance model based on islamic sharia principles. with its holistic 

focus, sakana’s portfolio includes property consulting and property development. ithmaar Bank and BBk 

each own 50%, resulting in group controlling stake of 62.7% of sakana.

solidarity grouP Holdings solidarity is one of the largest takaful (islamic insurance) companies in the world. The company provides 

islamic sharia-compliant general and family takaful products and services in its global business. solidarity 

operates two fully-owned subsidiaries in Bahrain, namely, solidarity general Takaful and solidarity 

family Takaful, while continuing to consolidate and position itself in the markets of Jordan, saudi arabia, 

malaysia and egypt. The group owns 33.8% of solidarity.

naseej B.s.C. headquartered in the kingdom of Bahrain, naseej is the first fully-integrated real estate and 

infrastructure development company in the mena region. forward-looking, socially responsible and 

sharia-principled, naseej was established by prominent private and public sector investors to act as a 

pioneering catalyst for addressing the region’s affordable housing development needs. The group owns 

29.5% of naseej. 

outlook and strategies For  
2012 and Beyond

market conditions continue to be challenging and volatile, particularly for ithmaar Bank that has 

transitioned from a wholesale investment bank to an islamic retail bank. The turn of events that we 

witness today in Bahrain and in the wider middle eastern and north african region and the resulting 

sense of instability may exert further pressure on our future performance.

following the reorganisation in 2010, ithmaar Bank’s business strategy will continue to focus on 

developing its core banking activity - retail and corporate banking - in Bahrain and the gcc with  

a view to becoming a leading regional islamic bank. This will entail an expansion of ithmaar’s  

customer reach in Bahrain and overseas, as well as the introduction of innovative new products and 

value added services.  
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intense Concentration on Forward momentum

The twin processes of reallocation of resources and growth of enterprise are beginning 

to reveal a newly resplendent ithmaar…our ‘legacy portfolio’ though present, albeit 

diminishing, is not slowing our forward momentum…the passion  

with which we’re growing our operations, products, reach and business fundamentals 

stand testimony.

T H E  I T H M A A R

PASSION
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A Business Review

Living Passion - A Year of Endurance and Reward - 2011

a renewed Commitment ithmaar Bank put itself through a radical transformation in april 2010. leveraging the assets and 

capabilities of its then subsidiary shamil Bank, the Bank turned from an investment bank into a provider 

of financial services and products to the man and woman in the street. These services, would adhere 

strictly to islamic financial principles. here, where the hearts of the people beat, would be found the 

future of middle eastern banking - here, where increasingly well-educated and discriminating customers 

drive demand for sophisticated personal-banking and allied services, and where the moral and cultural 

associations of islamic banking have enormous appeal.

following such a transformation, the newly restructured Bank at once faced two separate crises: political 

unrest at home and financial near-meltdown in europe. had our own strategy been unsound, or its 

execution problematic, a calamity could easily have resulted. 

we firmly believe that the Bank has emerged from the travails of 2011 stronger than before. This is a 

testament to the decisions we made, and to the passion and commitment of the people who carried 

them out. The closing of the year finds us still on track towards our strategic goals, making slow but 

steady progress.

retail Banking nothing testifies more strongly to the success of the ithmaar strategy than our performance in what is 

now our core business: retail banking. it has been a splendid year for the Bank in this arena. despite 

the political travails of the year and somewhat shaken business confidence, the retail banking sector 

remained strong, and the Bank’s share within it grew. This was not achieved without effort, however; 

competition in the field is stiff, and in our drive to attract new customers, we could not afford to forget 

the existing customers of shamil Bank, who had to be persuaded to remain with ithmaar after the 

restructuring and not succumb to the blandishments of our competitors. in this context, the advertising 

and public relations campaign we ran in 2010 has been very helpful, raising awareness of the new 

image of ithmaar Bank and helping build positive associations with the brand. all promises given to our 

then existing and potential customers during ithmaar re-branding were more than fulfilled. 

advertising may temporarily win customers over, but it is the quality and standard of services and 

products that keep them loyal. in 2011, we sought to become more relevant and accessible to account 

holders by opening four new branches at convenient business and residential locations around Bahrain. 

This brings the total number of ithmaar branches to 15, with one more planned for 2012. The Bank’s aTm 

network was also expanded and improved, with real-time cash deposits now offered at many of our  

on-site machines. in addition, access to the Bank is facilitated through sms, online banking, phone 

banking (integrated voice response or iVr) and mobile banking services as well as the call centre.

as part of our commitment to playing a pioneering role in the development of Bahrain’s islamic banking 

industry, we were among the very first banks in Bahrain to implement the international Bank account 

number (iBan) standard. The new standard, a requirement of the central Bank of Bahrain, assigns a 

unique iBan code to each existing account, thereby making it more efficient for electronic payments.
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a Business review

living Passion - a year of endurance and reward - 2011

The products and services offered through these delivery channels were further enhanced and improved 

in 2011. among them was our popular Thimaar savings account, which was highly profitable despite 

offering customers one of the best competitive deals in the segment in terms of returns and rewards. 

Turnover from Thimaar in the year under review grew significantly, and we expect to see comfortable 

growth from this product in the coming years. 

other important developments during the year included the integration of the Bank’s card centre 

with the rest of the retail banking operation, and the migration of ex-shamil credit and debit cards to 

the ithmaar brand. we also upgraded our phone banking services to provide customers with a single 

gateway to all the Bank’s telephone-based services. The upgrade included an enhanced phone banking 

solution that provides additional call centre functionality and security, as well as additional integrated 

voice response (iVr) options to allow customers an even wider range of banking transactions while 

simultaneously improving both flexibility and response speed.

Thanks in large measure to these initiatives, ithmaar Bank increased the number of customer 

relationships by about 25% in 2011. The retail financing portfolio grew by $115 million, while deposits 

increased by $194 million. These figures show that, as planned, retail banking was one ot the main 

drivers of the Bank’s turnaround in 2011. 

internally, we continued to offer on-the-job training to our employees to prepare them to assume higher 

positions, in accordance with the career plan set for the retail Banking division.  The monthly branch 

managers’ meeting continues to show its worth as a forum for sharing knowledge, raising issues and 

promoting managerial motivation, while the well-loved Best Branch scheme continues to motivate all 

branch staff members through positive, friendly competition. 

as part of its endeavours to win customer satisfaction, a new quality assurance unit was established 

during the year under review. among many others, this unit is responsible for monitoring the quality of 

services rendered to customers through the various delivery channels, conducting customer satisfaction 

and mystery shopper surveys, and managing customer suggestions and complaints. This scheme helps 

ithmaar branches to compete strongly with other banks on all fronts.

looking forward from last year’s restructuring, near-term initiatives in retail banking will be aimed at 

consolidating and enhancing an already successful business model. This will involve improving service 

quality and delivery through all channels, broadening the retail franchise and further expanding our aTm 

network. new products in the pipeline include ‘cardless cash’ (a regional first for ithmaar Bank), Titanium 

and platinum Visa credit cards and a platinum debit card, as well as ithmaar premier Banking.

review of corporate & sme Banking, private Banking, international Banking,  

asset management and Treasury appears on pages 36 and 37.



expanding our branch network means there’s an ithmaar Bank presence almost everywhere you look
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our widespread 24 x 7 aTm network brings fast and convenient banking out of the office and to your fingertips
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our auto financing is fast, flexible and affordable with a low profit rate and puts your own vehicle within easy reach
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our debit card, al rubban credit and master credit cards offer fully sharia compliant services second to none
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welcome to banking at the click of a button…internet banking
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we pioneered mobile phone banking in Bahrain, opening a vital window of access to our premium suite of services
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our mudaraba accounts meet the ‘littlest’ of needs…to the greatest
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CorPorate and sme Banking This division is a prominent player in this sector, especially in the growing field of small- and medium-

scale enterprise (sme) financing. 

The Bank serves a carefully selected customer base with a range of well-established financial products 

whose suitability to market needs is well established. as a result, corporate and sme banking showed 

a palpable improvement in performance during the year under review, despite the challenging local, 

regional and international landscape that affected our core market, Bahrain. fortunately, these challenges 

have since been well contained and we are fast moving towards economic recovery.

in the year under review, we created many valuable new customer relationships despite the 

unanticipated market downturn. 

another noteworthy feature of the year was an improvement in our geographical reach, with a new focus 

on countries such as saudi arabia, where the sme market in particular shows good potential. we have 

already established relationships which will begin to show material results in 2012.

meanwhile, the division remains focused on improving systems and personnel performance internally. 

new staff members have been hired and the entire division reorganised. externally, we are engaged in 

identifying and addressing major regional markets and opportunities.

Private Banking despite the exceptional challenging conditions of 2011, the private Banking division reported remarkable 

success that contributed, both directly and indirectly, to Bank’s continued growth. 

private banking has, for example, significantly increased liabilities since 2009. This remarkable 

achievement is made all the more impressive by the fact that the division’s performance exceeded both 

market growth and the general growth reported by the industry. 

it was a challenging year for private banking at ithmaar Bank. This was due not only to external events 

but also to an operational transformation resulting from the restructuring of the Bank. earlier, our 

focus was on private placement of investment products for high net worth individuals who formed the 

customer base. This has now been replaced by a full-service model that offers high net worth customers 

a complete range of private banking products and services. 

currently, ithmaar serves private banking customers in Bahrain and the gcc, with special focus on saudi 

arabia, the uae and qatar. growth is now returning to the region as it recovers from the shocks of 2008 

and, with increased investment in infrastructure, technology and low-income housing in the pipeline, 

the economic future looks reasonably bright. we believe there is considerable growth potential in the 

gulf region for private banking: the number of high net worth individuals in the region continues to 

increase, and with it the demand for expert, reliable private banking services. To reach this growing 

market, however, the Bank needs to take an increasingly proactive approach to customers and potential 

customers, making itself known and reaching out to them with services and solutions that offer the 

returns and confidence such discriminating individuals insist upon.
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more importantly, private Banking also contributed to increasing market confidence in ithmaar’s new 

strategy.  in fact, the division’s performance in 2011 was widely recognised as a reflection of customers’ 

trust and belief in the ithmaar brand despite all the difficult conditions. 

ultimately, these conditions provided the Bank, and particularly the private Banking division, a unique 

opportunity to test levels of confidence. The outcome, as demonstrated by the solid growth of deposits 

and the high acquisition rate of new customers, is extremely reassuring despite political turmoil earlier  

in 2011. 

during the year the private Banking division, together with the retail Banking division, introduced a 

service-orientated programme for high net worth individuals. The programme, called ithmaar premier, 

aims to identify and retain the Bank’s valuable clients by setting a new level of customer service which 

offers superior added value benefits.

more new products are on stream for introduction in 2012, among them offering wealth management 

solutions and islamic finance. a new customer relationship management system will be implemented in 

the second quarter of 2012 in order to improve service levels and capture more private banking business. 

international Banking This is one of the key divisions of ithmaar Bank, contributing significantly to the Bank’s assets and profits 

by developing assets (financing and trade finance) outside the gcc region. Based mainly in Bahrain, its 

range of operations is wide, spanning the middle east, north africa, Turkey and the far east.

for the division, 2011 was a year for consolidating current achievements and building strong foundations 

for future growth. no new products were launched, but existing ones were modified and fine-tuned in 

keeping with changes in customer requirements, legislative regimes, etc. more funds and efforts were 

invested in staff training. The main focus of activity was market identification and development. key 

markets have been identified for special development in 2012-2014.

asset management This division plays a vital role in managing the Bank’s financial investments and monitoring its strategic 

investments. once focused on investment and acquisition, its primary aim is now to ensure that the 

Bank’s assets are properly managed. The division’s goal is to protect and enhance the values of the 

assets, and identify divestment opportunities in order to maximise returns. The portfolio under the 

division’s management is about us$1.3 billion diversified sectorally and geographically.

treasury Treasury fulfils its traditional role of managing the Bank’s day-to-day liquidity through active market 

participation and securing medium- to long-term funds for lending. it also helps generate income for the 

Bank through the investment of excess liquidity in profitable accounts and securities.  
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islamic Finance…moving with the times

ithmaar is passionately committed to islamic financing. we believe it is a powerful 

alternative to conventional financing…yet it is true that it must also  

move through a process of scrutiny and evaluation as the world examines  

its efficacy in the current context. as products and  

processes evolve within sharia norms,  

it is logical to expect a ‘new order’ as islamic financing  

seeks to encompass the requirements of the times.

T H E  I T H M A A R

PASSION
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Beyond alliteration and word play, there is a growing belief, which began in the aftershock of the 2008 

global economic crisis, that had we passionately pursued a regime of sound ethics, morals and good 

governance and espoused an ‘economic order’ that shunned greed and exploitation, economic chaos 

would not have prevailed as it does today. 

if all the world was a stage and the global finance industry the principal actor…you’d have to say they 

missed a cue! 

islamic financing.

founded upon islamic law (Sharia), islamic financing conforms to the principles and rules of islamic 

commercial jurisprudence (fiqh al mu’amalat). under its terms, islamic financing prohibits any form of 

usury or charging of profit (Riba), and the forging of any contracts that incorporate gambling (Maisir), 

speculative transactions rife with uncertainty (Gharar) and what are deemed unlawful pursuits (haraam) 

such as arms dealing and sale of alcohol/narcotics. 

unlike conventional financing, islamic financing espouses the cause of ‘shared risk’ where contractual 

obligations for both financier and entrepreneur require that they share in both profit as well as loss of a 

transaction. again, unlike conventional financing practice, this leads to a rigorous regime of double risk 

assessment and management by both financier and entrepreneur in order that a consistently high safety 

factor is applied to secure the profits and finances of both parties.

it was precisely this ‘safety factor’ and stringent risk management that conventional financial proponents 

‘threw out of the window’ as the sub-prime mortgage markets collapsed in a classic display of excessive 

and imprudent lending. what followed was the proliferation of devious and unethical methods of 

securing and indemnifying lenders from default on financing through derivatives such as the infamous 

credit default swap (cds). it was a financial regime that enjoyed the reward whilst passing on the risk.

By any yardstick…this was greed writ large - a greed that brought global finance to its knees. 

let us examine some comment about the islamic financing/banking model vis-à-vis the economic crisis.

in april 2011, Ravius Caba-Maria wrote on-line - “The first stage of the crisis, during 2007 and 2008, 

favoured the islamic banking system compared with the conventional system. according to a recent imf 

study (hasan, dridi 2010) islamic banks performed better than conventional ones in 2008 in terms of 

profitability, credit and asset growth. The islamic banks’ profitability crunch was less than 10 percent, 

whereas the conventional banks’ profitability slumped more than 35 percent in 2008 compared with 

2007. The cited imf study reports that islamic banks have maintained stronger credit growth compared to 

conventional banks in almost all countries and in all years, suggesting that the system has great potential 

for further market share expansion and a possible contribution to market stability through the available 

credit. The same trend was maintained on the assets side, which was less affected by de-leveraging and 

grew on average at a rate of more than twice that of conventional banks during the period 2007 - 2009. 

Because the global crisis is an on-going phenomenon, these results are provisional; however, they are 

supported by the islamic banking system’s characteristics”.

Living Passion - A Year of Endurance and Reward - 2011
an essay - Passion Pays

islamiC FinanCing…relevanCe regained

Power to PerForm
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in his study “islamic Banking in the mena region” under the auspices of the world Bank and the islamic 

development Bank - islamic research & Training institute, Salman Syed Ali wrote - “The islamic banking 

sector has demonstrated more resilience against the financial crisis mainly due to avoidance of profit. 

The requirement to abstain from profit made their financing activities more tied to real economy and 

also required them to avoid exposure to toxic financial derivatives. The commercial risk associated with 

islamic banking activities and the non-availability of lender of last resort facility to these banks also 

forced them to hold liquid assets in greater proportion than their conventional counterparts. all these 

factors helped them during the crisis. The impact of the crisis came to these banks late and indirectly 

through a slowdown in the real economy. some banks were affected due to their asset concentration in 

the real estate sector. however, there was no case of failure of an islamic bank in the region”. 

The kingdom of Bahrain has emerged as a pioneering proponent of islamic financing and banking not 

just in the middle east but internationally too. The country has fast become an ambassador and thought 

leader on the subject.

on sunday 5th february 2012, the arabic international daily Asharq Alawsat wrote - 

“Bahrain viewed islamic banking as being the future of the financial industry in the region, which is 

a vision that time has shown to be particularly shrewd as international financial centers today are 

competing to attract islamic financial institutes and corporations. Bahrain today is one of the largest 

islamic financial centers in the world, with 45 islamic financial corporations operating in the country;  

26 of which are islamic banks, with the remaining 18 being Takaful [islamic] insurance companies. 

Bahrain’s islamic financial assets have multiplied more than 12 times since 2000 from being worth  

just 1.9 billion dollars, to being worth 26.3 billion dollars in 2009. in 2000, islamic banking made up  

just 1.11 percent of the total assets of the Bahrain financial industry, whereas in 2009 this figure  

stood at 11.1 percent. Bahrain’s islamic financial industry has witnessed annual growth of between  

15 and 20 percent over the past five years.

in addition to developing infrastructure for the islamic financial industry, Bahrain is also a member of the 

islamic financial services Board [ifsB] which is located in malaysia, as well as a founding member and 

headquarters to a number of islamic financial service and regulatory bodies. These include the accounting 

and auditing organization for islamic financial institutions [aaofi], the liquidity management center 

[lcm], the international islamic financial market [iifm], the islamic international ratings agency [iira], 

and the general council for islamic Banks and financial institutions [ciBafi]”.

whilst the efficacy of islamic financing is a proven fact, it is also true that it is not the panacea for all the 

economic ills of the world. indeed, no banking concept can claim this privilege. 

what then are some of the challenges facing islamic financing today? what must be done to  

overcome them?

an essay - Passion Pays

living Passion - a year of endurance and reward - 2011
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Dr. Hatim El Tahir, director of the islamic finance knowledge center (ifkc), deloitte in the middle east 

contends, “regulatory inconsistencies within some practice areas of islamic finance have inhibited 

industry growth and created performance gaps. more importantly, they have slowed its expansion and 

integration into the world financial market. it is evident that ifis, largely driven by commercial goals, 

have not done enough to converse the fundamental nature of educating and communicating islamic 

finance’s social and economic value propositions.

This is an issue that is high on the agenda of several gulf islamic financial institutions (gifi), and 

comes at a critical time of their history for three reasons: since the early twenty first century, gifis have 

expanded by leaps and bounds both in market capitalization and cross-border investments. secondly,  

they have developed important institutional regulatory and industry frameworks designed to improve 

services and standardize practice. Thirdly, concerns about their structures, operations and practices pose 

special challenges for long-term sustainability.

undoubtedly, thought leadership in islamic finance is playing an increasingly important role in many 

individual organizations. what is missing is a more holistic and strategic approach to identify and align 

industry leaders to develop, adapt and enforce a harmonized and standardized set of best practices.  

The common attributes for such an approach include developing a coherent code of practice that 

addresses the different financial and sharia governance and application methods within the industry 

worldwide. hence, a thought leadership initiative becomes the lead advocate for this task, which will be 

aimed at measuring, improving and adapting a unified code of practice (ucop) in islamic finance.

The process of aligning industry stakeholder practices and the more ambitious goal of developing a 

unified code of practice are of paramount importance. nevertheless, the success of a thought leadership 

initiative relies on developing a workable, yet efficient, model to energize thought leadership programs 

in the industry and benefit from the experience of different practices across the world”.

whilst debate and solution finding must take place for islamic financing to evolve and develop further,  

for now it is true to say that, in respect of ‘what could have been’ vis-à-vis the global economic crisis,  

in the form of islamic financing…passion pays!  

an essay - Passion Pays

living Passion - a year of endurance and reward - 2011
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Corporate Governance

The Bank is committed to upholding the highest standards of corporate governance, which it regards as a 

key factor in ensuring fairness for all stakeholders and achieving organisational efficiency.

The Board’s adherence to corporate governance practices is underlined by various principles, such as 

integrity, transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility, fairness, sharia principles and  

social responsibility.

moreover, the Bank’s corporate governance policies are designed to lay a solid foundation for 

management and the Board of directors in managing the Bank, promote ethical and responsible 

decision making, safeguard integrity in financial reporting, make timely disclosures, respect the rights 

of shareholders, recognise and manage risk, encourage enhanced performance, remunerate fairly and 

responsibly and recognise the legitimate interest of stakeholders. The Bank’s written code of conduct 

and Business ethics that binds all employees, members of the sharia supervisory Board and directors, 

lends further weight to the practical implementation of our stated policies.

Bank administration The Bank is administered by the Board of directors and the sharia supervisory Board, and, for day to day 

matters, by the executive management.
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Corporate governance

Board oF direCtors The Board of directors comprises nine members, one executive and eight non-executive, of whom four 

are independent. The Board is headed by a chairman.

The Board of directors is accountable to the shareholders for setting the broad policy guidelines and 

strategic direction and the creation and delivery of strong, sustainable financial performance and  

long-term shareholder value. The chairman is responsible for leading the Board and ensuring  

its effectiveness. 

The Board’s role includes the task of monitoring management in such a manner as to ensure that 

appropriate policies and processes are in place, that they are operating effectively, and that the Bank is 

meeting its plans and budget targets. all transactions that require board approval have been approved by 

the Board as per applicable regulations.

The Board of directors’ functions, mandate, appointment, responsibilities and terminations are governed 

by the applicable statutory and regulatory structures.

Board members serve three year terms, unless reinstated.

The next election of directors will take place in 2013.

Board’s struCture  
and ComPosition

The Bank is administrated at the high level by a Board of directors. The actual size of the Board is 

determined by the shareholders in the general meetings based on recommendations from the corporate 

governance committee. in all cases the size of the Board is subject to the Bank’s articles of association 

and the rules and procedures decreed by the minister of commerce and industry. 

The Board is composed of individuals whose knowledge, background, experience, and judgment are 

valuable to the Bank and shall comprise a chairman, independent directors, executive directors and  

non-executive directors.

duties oF direCtors directors, individually and collectively, are bound by distinct fiduciary duties to the Bank. directors owe 

their fiduciary duty to the Bank as a corporate being in its own right and not just individual shareholders 

and/or group of shareholders. These duties apply to all directors whether they are representing 

(appointed by) major shareholders or are elected as independent director; a director’s fiduciary duties 

rest upon the director as an individual.

The main duties that directors owe the Bank are the duty of obedience, the duty of care and the  

duty of loyalty.
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a - duty of obedience

directors must act in accordance with the Bank’s rules and policies and in furtherance of its goals as 

stated in the mission statement, memorandum & articles of association. in addition, directors must 

comply with all relevant laws and regulations. The duty of obedience forbids acts outside the scope of 

internal authorities, powers, and limits.

B - duty of Care

directors are under duty to exercise the same care that an ordinary, prudent person would exercise in a 

like position or under similar circumstances. in complying with this duty, directors are expected to:

 attend all Board meetings. at a minimum, directors are expected to attend not less than 75% of all 

scheduled Board meetings.

 consider all material information reasonably available and/or seek relevant information prior 

to making a business decision relating to the issue. directors have the rights of access to the 

management and/or advisors when in doubt. 

C - duty of loyalty (conflict of interest) 

This duty requires the directors to act solely in the best interest of the Bank, free of any self-dealing, 

conflicts of interest, or other abuse of the principal for personal advantage. directors are barred 

from using Bank properties or assets for their personal pursuits, insiders trading, or taking business 

opportunities for themselves. This duty also requires directors to retain the confidentiality of information 

that is explicitly deemed confidential by the Bank, as well as information that appears to be confidential 

from its nature or matter. 

The Bank provides insurance to indemnify directors or officers for negligence, default, breach of duty or 

breach of trust provided such breach has occurred in good faith. 

The above duties are detailed in the Bank’s code of conduct and Business ethics policy approved by  

the Board.

direCtors’ eleCtion system any shareholder who owns 10% or more of the capital of ithmaar Bank shall have the right to appoint 

a representative on the Board of directors of ithmaar Bank. in the event that a shareholder exercises 

this right, such shareholder shall lose the right to vote for the percentage for which the shareholder has 

appointed a representative on the Board of directors.

subject to the foregoing, the general assembly shall elect members of the Board of directors by a secret 

ballot. The members shall be elected by the relative majority of valid votes.

all appointments to the Board of directors are governed by and subject to ithmaar Bank’s memorandum 

and articles of association, the code of ethics & Business conduct, the corporate governance policy and 

the law, rules, regulations, policies and charters in place as amended from time to time.

Corporate governance
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The remuneration and nomination committee reviews annually the composition and performance of the 

Board of directors. The remuneration and nomination committee’s duties in relation to the composition 

and performance of the Board of directors include, among other things, assessing the skills required 

for the Board of directors to competently discharge its responsibilities and meet its objectives as well 

as developing and implementing a plan to identify, assess and enhance directors’ competencies. in the 

event of a vacancy on the Board of directors, the remuneration and nomination committee shall make 

recommendations to the Board of directors for the appointment of a director, which recommendation 

shall be made pursuant and subject to the legal and regulatory requirements in place.

all directors receive an appointment letter, signed by the chairman, in which relevant information about 

appointment, termination and responsibilities are described. directors also receive a copy of the Bank’s 

code of ethics & Business conduct.

Code oF ConduCt and  
Business etHiCs

The Bank’s code of conduct and Business ethics applies to members of the Board, as well as executive 

management, officers, employees, agents, consultants and others, when they are representing or acting 

for the Bank. The Board of directors, as well as officers and employees, act ethically at all times and 

acknowledge their adherence to the Bank’s policies. any waiver of the code of conduct and Business 

ethics for a director or executive officer may be granted only by the Board or the appropriate Board 

committee, and must be promptly disclosed to the shareholders.

Board Committees in accordance with regulatory requirements and best practices, the Board has established the 

following committees and has adopted charters setting out the matters relevant to their composition, 

responsibilities and administration.

audit Committee The audit committee is appointed by the Board to assist the Board in reviewing the integrity of the 

Bank’s financial reporting; overseeing the selection and compensation of the external auditor for 

appointment and approval at the shareholders’ meeting; monitoring the external auditor’s qualifications 

and independence; reviewing the activities and performance of the Bank’s internal audit function; and 

reviewing the compliance by the Bank with legal and regulatory requirements including all relevant laws, 

regulations, codes and business practices.

The audit committee comprises:

 Tunku dato’ Ya’acob Bin Tunku abdullah, chairman and memBer, effective 4 december 2011

 sheikh Zamil abdullah al-Zamil, memBer

 shaikha hissah bint saad al-sabah, memBer

Corporate governance
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exeCutive Committee The executive committee, acting on behalf of the Board, provides Board oversight of the Bank’s strategic 

transaction planning and activities; approves transactions for which the Board has delegated authority 

to the executive committee within the parameters of the limits of authority; makes recommendations 

to the Board regarding transactions not within the parameters of the limits of authority of the executive 

committee; and evaluates the Bank’s financial strategies and policies.

The executive committee comprises:

 nabeel khaled mohamed kanoo, chairman and memBer

 mohammed a. rahman Bucheerei, memBer

 Juma abull, memBer

remuneration &  
nomination Committee

The remuneration & nomination committee is appointed by the Board to assist the Board in the 

effective discharge of its responsibilities in relation to the remuneration of directors and performance 

of the Board, ensure appropriate Board composition, ensure appropriate nomination of directors to the 

Board and provide a formal forum for communication between the Board and the Bank’s management on 

human resource issues. moreover, the remuneration & nomination committee is authorised by the Board 

to review and investigate any matter within the scope of its charter and to make recommendations to 

the Board in relation thereto.

The remuneration & nomination committee comprises:

 shaikha hissah bint saad al-sabah, chairman and memBer, effective 4 december 2011

 sheikh mohammed Youseef el-khereiji, member, effective 4 december 2011 

 nabeel khaled mohamed kanoo, memBer, effective 4 december 2011

risk PoliCy Committee The primary objectives of the risk policy committee are to make recommendations to the Board in 

relation to the Bank’s overall risk appetite and tolerances and the policies within which to manage the 

aforementioned. These policies are defined as credit risk, market risk, operational risk and liquidity 

risk in addition to any other risk categories the Bank faces in carrying out its activities. The risk policy 

committee also recommends and monitors the Bank’s overall risk management framework which 

involves developing across all business activities and operations policies, internal controls, methods of 

risk management, compliance procedures and methods of reporting to the Board.

The risk policy committee comprises:

 abdulhameed m. aboumoussa, chairman and memBer

 shaikha hissah bint saad al-sabah, memBer, effective 4 december 2011

 nabeel khaled mohamed kanoo, memBer, effective 4 december 2011

Corporate governance
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CorPorate governanCe Committee This committee was established on 4 december 2011.

The corporate governance committee was established to assist the Board in fulfilling its governance 

responsibility, particularly to (a) oversee and monitor the implementation of a robust compliance 

framework by working together with the management, the audit committee, and the sharia supervisory 

Board, and (b) provide the Board of directors with reports and recommendations based on its findings in 

the exercise of its function.

This committee shall have at least two independent directors, one of whom shall be the chairman, and 

a member of the sharia supervisory Board.

The corporate governance committee comprises:

 sheikh Zamil abdullah al-Zamil, chairman and memBer

 nabeel khaled mohamed kanoo, memBer

 sheikh dr. osama Bahar, memBer

numBer oF Board and Committee meetings

director
main
Board

audit
committee

executive 
committee

remuneration & 
nomination committee

risk policy 
committee

elig. attd. elig. attd. elig. attd. elig. attd. elig. attd.

hrh prince amr mohammed al faisal 4 4  na  na  na  na  na  na  na  na

mr. khalid abdulla-Janahi 4 4  na  na  na  na  na  na  na  na

Tunku dato’ Ya’acob Bin Tunku abdullah 4 4 2 2  na  na 3 3 5 5

shaikha hissah bint saad al-sabah 4 4 4 2  na  na 3 3  na  na

sheikh mohammed Youseef el-khereiji 4 2  na  na 2 1  na  na 3 –

sheikh Zamil abdullah al-Zamil 4 3 4 4  na  na  na  na  na  na

mr. abdulhameed m. aboumoussa 4 4  na  na  na  na 3 2 5 5

mr. nabeel khaled mohamed kanoo 4 3 2 1 3 3  na  na 2 2

mr. mohammed a. rahman Bucheerei 4 4  na  na 4 4  na  na  na  na

elig. - number of meetings eligible to attend

attd. - number of meetings attended

na - not applicable

in accordance with the Bank’s articles of association, the Board of directors meets at least four times 

a year and the Board expects each director to attend at least 75 percent of all Board meetings and the 

meetings of the committees on which they serve.

Corporate governance
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Board oF direCtor  
Committee memBersHiP

member audit 
committee

corporate 
governance 
committee

executive 
committee

remuneration & 
nomination 
committee

risk policy 
committee

hrh prince amr mohammed al faisal, 
chairman

– – – – –

mr. khalid abdulla-Janahi – – – – –

Tunku dato’ Ya’acob Bin Tunku abdullah member
19.05.2011

chairman
04.12.2011

– – off
04.12.2011

off
04.12.2011

shaikha hissah bint saad al-sabah member – – chairman 
04.12.2011

member
04.12.2011

sheikh mohammed Youseef el-khereiji – – – member
04.12.2011

member
19.05.2011

sheikh Zamil abdullah al-Zamil member chairman
04.12.2011

– – –

mr. abdulhameed m. aboumoussa – – – off
04.12.2011

chairman
28.03.2010

mr. nabeel khalid kanoo off
19.05.2011

member
04.12.2011

chairman
19.05.2011

member
04.12.2011

member
04.12.2011

mr. mohammed Bucheerei – – member – –

note: with effect from 4 december 2011 sheikh dr. osama Bahar also serves as a member of the corporate governance 
 committee (sharia supervisory Board member).

 mr. Juma abull is also a member of the executive committee, effective 14 september 2010

direCtors’ remuneration it is the Bank’s objective to attract and retain high quality directors. one aspect of achieving this is by 

remunerating directors in a manner consistent with prevailing best practice. directors are entitled to 

remuneration comprising annual retainer fee and sitting fees paid per meeting attended. non-resident 

members are also entitled for full travel expenses. These fees are recommended by the remuneration & 

nomination committee and approved by the shareholders.

currently, the Bank does not pay any performance related remuneration. if any, this will be in accordance  

with the articles of association and the memorandum of association and subject to shareholder approval.  

non-executive directors are not entitled to any performance related remuneration.

Corporate governance
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Board induCtion Programme The company secretary provides sufficient information to newly appointed/elected Board members 

including a discussion of the corporate governance principles of the Bank and the code of conduct and 

Business ethics. These Board members are also received by the chief executive officer of the Bank who 

provides them with details on the structure of the Bank, strategic and business plans, the past financial 

performance and outstanding issues. The Board is continuously kept abreast of new regulations and laws.

sHaria suPervisory Board The Bank shall always conduct its business in accordance with the islamic sharia rules.

in compliance with licensing requirements of the central Bank of Bahrain (cBB), the Bank’s articles 

and memorandum of association and the general practice of islamic Banking, the Bank, at all times, 

has a sharia supervisory Board (ssB) elected by the shareholders at general meetings based on 

recommendations of the Board of directors (through the remuneration & nomination committee). The 

ssB actively participates in developing and overseeing the Bank’s products and business activities. it is 

responsible for certifying every product to ensure strict adherence to the principles of sharia.

The ssB has full access to the Board, management personnel of the Bank including access to the Bank’s 

sharia compliance officer who is proactively involved in: (a) reviewing and advising on the sharia 

compliance of all products and investment projects, (b) auditing the operations of the Bank from  

sharia point of view, and (c) producing reports to the ssB in order to ensure that the Bank’s activities 

are under a strict and direct oversight of sharia guidelines. furthermore, the sharia compliance officer 

monitors on a day to day basis in ensuring that all areas of the Bank adhere to ssB’s recommendations, 

advices and opinions.

The ssB operates within its own charter which sets forth its policies, procedures, meeting operations, 

and responsibilities in addition to the qualifications for membership.  This charter was developed in 

coordination with the remuneration & nomination committee and is disclosed on the Bank’s website.

ssB members are entitled to remuneration comprising annual retainer fee and sitting fees paid per 

meeting attended. non-resident members are also entitled for full travel expenses. These fees are 

recommended by the remuneration & nomination committee, approved by the shareholders.

currently, the Bank does not pay any performance related remuneration to ssB members. if any, this will be 

structured in accordance with the articles of association and the memorandum of association and subject to 

shareholder approval.

in 2011, a fourth member, sheikh dr. osama mohammed saad Bahar, was added to the sBB. The profiles 

of all members of ssB are included in the section marked sharia supervisory Board.

Corporate governance
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management The day to day operations of the Bank are handled by the management team.

departments are grouped into Business and support units with clear delineation between them to avoid 

conflict of interests. These safeguard measures are reinforced by independent internal audit and risk 

management departments.

The Bank’s Business units consist of

 commercial Banking: 

-  corporate Banking

-  sme Banking

 retail Banking 

 international Banking

 asset management

 private Banking

 Treasury

support units consist of

 financial control

 human capital

 pr & corporate communications

 administration

 information Technology

 Banking operations

 general counsel & legal

 remedial management

 strategic planning

 shareholder affairs

The risk management and compliance department reports, functionally, to the risk policy committee 

and, administratively, to the chief executive officer.

The internal audit department reports, functionally, to the audit committee and, administratively,  

to the chief executive officer. The department operates independently of the Bank‘s senior management, 

in accordance with the internal audit plan approved by the audit committee. The department monitors 

compliance with the policies and procedures of the Bank and the effectiveness of internal controls, 

including areas of risk management.

Corporate governance
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management remuneration The chief executive officer and senior managers are compensated in line with market trends.  

The performance linked bonus is paid based on their individual performance which is evaluated at the 

end of the year.

management Committees The Bank has in place the following management committees. The members of committees comprise 

the heads of divisions who are drawn from relevant and related functions.

investment and Credit Committee -  
Credit risk

The main objective of this committee is to review, approve and ratify all investments and credit within 

its authority, review risk management reports and resolve all credit-related issues. The committee is 

chaired by the chief executive officer.

asset-liaBility Committee -  
market risk

The main functions of the asset-liability committee (alco) are to develop and manage the Bank’s assets 

and liabilities in accordance with the strategic plan and relevant banking regulations and laws.  

The committee is chaired by the executive general manager-support.

management Committee -  
oPerations risk

The committee’s principal objectives are to improve communications and cooperation among the various 

divisions and departments of the Bank and to optimise the Bank’s operational efficiency. The committee 

is chaired by the chief executive officer.

sHareHolders

interests oF direCtors and  
exeCutive management

The interests of directors and executive management in the shares of the Bank are disclosed in the 

report of the directors and share information respectively.

sHare inFormation information on the distribution of share ownership together with key statistics on the performance of  

the Bank’s shares on the Bahrain Bourse are disclosed in the section entitled share information of the 

annual report.

sHareHolders’ rigHts recognising the importance of shareholders, it is ithmaar’s policy to treat its shareholders equally 

and fairly in line with the laws of regulatory agencies. Basic legitimate rights of shareholders include 

the right to participate in shareholder meetings, the right to appoint other persons as a proxy for 

participating in and voting at meetings, and the right to participate in the election or disqualification  

of a director, jointly or severally. Their rights also include voting on the appointments of independent 

auditors, voting for other businesses of ithmaar, such as increases in, or reduction of capital, right 

to receive dividend payments, as well as the right to give opinions and the right to inquire during 

shareholder meetings.

related Party transaCtions all related party transactions are approved by the Board of directors.

rigHts oF minority sHareHolders The Board of directors is structured to include independent directors with additional responsibilities of 

protecting minority shareholders’ rights.

Corporate governance
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as additional measures to protect minority interests, the Bank subscribes to the following guidelines:

 mandatory shareholder approval of major transactions such as change in capital or transfer of 

business (as per limits prescribed by the central Bank of Bahrain); 

 mandatory disclosures of transactions by substantial shareholders; 

 pre-emptive rights on issuance of new shares; 

 limitations on Bank’s business transactions with directors, controllers, and related parties as per 

central Bank of Bahrain’s rules; 

 exercise rights to elect independent directors; 

 penalties for insider trading; and 

 provisions on takeovers, mergers, and acquisitions.

CommuniCation witH stakeHolders The Board acknowledges the importance of regular communication with stakeholders and particularly 

the investors, via a number of means to promote greater understanding and dialogue. measures adopted 

include annual general meetings, annual reports, circulars to shareholders and quarterly financial reports 

and various announcements made during the year as well as Bank’s website, through which stakeholders 

have an overview of the Bank’s performance and operations.

The chairman of the Board (or any other director if delegated by the chairman) maintains continuing 

personal contact with its major shareholders to solicit their views and understand their concerns.  

The chairman discusses the views of the major shareholders with the Board of directors.

The Bank maintains a website which the shareholders and investors can access for information which 

includes Bank’s profile, corporate information, press releases, financial performance, newsletters and 

performance of investment funds and career opportunities, amongst others.

To further assist with shareholder communications, the Bank has a dedicated shareholders affairs 

department with the primary responsibility of acting as a liaison between the Board of directors and 

shareholders. Views of shareholders are communicated to and discussed at Board meetings, which are 

part of the agenda.

Progress rePort on adoPtion oF revised 
CorPorate governanCe Code

The central Bank of Bahrain (cBB) issued revised corporate governance rules last year for banks and 

financial institutions to adopt. The revised rules, forming part of the high level control rulebook of cBB 

(“rulebook”) conforms with the recommendations issued by the national committee of the corporate 

governance code and the ministry of industry & commerce.

To comply with the revised rulebook, a comprehensive gap analysis of the Bank’s practices vis-à-vis the 

new requirements was conducted and a team was formed, supervised by the risk policy committee of 

the Board, to address the gaps where applicable. some of the major changes that has been adopted are 

as follows:

1. development of a revised corporate governance policy;

2. development of a new whistle-Blowing policy;

3. formation of the corporate governance committee;

4. reshuffling the Board committees to adhere to minimum membership requirements as per the rulebook;

5. establishing a shareholders affairs department.

Corporate governance
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Risk Management

risk is an integral part of ithmaar Bank’s business and is critical to the Bank’s continuing success and 

profitability. The essence of effective risk management is to enhance shareholder value through business 

profits commensurate with the risk appetite of the Bank.

 

ithmaar has adopted an integrated risk management framework to proactively identify, assess, manage 

and monitor risks in its decisions and operations. ithmaar’s risk management framework is based on 

guidelines issued by the central Bank of Bahrain, sound principles of risk management issued by the 

Bank for international settlements and international best practices.

risk governanCe struCture The ithmaar risk management charter, which details the roles and responsibilities of the Board and of the 

senior management, lays the foundations for a risk governance structure in the Bank.

The Board approves the Bank’s business and risk strategy and ensures that business developments 

are consistent with its risk appetite and strategies. The Board also oversees the establishment and 

implementation of risk management systems and policies for on and off balance sheet risks as well as 

operational risks.

The risk policy committee assists the Board of directors and the senior management in performing 

their risk management oversight function. The committee is responsible to ensure that the Bank adopts, 

maintains and applies appropriate risk management policies and procedures.

The process of risk management is carried out by an independent control function: The risk management 

department headed by the chief risk officer with a direct reporting line to the risk policy committee. 

The department is mandated with identifying, quantifying and assessing all risks and setting appropriate 

prudential limits within the parameters of the overall risk strategy approved by the Board.

risk management strategy a structured risk management framework has been established to ensure that ithmaar’s business 

strategy and operations are linked to its risk management objectives. The overall risk strategy is 

complemented by appropriate limit structure management and supported by comprehensive risk policies 

and procedures for all material risks the Bank is exposed to.

The risk management strategy in respect of each of these types of risks is set out below:

Credit risk The significant concentration of credit risk as at 31 december 2011 is set out in note 35. credit risk 

is the risk of potential loss arising from failure of counterparty to meet its contractual obligations. 

ithmaar manages its credit risk arising from its banking book activities by implementing robust policies 

and procedures with respect to identification, measurement, mitigation, monitoring and controlling 

the risks. a centralised credit risk management system is in place where all significant exposures are 

independently reviewed by the risk management department before approval.

The risk policies of the Bank set guidelines to limit concentration risk within the portfolio by country, 

industry, tenor and products. The risk policies also set the criteria for risk rating and credit exposures.  

The policies also outline the scoring techniques used in grading and classifying exposures.
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risk management

The Bank uses a robust management information system to monitor its exposures and concentrations by 

various dimensions. all credit exposures are monitored on a continuous basis.

strategic investments including investments in real estate, are subject to at least an annual review. 

investment securities are reviewed at shorter frequencies. each investment exposure is evaluated 

individually for impairment assessed on its merits, strategy, and estimated cash flows considered 

recoverable.

eCai ratings ithmaar Bank utilises Basel-recognised ratings by external credit assessment institutions (ecai), including 

those adopted by host regulators where the Bank’s subsidiaries operate, for the purpose of assigning 

risk weights on assets. in case of multiple ecai rating of a single counterparty, the lowest of all is taken 

to assign the relevant risk weight. The Bank uses ecai ratings recognised by host regulators for its 

financing, placements and investments exposure.

The Bank complies with all the qualitative requirements for the recognition process and eligibility criteria 

of ecai rating in the credit risk management policy of the Bank.

Credit risk mitigation The Bank uses a variety of tools to mitigate its credit risk, the primary one being that of securing the 

exposure by suitable collaterals. while existence of collaterals is not a precondition for financing, in 

practice a large part of existing exposures are fully or partially collateralised. The Bank has clear policies 

on types of assets that can be accepted as collateral and the mode of valuation of these assets. in 

general all collaterals are valued periodically depending on the collateral type. The legal validity and 

enforceability of the documents used for collateral have been established by qualified personnel, lawyers 

and sharia scholars.

The Bank’s credit portfolio is supported by various types of collateral such as real estate, listed equity, 

cash collateral and guarantees issued by investment-rated counterparties. other types of collateral are 

accepted on an exceptional basis provided that such collateral can be reasonably valued.

market risk market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in foreign exchange rates, equity prices 

and profit rates.

The Bank does not maintain an active trading book and all ithmaar’s market risk exposure primarily 

consists of profit rate risk in investments, volatility in price of equities and foreign exchange rate.

market risk activities are governed by the market risk policy of the Bank. implementation of the policy, 

procedures and regulatory and internal limits for the Bank is the responsibility of the relevant Business 

units with oversight by the asset - liability committee (alco) and risk policy committee.
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The key market risk factors the Bank is exposed to are discussed below:

Foreign exCHange risk foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings and value caused by a change in foreign exchange rates. at 

ithmaar, foreign exchange risk is the risk that an exposure denominated in any foreign currency may be 

adversely affected due to volatility in foreign exchange rates compared to the base currency of the Bank. 

foreign exchange risk management at the Bank is ensured through regular measurement and monitoring 

of net open foreign exchange positions and the use of appropriate hedging instruments. for more details, 

please refer to section 25 of the Basel ii disclosures.

equity PriCe risk ithmaar is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in equities. The responsibility for 

managing equity price risk rests with the business units under the supervision and guidance from 

the investment and credit committee of the Bank. The risk management department independently 

monitors the equity price risk of the Bank. The Bank’s equity investments are approved by the 

appropriate authorities and are subject to comprehensive due diligence. The equity investments are 

measured in accordance with the financial accounting standards (fas) issued by the accounting and 

auditing organisation for islamic financial institutions (aaoifi).

ProFit rate risk in tHe Banking Book profit rate risk in the Bank’s banking book is the risk of adverse changes in expected net earnings and 

economic value of the balance sheet in current and future years resulting from the impact of changes in 

profit rates on mismatched assets and liabilities in the banking book. The Bank measures and manages 

profit rate risk in the banking book by setting internal limits for assets and liability mismatch gaps.

The measurement systems for profit rate sensitivity analysis are traditional maturity gap analysis (to 

measure the profit rate sensitivity of earnings) and duration (to measure profit rate sensitivity of capital).

profit rate risk is regularly monitored by the alco and risk policy committee and a comprehensive 

agenda addressing the rate is placed at its meetings. further information on profit rate risk management 

is included in the notes to the financial statements.

liquidity risk liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due, which 

could arise due to mismatches in cash flows. funding and liquidity management is performed centrally 

by the Treasury, with oversight from the alco and risk policy committee.

The risk management department provides an independent monitoring of liquidity risk management, 

including liquidity mismatch limits, maintenance of regulatory and internal liquidity ratios and the 

required funding maturity profile.

liquidity requirements are measured and tested under different scenarios, with the base case scenario 

defining the minimum amount of liquidity that must be held at all times. The liquidity policy also sets 

out the minimum acceptable standards for the management of ithmaar Bank’s assets and liabilities, the 

process of setting such standards, the terms of reference of alco, the roles and responsibilities of the 

various functions involved and the management information systems.

a liquidity contingency policy is in place and provides the mechanism for management of liquidity in 

adverse market conditions.

risk management
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oPerational risk operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 

systems or from external events. operational risk can result in both financial loss and/or reputation risk.

ithmaar’s approach to operational risk includes emphasis on:

 establishment of an effective governance structure with clear reporting lines and segregation 

of duties

 maintenance of an effective internal control environment

 escalation and resolution of risk and control incidents and issues

all business units are primarily responsible for managing their business activities as per the approved 

policies and procedures. They are also responsible for the identification and assessment of operational 

risks and for maintaining appropriate internal controls. The strategic planning division monitors the 

compliance with the board approved business plans and budgets for each business line.

The Bank is currently enhancing its operational risk framework to enable it to put in place a 

comprehensive risk and control self assessment process to identify the key risks in the business 

processes. This will also include a process of identifying and managing the key risk indicators, loss 

reporting set-up and implementing a robust business continuity plan.

rePutation risk reputation risk is the risk that an event will adversely affect ithmaar Bank’s reputation in the market, 

which, in turn, may adversely impact its ability to effectively undertake its activities.

sound corporate governance is a cornerstone in managing reputation risk. The Bank has in place a 

corporate governance policy and a code of conduct and Business ethics for the members of the Board, 

management and staff. This code helps to build an atmosphere of professionalism, integrity and ethical 

behaviour within the Bank. it will also help in preventing any reputation risks.

risk management rePorting and Control effective measurement, reporting and control of risk are vital to ensure that ithmaar’s business activities 

are managed in accordance with its overall strategies and risk management objectives.  

The risk management, reporting and control framework ensures quantifications of credit, market  

and liquidity risks and its aggregation. The Bank is currently upgrading its iT systems to provide 

additional management information system (mis) requirements which would further support its risk 

management processes.

risk management PoliCies and ProCedures ithmaar has developed specific risk management strategies, policies and procedures to identify, measure, 

monitor and report the key risks the Bank is exposed to. The Bank has about 40 different policies 

divided into four volumes, each addressing a specific risk area, namely, high level controls, credit risk 

management, market risk management and operations risk management.

internal Controls ithmaar’s risk management framework is complemented by robust internal controls across all aspects of 

the business, as well as strong support functions covering the legal, regulatory, governance, reputation, 

information technology, process and human resource risks.

consequently, the effectiveness and efficiency of controls are evaluated in all new and updated products, 

processes and systems, or where external and internal factors impact the operating environment.

risk management
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CaPital risk management ithmaar’s capital management policy is to ensure that it meets the capital requirements as mandated by 

the central Bank of Bahrain (cBB) and is able to estimate an appropriate capital level in order to support 

its business growth. capital management also ensures that shareholder value is protected and enhanced.

ithmaar maintains capital at a consolidated level and all entities, which are consolidated for accounting 

purposes are included within the Bank’s capital adequacy calculations as per cBB prudential consolidation 

and deduction rules.

ithmaar’s capital position is monitored on a regular basis and reported to the alco and the Board  

audit committee through the risk policy committee.

capital management is a coordinated effort by the business divisions, risk management, strategic 

planning and financial control and is a part of a broader internal capital adequacy assessment  

process (icaap).

a comprehensive risk assessment of the 2012–2014 Business plan has been performed which, inter alia, 

assesses the capital requirement of the Bank both for current and future activities under normal and 

stressed scenarios.

risk management oF suBsidiaries each operating subsidiary has a dedicated risk management and compliance function for implementing 

policies and supervising appropriate management of overall risks of the subsidiary including assessment, 

mitigation and monitoring of risks, and reporting on the risk status.

each operating subsidiary has its own set of policies and parameters which are subject to the review by 

the risk policy committee of ithmaar Bank. arrangements are being made in order to receive periodic 

risk reports from subsidiaries for onward submission and review by the Board.

non-operating subsidiaries are subject to the risk principles of the Bank itself.

ComPlianCe risk management compliance risk is the risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, material financial loss, or loss of reputation 

that the Bank may suffer as a result of its failure to comply with the requirements of relevant laws and 

regulations.  By the terms of its licence and listing rules, the Bank is subject to compliance with the 

requirements stipulated by the central Bank of Bahrain (cBB), Bahrain Bourse, kuwait stock exchange 

(kse), Bahrain commercial companies law and financial accounting standards (fas) issued by the 

accounting and auditing organisation for islamic financial institutions (aaoifi), sharia standards and  

ssB Fatwas.

compliance risk is managed through the compliance policy which provides for the assessment of 

compliance risks, implementation of controls, monitoring and testing of framework effectiveness,  

the escalation, remediation of compliance incidents and control weaknesses.

The Bank’s management ensures that business is conducted in conformity with high ethical standards 

and is in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

The Bank has appointed a compliance officer in accordance with cBB directives to ensure that the Bank’s 

operations achieve a consistently high level of compliance with all relevant laws and regulations. each of 

ithmaar’s subsidiaries also employs local compliance officers to ensure adherence to local requirements 

and regulatory issues. consolidated reports are prepared for the Board’s review.

risk management
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Customer ComPlaint ProCedures The Bank has in place a formal customer complaints procedure that complies with the code of Best 

practice on consumer credit & charging issued by the Bankers association of Bahrain. a dedicated 

customer complaints officer is responsible for handling and resolving complaints. contact details of this 

officer are publicised at all branches. all customer complaints are resolved up to the best satisfaction of 

the customers promptly.

anti money laundering it is the Bank’s policy to prohibit and actively prevent money laundering and any activity that facilitates 

money laundering or the funding of terrorist or criminal activities.

for this purpose, the Bank has defined strict policies and procedures in compliance with the financial 

crimes regulations issued by cBB. These policies and procedures apply to all employees, branches and 

offices of the Bank.

The Bank has adopted specific initiatives and measures to facilitate implementation of these policies 

and procedures. These include the appointment of a money laundering reporting officer (mlro), 

who is empowered with sufficient mandate to implement the Bank’s anti money laundering (aml) 

programmes. The mlro independently enforces the aml policies and reports any incidents to the Board 

of directors and/or the applicable regulatory authorities, and also conducts compulsory training for all 

ithmaar employees at all levels.

The Bank’s aml and know Your customer (kYc) framework incorporates the following four key elements: 

customer acceptance, customer identification procedures, transaction monitoring and risk management.

Basel ii imPlementation The Bank is applying the provisions of the Basel ii accord as follows:

Pillar 1 pillar 1 deals with maintenance of regulatory capital calculated for three major components of risk that 

a bank faces: credit risk, operational risk and market risk. for capital adequacy measurement the Bank 

has adopted a standardised approach for credit risk and market risk, and uses a basic indicator approach 

for operational risk. ithmaar Bank is compliant with all requirements of pillar 1 and, since January 2008, 

started reporting the consolidated capital adequacy numbers as per the new accord.

Pillar 2 in order to ensure compliance with the provisions of pillar 2, ithmaar Bank has formalised all risk 

management policies including risk covered in pillar 2 and is endeavouring towards laying the foundation 

for a sound internal capital adequacy assessment process (icaap). a comprehensive operational risk 

management framework is also being rolled out in line with international best practices.

Pillar 3 The Bank currently follows the aaoifi accounting standards (and where applicable, ifrs standards), and 

is in compliance with the disclosure requirements mandated by cBB, the Bahrain Bourse and kuwait 

stock exchange.

risk management
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Funds under Management

The Bank provides two types of funds under management (fum) classified as un-restricted  

investments accounts (uria) and restricted investments accounts (ria). investors include both 

individuals and corporates.

The standard of prudence is applied in the context of managing the overall portfolio including the ria 

funds to enable the Bank to exercise its fiduciary responsibilities. The composition, characteristics and 

diversification of the Bank’s funding structure is monitored within appropriate risk limits detailed in the 

risk policies of the Bank and relevant prospectus of the ria funds. The optimal mix of corporate and 

mudaraba fund is maintained while regularly monitoring the trend and concentration of exposures. The 

investment objective of the fum is to provide optimum returns to both the account holders and to the 

Bank while at the same time managing risks in the utilisation of the funds. a thorough due diligence 

process is in place which is consistent with business and risk policy guidelines of the Bank and of the 

specific funds which come under the parameters of sharia rules and regulatory framework. uria funds 

are invested in sharia compliant commercial or consumer financing as well as short and medium term 

investments excluding strategic investments.

The profit rate paid to uria investors are benchmarked with the market rates. an appropriate mechanism 

for profit rate smoothening (such as profit equalisation reserves) is in place. fee-based income is for 

the account of the Bank. uria-funds are not subject to any administration expenses. however, in the 

case of ria funds specific expenses that may arise in relation to the launching and developing of funds 

of a mudaraba and in deploying its funds, the same will be charged against the gross revenue of that 

mudaraba as set out in the related mudaraba agreement.

The Bank does not co-mingle the corporate and mudaraba funds. however, co-investments are allowed 

as per certain prudent policy guidelines. as a general rule, priority is given to funding and booking 

an asset in the fund that appropriately matches its risk profile. investors are permitted to draw their 

deposits in accordance with the terms of the mudaraba contract.
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Funds under management

The profit distribution sheet (mudaraba account) provides details on investment period and Bank’s share 

of profit as shown below:

period Bank’s share

undetermined term (savings account) 60%

30 days (1 month) 50%

90 days (3 months) 45%

180 days (6 months) 40%

360 days (12 months) 35%

average declared rate of return or profit rate on psia by maturity (3-month, 6-month, 12-month, 

36-month) in percentage terms paid annually:

Bd denominated 1 day 7 days 1 month 3 months 6 months 1 year

savings 0.49 – – – – –

mudaraba – 0.49 2.88 3.23 3.48 3.69

private investment portfolio – – 3.02 3.33 3.53 3.79

us$ denominated 1 day 7 days 1 month 3 months 6 months 1 year

savings 0.49 – – – – –

mudaraba – 0.49 2.95 3.23 3.48 3.69

private investment portfolio – – 3.02 3.33 3.53 3.79
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[1] HrH Prince amr mohammed al Faisal

chairman

appointed 5 november 2009, elected 28 march 2010

hrh prince amr has more than 25 years of extensive and diversified experience in commercial and 

investment banking, executive management, architecture and engineering.

he is a member of the Board of supervisors of dar al maal al islami Trust, faisal islamic Bank (sudan) 

and faisal islamic Bank (egypt) and chairman of the Board of directors of al daleel information systems. 

hrh prince amr is also founder and director of the red sea consultants ( Jeddah), al daleel company for 

information systems (headquartered in Jeddah with sister companies in Tunisia, sudan and pakistan),  

al wadi company for Trading ltd. ( Jeddah) and amr establishment for marketing and commerce.

hrh prince amr holds a Bachelor of arts degree in architecture from king abdulaziz university, saudi arabia, 

and is a fellow of the saudi association for construction societies, city development and clean environment 

and a member of the saudi council of engineers. 

[2] sheikh Zamil abdullah al-Zamil

independent, non-executive Board member

elected 28 march 2010

sheikh Zamil al-Zamil is a prominent businessman in the kingdom of saudi arabia and in gcc countries, and 

is represented as director in various institutions such as the chambers of commerce, industrial companies  

and Banks.

counting over 30 years of business experience spanning several sectors, he is currently executive Vice 

president of Zamil group holdings company; and is chairman of Zamil offshore services co., and Zamil 

operations & maintenance co. ltd.

educated in the united states, he holds a master of petroleum engineering degree from west Virginia 

university, usa.

[3] sheikh mohammed youseef el-khereiji  

independent, non-executive Board member

elected 11 may 2006, and 28 march 2010

sheikh mohammed comes from one of the leading merchant families in the kingdom of saudi arabia and 

has over 12 years of banking experience.

he started his career as a consultant and financial adviser, which included prudential Bache and Bnp 

paribas in geneva. he is currently chairman of global investment and marketing sa, geneva; global hotels 

and resorts BV; marriott european holdings; and creative investment and marketing sa. he is also chief 

financial officer of el-khereiji group and chairman of sage capital management group in Bahrain. sheikh 

mohammed is honorary chairman of the swiss red cross as well as its international ambassador, and is an 

active contributor to many charitable entities. he holds several other prominent executive Board positions in 

europe and the middle east.

he studied in switzerland and the united kingdom and graduated with an mBa in marketing and finance.

[4] tunku dato’ ya’acob Bin tunku abdullah  

 non-executive Board member

elected 11 may 2006, and 28 march 2010

prince Ya’acob has over 30 years of banking and finance experience. 

he is chairman of maa holdings Berhad (malaysia), which he joined in 1999. prior to his current position, 

prince Ya’acob worked for 19 years for malaysian assurance alliance Berhad, where his last position was as 

chairman. he also worked at price waterhouse in uk and malaysia.

prince Ya’acob holds a Bachelor of science degree with honours from the city university in london and is a 

fellow of the institute of chartered accountants of england and wales.

[5] shaikha Hissah bint saad al-sabah  

independent, non-executive Board member

elected 11 may 2006, and 28 march 2010

shaikha hissah has more than 12 years of banking experience.

she is the president of the council of arab Businesswomen and has had a long history in the kuwait 

government and private voluntary service, in sectors which include medical services, research and 

development, defence, and narcotics and addiction control. 

shaikha hissah studied public administration and political science at the american university of Beirut, 

lebanon and has a doctorate in humane letters.

Board of directors
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[6] abdulhameed m. aboumoussa

non-executive Board member

elected 11 may 2006, and 28 march 2010

abdulhameed aboumoussa has more than 45 years of banking experience.

he is the governor of faisal islamic Bank of egypt, which he joined in 1977. prior to this, he worked in the 

central Bank of egypt for 16 years.

he is a member of the coordinating council that determines the monetary and fiscal policy objectives of the 

egyptian economy, and is also a member of the general assembly of public sector Banks representing the 

interests of the egyptian government in state-owned banks.

he holds a Bachelor of science in accounting and a diploma in finance from cairo university in egypt, and a 

diploma in Banking economics from lwegi Boconi university in milano, italy.

[7] khalid abdulla-janahi

non-executive Board member

elected 11 may 2006, and 28 march 2010

khalid Janahi has over 25 years of banking and finance experience.

he is presently group chief executive of dar al-maal al-islami Trust (dmi Trust) and chairman of the Board 

of directors of faisal private Bank (switzerland) s.a., dmi administrative services s.a., islamic investment 

company of the gulf (Bahamas) ltd., naseej B.s.c. [closed] and solidarity group holdings B.s.c. [closed]. he 

is also a member of the Board of directors of faisal islamic Bank of egypt.

he holds a Bsc degree in computer science and accountancy from the university of manchester, uk and is 

a fellow of the institute of chartered accountants in england and wales; and serves as a  member of the 

Board of the centre for international Business and management at the university of cambridge, uk. 

[8] mohammed a. rahman Bucheerei

executive Board member and  

chief executive officer 

elected 28 march 2010

mohammed Bucheerei has over 42 years of experience in accounting and finance, as well as commercial 

and offshore banking. he has been a member of the ithmaar Bank’s Board of directors since march 2010 

and was appointed its chief executive officer in July 2010. he is also a member of the Bank’s executive 

committee.

previously, he was the general manager of the private offices of hrh prince mohamed al faisal al saud, 

saudi arabia and executive Vice president, shamil Bank of Bahrain. he currently serves on the Boards of 

naseej B.s.c. (c), solidarity group holding B.s.c. (c),  ithmaar development company limited, ithmaar-

dilmunia general partner company limited, islamic investment company of the gulf (Bahamas and sharjah) 

limited, faysal Bahamas limited, crescent international limited (Bermuda), dmi ( Jersey) limited, mfai 

( Jersey) limited, faisal finance luxembourg s.a., shamil finance luxembourg s.a., gulf investors asset 

management company (saudi arabia), cantara s.a. (switzerland), faisal private Bank (switzerland) s.a., 

Boston capital and overland capital group, usa.

he studied accounting, mathematics and economics at gulf polytechnic, Bahrain.

[9] nabeel khaled mohamed kanoo 

independent, non-executive Board member

elected 28 march 2010

nabeel kanoo counts over 15 years of business experience.

he is senior general manager of the kanoo Travel group, director of YBa kanoo’s saudi arabia Board, a 

director of YBa kanoo’s Bahrain Board, director of kanoo Travel co. uk and france, director of kanoo and 

el-shabrawy ltd. co. egypt and a Board member of the Bahrain chamber of commerce. he is also chairman 

of Bahrain’s Tourism committee.

he holds a Bachelor of Business management degree from st. edwards university, austin, Texas.

Board of directors
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[1] MohaMMed a. RahMan BucheeRei

Chief Executive Officer and Member of the 

Board. Joined the Group in January 1991.  

Has 42 years’ experience.

[2] JuMa aBull

Executive General Manager, Support Group. 

Joined the Group in January 1988. Has 32 years’ 

experience.

[3] Yousif ahMed ali al-haMMadi

General Manager, Commercial Banking. Joined 

the Bank in October 2010. Has 33 years’ 

experience.

[4] ahMed aBdul RahiM

General Manager, Retail Banking. Joined the 

Bank in June 2006. Has 34 years’ experience.

[5] MaYsan faisal al Maskati

Executive Senior Manager, Co-Head of Asset 

Management. Joined the Bank in February 2007. 

Has 14 years’ experience.

[6] MuhaMMed Wasif iJlal

Executive Senior Manager, Co-Head of Asset 

Management. Joined the Bank in December 

2006. Has 16 years’ experience.

 [7] shahRiaR khoshaBi

Assistant General Manager, Head of Financial 

Institutions. Joined the Bank in September 2010. 

Has 29 years’ experience.

[8] aBdul hakiM khalil al-MutaWa

Assistant General Manager, Head of Private 

Banking. Joined the Bank in January 2003. Has 

30 years’ experience.

[9] taWfiq MohaMMed al-Bastaki

Assistant General Manager, Chief Risk & 

Compliance Officer. Joined the Group in 

December 1999. Has 33 years’ experience.

[10] MohaMMad ali

Assistant General Manager, Chief Internal 

Auditor. Joined the Group in January 1996.  

Has 45 years’ experience.

[11] RavindRa khot

Assistant General Manager, Chief Financial 

Officer. Joined the Bank in June 2007.  

Has 26 years’ experience.

[12] PRakash PathManathan

Assistant General Manager, Head of Strategic 

Planning. Joined the Bank in August 2007.  

Has 32 years’ experience.

[13] scott a. cResWell

Assistant General Manager, Head of Legal, 

General Counsel and Company Secretary. Joined 

the Group in September 1986. Has 32 years’ 

experience.

[14] aBdulRahMan al-shaikh

Assistant General Manager, Head of Banking 

Operations. Joined the Bank in August 1991.  

Has 39 years’ experience.

[15] Yousif aBdulla alkhan

Assistant General Manager, Head of Information 

Technology. Joined the Bank in December 1989. 

Has 23 years’ experience.

[16] JassiM aBdulkaRiM salMan

Assistant General Manager, Head of 

Administration. Joined the Bank in August 2006. 

Has 38 years’ experience.

executive Management

[17] dheYa al-shekaR

Executive Senior Manager, Head of Human 

Capital. Joined the Bank in April 2007.  

Has 13 years’ experience.

[18] shaRaf khaWaJa

Executive Senior Manager, Head of Corporate 

Communications & PR. Joined the Bank in July 

2001. Has 20 years’ experience.

[19] hasan al-attaR

Executive Senior Manager, Head of Remedial 

Management. Joined the Group in June 2004. 

Has 43 years’ experience.
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Sharia Supervisory Board

sHeikH aBdullaH sulaiman al manee’a
CHairman

sheikh al manee’a is a prominent, highly-respected sharia scholar from the kingdom of saudi arabia. he 

is the Vice-chairman of the sharia Board of the accounting and auditing organisation for islamic financial 

institutions (aaoifi) and a member of the senior scholars council of the kingdom of saudi arabia and the 

awqaf supreme council. he is also chairman or a member of the sharia supervisory Boards of several 

other islamic banks and financial institutions.

an expert at the islamic fiqh academy, sheikh al manee’a holds a master’s degree from the higher 

institute for Judgement and has authored several books including ‘paper money: truth, history and reality’ 

and ‘economic research’.

sHeikH nedHam yaqouBy
exeCutive memBer

sheikh Yaqouby is a prominent, highly-respected sharia scholar and a successful businessman from the 

kingdom of Bahrain. he is a member of the sharia Board of the accounting and auditing organisation for 

islamic financial institutions (aaoifi), and is also a member of the sharia supervisory Boards of several 

regional and international banks as well as many investment funds around the world.

in 2007, the king of Bahrain, his majesty king hamad bin isa al khalifa, awarded sheikh Yaqouby the 

order merit in recognition of his services in Bahrain and abroad. sheikh Yaqouby has also received the 

euromoney award for innovation in sharia supervision, as well as the malaysian islamic Banking award.

sheikh Yaqouby, who holds a master’s degree from mcgill university, canada, is a phd candidate at the 

wales university’s department of sharia and law.  he has authored four books and delivered more than 

500 lectures.

sHeikH moHsin al-asFoor
memBer

sheikh al-asfoor is a well known and highly-respected sharia scholar from the kingdom of Bahrain. 

in addition to his membership of the ithmaar Bank sharia advisory Board, he is also a member of  

the sharia advisory Board of six other companies and was a judge at the supreme sharia court of  

appeal ( Jaafari). 

sheikh al-asfoor is a member of curriculum development at the Jaafari religious institute, as well as the 

sharia Board of the international islamic rating agency of the islamic development Bank.

he is a graduate of islamic hawza from qom, iran and has authored more than 60 books on  

islamic sharia.
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sharia supervisory Board

sHeikH dr. osama moHammed saad BaHar
memBer

sheikh Bahar is a well known, highly-respected sharia scholar from Bahrain. 

he is currently a sharia member and head of the sharia compliance and advisory at first energy Bank, 

following earlier senior positions at islamic banks in Bahrain including head of sharia compliance at  

al salam Bank and before that, sharia compliance officer at aBc islamic Bank. 

sheikh Bahar is also chairman of the sharia supervisory Board of capinnova; sharia member at global  

Banking corporation, international investment Bank, allianz global investors, allianz Takaful (Bahrain), 

international Tharawat and family Bank; and sharia advisor for sakana holistic housing solutions and 

reef (real estate finance).

sheikh Bahar holds a doctorate from lahaye university in the netherlands, a master’s degree from  

al emam al awzae university in lebanon and a Bachelor’s degree in islamic sharia’a from prince abdul 

qader al jaazaeri university of islamic studies in algeria.
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ithmaar Bank and its constituent entities have a long history of embracing corporate responsibility as  

an integral part of our business philosophy and practices. as will be seen in the paragraphs that follow, 

the emphasis is not mere short-lived philanthropy, but a deeper community involvement and investment 

of a strategic nature. we do not intend to stop there. as a progressive institution that is aligned with  

the three pillars of Bahrain Vision 2030 - sustainability, competitiveness and fairness - the Bank is 

migrating its corporate responsibility agenda to the broader context of corporate sustainability, a business 

approach that creates long-term value for stakeholders through responsible environmental, social and 

governance practices.

our Community

sustainaBle develoPment tHrougH 
eduCation

education and training are vital pillars that support sustainable economic growth. Together with the 

kingdom of Bahrain’s royal charity organisation, ithmaar sponsored 18 under-privileged orphaned 

students from grade 1 right through to grade 12 at an accredited private school in Bahrain, which is 

a member of the international Baccalaureate organisation (iBo) offering the high school diploma as 

well as the international Baccalaureate diploma curricula. also, in collaboration with an accredited local 

university, ithmaar supported undergraduate degree courses for 30 orphaned students, of whom 10 are 

in their final year of graduation.

Through an arrangement with the london school of economics, ithmaar funded postgraduate education 

for several promising young needy students from across the muslim world. The sponsorship package, 

which we began to award in 2007, ran for a period of three years and 15 students benefited from  

this initiative. 

in addition, ithmaar Bank sponsored seven needy students through the education fund, in collaboration 

with accredited local universities, for undergraduate degree courses in which two of them have 

graduated.

ithmaar Bank also invests its own staff time and resources on training and developing aspiring job 

seekers. during the year, we provided on-the-job training opportunities to 42 university students from 

different universities across the kingdom. The Bank also released six of its staff for a total of 120 

working hours, during which they voluntarily taught in different government schools as part of the inJaz 

programme. inJaz Bahrain is a member of the worldwide Junior achievement organisation that inspires 

and prepares young Bahrainis to succeed in a global economy. Topics covered included Banks in action, 

Business ethics, success skills and career with a purpose.

By way of awards and accolades, the Bank received a certificate of appreciation from the university of 

Bahrain in recognition of our continuous commitment to the university’s internship programme.

HealtH and well-Being mindful of the need to support the health and well-being of the Bahraini people, ithmaar Bank once 

again provided financial support to the Bahrain cancer society. The society has long played an important 

role within the community, supporting research and offering assistance for patients and their families. it 

also disseminates information to the general public on the causes and treatment of cancer and methods 

that help its prevention.

Corporate Responsibility
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Corporate responsibility

Promoting gender equality ithmaar Bank honoured its female employees as the Bank celebrated Bahraini women’s day. The national 

celebration, which was held under the theme ‘Bahraini women in economic development’, is an initiative 

of the supreme council for women. The council was established to promote women’s rights in the 

kingdom and encourage full participation in society. 

BaHrain’s ComPetitive edge as a pioneer of islamic banking in the region, the Bank continues to support the development of 

Bahrain’s banking and finance industry. ithmaar Bank not only sponsored the annual sharia conference 

2011 organised by the accounting and auditing organisation for islamic financial institutions (aaoifi) 

in Bahrain, but was also the platinum sponsor of the aaoifi world Bank annual conference on islamic 

Banking and finance in Bahrain. The latter was a two-day event held under the patronage of the central 

Bank of Bahrain and organised by aaofi in cooperation with the world Bank.

sPortsmansHiP and teamwork ithmaar Bank provided sponsorship and support for h.h. shaikh khalid Bin hamad al khalifa football 

champion league for the media, which was inaugurated in august 2011. The Bank sees this as a 

small but important contribution towards fostering sportsmanship and teamwork, this time among the 

news media and those running it. ithmaar Bank had previously sponsored a number of sports and club 

activities in Bahrain as part of its contribution towards the Bahraini society.

our Human CaPital

training and develoPment as we have said before, it is the collective effort of our people that drives our enterprise. ithmaar Bank 

continues to invest in their training and development to create a highly motivated, competent and 

innovative team that delivers value for our mutual benefit. in turn, the Bank embraces and strives to 

continuously improve a set of core values that guide our actions in the areas of human rights, labour 

standards, the environment and anti-corruption.

Training needs are assessed each year. a key input for this process is the feedback received from 

the annual performance and career review. in 2011, the Bank invested us$170,000 on training and 

development, averaging eight hours per employee. The programmes included -

 short courses provided by the Bahrain institute of Banking and finance (BiBf) on levy Training

 short courses provided by several training institutions in accordance with ithmaar’s training 

requirements

 advanced islamic finance diploma

 in-house anti money laundering programme conducted by the Bank’s money laundering reporting officer

meanwhile, the Bank continues to review the organisation structure and deploy resources effectively. 

a global grading system was established with consultant assistance during the year to facilitate job 

evaluation and to survey the market for best practices in human capital benefits and pay systems. 

moreover, the consultant reviewed the Bank’s benefits before the reorganisation with shamil Bank and 

recommended unified benefits for all employees that were duly implemented.

staff are encouraged to acquire professional qualification as part of their career progression. several staff 

have acquired professional qualification.
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emPloyment tyPe and diversity as of december 2011 the Bank employed 265 permanent staff in Bahrain (27 expatriates and 238 or 

90% Bahrainis) and two more employees in the qatar representative office. in addition, there were  

13 temporary employees on contract. 

The Bank encourages gender diversity. of the permanent staff based in Bahrain, there were 193 male 

(73%) and 72 female (27%) employees as of december 2011.

staff are encouraged to acquire professional qualifications as part of their career progression. several 

staff have acquired professional qualifications.

BeneFits full-time employees are entitled to medical Takaful, life Takaful, Transportation allowance, Telephone 

allowance, club membership allowance, 13-month salary, qard hasan (profit-free financing) and leaving 

indemnity. Temporary employees receive a Basic salary.

The Bank maintains a unified remuneration and bonus scheme for all employees.

HealtH and saFety The Bank follows Bahrain labour law on health and safety at work. no injuries or work-related illnesses 

were reported during the year under review.

The Bank permits light duties for pregnant employees, as well as off-time for lactation after they 

resume work. moreover, light duties are also permitted for employees with special health conditions as 

recommended by an accredited medical centre.

emPloyee engagement and reCognition The Bank maintains an open door policy. There is a free flow communication regime amongst staff and 

management, including regular and ad hoc departmental meetings.

we recognise and reward performance and dedicated service. an employee of the month scheme is in 

operation. in addition, 11 long-service employees were rewarded during the year, five of whom had 

served the Bank for more than 20 years, two for more than 15 years and four for more than 10 years. 

The Bank also recognised and honoured 10 of our employees who were certified as professional islamic 

Bankers by the general council for islamic Banks & financial institutions.

our environment

good HousekeePing and Business 
PraCtiCes

we are mindful about minimising both the direct and indirect negative impacts on our environment 

arising from our business activities. The first is addressed through good housekeeping practices such 

as minimising the use of paper, greater use of email for correspondence, adopting energy efficient 

technologies and practices at the workplace and responsible disposal of waste. we have also made our 

first attempt at measuring and reporting our own carbon footprint, as discussed in the paragraph that 

follows. The second concerns our clients. This is addressed through an assessment of the environmental 

and social impact of the projects that the Bank finances during the normal course of business.

Corporate responsibility
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our CarBon FootPrint what gets measured gets managed. we have thus commenced measuring and reporting our carbon 

footprint on a voluntary basis using the revised edition of wBcsd/wri greenhouse gas protocol 

corporate accounting and reporting standard for guidance. This is our maiden public disclosure, and 

we are limiting the organisational boundary to ithmaar Bank B. s. c. only. The operational boundary is 

likewise limited to the business of the Bank within the kingdom of Bahrain.

scope source consumption in 2011
emission, kg co

2
 

equivalent %

1 - direct petrol for motor vehicles 20,951 litres 48,433 1.9

2 - indirect purchased electricity 2,330,316 kwh 1,922,278 73.3

3 - indirect; selective purchased chilled water 

for air conditioning

estimated energy for chilling 

705,615 kwh 

582,062 22.2

international business 

flights

196 one way and round 

trips totalling 585,282 km 

(computed individually)

68,062 2.6

total carbon footprint 2,620,835 100.0

as will be seen from the above table, purchased electricity usage accounted for 73% of our total 

greenhouse gas (ghg) emissions that amounted to 2,621 tonnes co
2
 equivalent1 during the year. in 

addition, purchased chilled water for air conditioning at the head office and main Branch is estimated to 

account for another 22% of our total ghg emissions, making our indirect ghg emissions from electricity 

alone to slightly over 95% of our total carbon footprint. a clear implication is that the efficient use of 

electricity through sound energy management practices is an area that the Bank will focus on, which 

will not only make the Bank a more environmentally responsible corporate citizen but also contribute 

positively to bottom line profits.

awareness Creation ithmaar Bank extended financial support for the first Bahrain waste management forum and exhibition 

held in november 2011. The two-day event held under the patronage of the minister of municipalities 

and urban planning was hosted by the Bahrain polytechnic under the theme ‘Towards Zero waste’. 

having played a pioneering role in the introduction and subsequent development of islamic banking and 

finance in the region, ithmaar Bank also recognises the important role it must play in supporting the 

community in which it operates. in particular, the Bank recognises the importance of working towards 

protecting the environment, a core philosophy behind islamic banking.

Corporate responsibility

1  it includes the six greenhouse gases covered by the kyoto protocol - carbon dioxide (co
2
), methane, nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride - 

which have varying levels of global warming potential. The overall impact is denominated in terms of co
2
 equivalent, with mass as the unit of measure.
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Report of the Sharia  
Supervisory Board

in the name of allah, the Beneficent, the merciful

RepoRt oF the shaRia supeRvisoRy BoaRd on the aCtivities oF ithmaaR Bank B.s.C. FoR the FinanCial yeaR FRom 1 JanuaRy 2011 until 

31 deCemBeR 2011, CoRResponding to the peRiod FRom 26 muhaRRam 1432 h until 6 saFaR 1433 h.

Praise be to Allah, the Lord of the worlds, and peace and blessings be upon our Master, Mohammed, the leader of Prophets and Messengers, and upon his 

scion and companions, and upon those who follow his guidance until the Day of Judgment.

The Sharia Supervisory Board of Ithmaar Bank B.S.C. performed the following acts during the financial year from 1 January 2011 until 31 December 2011:

1. Issued fatwas and Sharia resolutions related to the Bank’s products and activities and followed them up through the Bank’s internal Sharia Audit 

Department while also guiding the various management teams towards Sharia-compliant transactions.

2. Studied different mechanisms of financing and prepared its documents with the concerned departments in order to develop products.

3. Examined the books, records and transactions through the internal Sharia Audit Department and auditing some of their samples as per established 

auditing standards.

4. Examined the statement of financial position, income statement and the Bank’s overall banking activities through it. 

We have reviewed the principles and contracts relating to transactions and products launched by the Bank during the period from 1 January 2011 to  

31 December 2011. We have also conducted the required inspection to provide our opinion on whether the Bank had complied with the provisions and 

principles of Islamic Sharia, as well as fatwas, resolutions and specific guidance that was issued by us.

The management is responsible for ensuring that the Bank operates in accordance with the provisions and principles of Islamic Sharia and the accounting 

standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI). Our responsibility is to express an independent 

opinion based on our observation of the Bank’s operations, and prepare a report.

In view of the above the Sharia Supervisory Board hereby resolves as follows:

i: With RegaRd to the Bank’s Business in geneRal:

a. The Bank’s overall investment activities and banking services were conducted in full compliance with the principles and provisions of Islamic Sharia and in 

accordance with the Sharia Supervisory Board-approved standard contracts.

b. Gains made from sources prohibited by Sharia were evaded and transferred to the Charity Fund.

c. All the amounts collected as customers’ donations and commitments on late payments were posted to the Charity Fund.

d. Shareholders are responsible for payment of Zakat on their shares.

ii: Conventional assets and liaBilities:

The Sharia Supervisory Board identified and reviewed the conventional assets and liabilities that existed before Ithmaar Bank converted to an Islamic retail 

bank in April 2010 and issued a Fatwa that allows the Bank to convert these assets and liabilities into Islamic alternatives, or dispose them, in an agreed 

time period, provided that the Bank appropriately discloses to its shareholders in its annual report all amounts of income and expenses associated with these 

conventional assets and liabilities. This Fatwa conforms to the provisions of Sharia Standard - 6 “Conversion of a Conventional Bank to an Islamic Bank” of 

AAOIFI Sharia Standards.
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RepoRt oF the shaRia supeRvisoRy BoaRd on the aCtivities oF ithmaaR Bank B.s.C. FoR the FinanCial yeaR FRom 1 JanuaRy 2011 until  

31 deCemBeR 2011, CoRResponding to the peRiod FRom 26 muhaRRam 1432 h until 6 saFaR 1433 h. (continued)

The Sharia Supervisory Board continuously reviews progresses in this respect and guides the management of the Bank on appropriate actions to be taken in 

respect of each asset and liability.

To ensure compliance with its Fatwa and directions, the Sharia Supervisory Board has reviewed the income statement of the Bank for the year ended  

31 December 2011 and has satisfied itself that the Bank has appropriately disclosed the incomes and expenses arising from the conventional assets and 

liabilities. Accordingly, the Sharia Supervisory Board guides the shareholders of the Bank to dispose of impermissible earnings which have been calculated,  

in the current year’s financial statements, at 0.28 cents per share.

We pray to Almighty Allah to grant success to the Bank and its employees and guide them in developing Islamic products and continue to comply  

with the Sharia principles and to grant them success for everything He pleases. May peace and blessings be upon our Master, Mohammed, and upon his 

scion and companions.

his eminence sheikh abdullah al manee’a

Chairman

his eminence sheikh mohsin al-asfoor his eminence sheikh nedham yaqouby

Member  Member

his eminence sheikh dr. osama Bahar

Member

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

19 February 2012

Report of the sharia supervisory Board
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Report of the Directors

diReCtoRs’ RepoRt FoR the yeaR ended 31 deCemBeR 2011

The Directors submit their report dealing with the activities of Ithmaar Bank B.S.C (the “Bank”) for the year ended 31 December 2011, together with the 

audited consolidated financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year then ended.

pRinCipal aCtivities

The Bank holds an Islamic retail banking licence issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain. 

The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are a wide range of financial services, including retail, commercial,  

asset management, private banking, takaful, equipment leasing and real estate development. 

Consolidated FinanCial position and Results

The consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2011, together with the consolidated income statement, changes in equity and cash 

flows for the year then ended is set out in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

The Group has reported a net loss of $62.9 million for 2011, attributable to the shareholders, as compared to a net loss of $150.4 million for 2010.  

Total assets at 31 December 2011 amounted to $6,899 million (31 December 2010: $6,747 million). 

The Bank’s consolidated Capital adequacy ratio under Basel II as at 31 December 2011 was 12.88% (31 December 2010: 13.20%) as compared to a  

minimum regulatory requirement of 12%. The Bank’s risk weighted exposures and eligible capital are set out in note 38 to the accompanying consolidated 

financial statements.

diReCtoRs

The following served as Directors of the Bank during the year ended 31 December 2011:

HRH Prince Amr Mohammed Al Faisal (Chairman)

Mr. Khalid Abdulla-Janahi 

Tunku Dato’ Ya’acob Bin Tunku Abdullah

Mr. Abdulhameed M. Aboumoussa

Mr. Mohammed Youseef El-Khereiji

Shaikha Hissah bint Saad Al-Sabah

Sheikh Zamil Abdullah Al-Zamil 

Mr. Nabeel Khaled Kanoo 

Mr. Mohammed Bucheerei
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Report of the directors

diReCtoRs’ sitting Fees

Directors’ sitting fees for 2011 amounted to $183,500 (2010: $320,000).

inteRests oF diReCtoRs

The interests of the Directors in the shares of the Bank are disclosed below:

Name Number of Shares

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

HRH Prince Amr Mohammed Al Faisal 100,000 100,000

Mr. Khalid Abdulla-Janahi 20,749,693 20,749,693

Tunku Dato’ Ya’acob Bin Tunku Abdullah 40,982 40,982

Mr. Abdulhameed M. Aboumoussa – –

Mr. Mohammed Youseef El-Khereiji 5,280,000 5,280,000

Shaikha Hissah bint Saad Al-Sabah 41,800 41,800

Sheikh Zamil Abdullah Al-Zamil 205,000 –

Mr. Nabeel Khaled Kanoo – –

Mr. Mohammed Bucheerei 105,600 105,600

dividend

No dividend has been proposed for 2011 (2010: Nil).

auditoRs

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have expressed their willingness to be reappointed as auditors of the Bank for the year ending 31 December 2012.

By order of the Board of Directors 

hRh prince amr mohammed al Faisal 

Chairman 

28 February 2012
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RepoRt on the FinanCial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Ithmaar Bank B.S.C. (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprise 

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2011 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in owners’ equity, cash 

flows, and changes in restricted investment accounts for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. 

diReCtoRs’ ResponsiBility FoR the FinanCial statements

Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Financial Accounting 

Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions and to operate in accordance with Islamic Shari’a. This 

responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates 

that are reasonable in the circumstances.

auditoRs’ ResponsiBility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the 

Auditing Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, 

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 

principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall consolidated financial statement presentation. We believe 

that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2011 and the 

results of its operations, its cash flows, changes in owners’ equity and changes in restricted investment accounts for the year then ended in accordance 

with Financial Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions and Shari’a Rules and Principles as 

determined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank.

RepoRt on RegulatoRy RequiRements

As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) Rule Book (Volume 2), we report that: (i) the Bank has 

maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial statements are in agreement therewith; (ii) the financial information contained in the 

directors’ report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements; (iii) we are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, 

the Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 2 and applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, rules and 

procedures of the Bahrain Bourse or the terms of the Bank’s memorandum and articles of association, having occurred during the year that might have had a 

material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on its financial position; and (iv) satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us 

by the management in response to all our requests.

Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

28 February 2012

Independent Auditors‘ Report 
to the Shareholders of Ithmaar Bank B.S.C.
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Consolidated Statement  
of Financial Position 
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

at 31 december 
2011

At 31 December 
2010

Notes (audited)
 (Audited and

 Restated)

assets

Cash, balances with banks and central banks 3 378,701 373,970

Commodity placements with banks, financial and other institutions 4 504,213 535,121

Murabaha and other financings 5 2,733,024 2,515,480

Musharaka financing 42,518 14,614

Investments:

  Mudaraba 6 23,493 26,911

  Investment in associates 7 650,156 664,988

  Investment securities 8 1,224,386 1,247,441

  Restricted investment accounts 9 199,117 204,278

  Assets acquired for leasing 10 59,421 70,536

  Investment in real estate 11 390,174 389,592

Other assets 12 303,950 284,564

Fixed assets 13 132,408 145,382

Intangible assets 14 257,859 274,590

total assets 6,899,420 6,747,467

liaBilities, equity oF unRestRiCted investment aCCount holdeRs,  
minoRity inteRest and oWneRs’ equity

Customers’ current accounts 792,077 684,162

Due to banks, financial and other institutions 15 1,617,321 1,714,025

Due to investors 16 1,930,445 1,970,795

Other liabilities 17 273,434 288,516

total liabilities 4,613,277 4,657,498

Equity of unrestricted investment account holders 18 1,476,633 1,195,963

Minority interest 19 232,682 237,428

total liaBilities, equity oF unRestRiCted investment aCCount holdeRs and minoRity 
inteRest 6,322,592 6,090,889

Share capital 20 670,863 671,254

Reserves (94,035) (14,676)

total owners’ equity 576,828 656,578

total liabilities, equity of unrestricted investment account holders, minority interest and owners’ equity 6,899,420 6,747,467

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 February 2012 and signed on their behalf by:

hRh prince amr mohammed al Faisal mohammed Bucheerei

Chairman CEO and Director

The notes on pages 90 to 132 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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year ended

at 31 december 
2011

At 31 December 
2010

Notes (audited)
 (Audited and

 Restated)

inCome

Income from unrestricted investment accounts 67,926 61,546

Less: return to unrestricted investment accounts and provisions (65,018) (56,395)

Group’s share of income from unrestricted investment accounts as a Mudarib 2,908 5,151

Group’s share of income from restricted investment accounts as a Mudarib 22 2,814 4,618

Income from murabaha and other financings 23 259,156 184,001

Income from investments 24 138,002 159,578

Gain arising on acquisition of a business - net 41 – 38,748

Other income 25 48,149 46,333

total income 451,029 438,429

Less: profit paid to banks, financial and other institutions - net (276,152) (212,822)

operating income 174,877 225,607

expenses

Administrative and general expenses 26 (168,407) (129,807)

Depreciation and amortisation 13,14 (44,438) (32,763)

total expenses (212,845) (162,570)

Net income/(loss) before provision for impairment and overseas taxation (37,968) 63,037

Provision for impairment - net 28 (21,836) (209,386)

Net loss before overseas taxation (59,804) (146,349)

Overseas taxation 29 (2,102) 6,341

net loss FoR the yeaR (61,906) (140,008)

attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank (62,886) (150,409)

Minority interests 19 980 10,401

(61,906) (140,008)

Basic and diluted earnings per share 21 us cts (2.31)   US cts (5.89)

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 28 February 2012 and signed on their behalf by:

hRh prince amr mohammed al Faisal mohammed Bucheerei

Chairman CEO and Director

The notes on pages 90 to 132 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated  
Income Statement  

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes  
in Owners’ Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Reserves                                                                                                                        

  Share
capital

  Share
 premium

Statutory
 reserve

  General
 reserve

Investments
 fair value 

reserve

Investment 
in real estate

 fair value
 reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation
Accumulated 

losses
Total

reserves

Total 
owners’ 

equity

at 1 January 2011 (audited  
   and Restated) 671,254 149,967 38,090 50,726 2,964 1,015 9,606 (267,044) (14,676) 656,578

Treasury shares purchased (391) (276) – – – – – – (276) (667)

Net loss for the year – – – – – – – (62,886) (62,886) (62,886)

Movement in fair value of  
   investment securities – – – – (8,926) – – – (8,926) (8,926)

Movement in fair value of  
   associates – – – – (8,239) – – – (8,239) (8,239)

Movement in deferred tax  
   relating to investment securities – – – – 2,753 – – – 2,753 2,753

Transfer to income statement  
   due to impairment of investment  
   securities – – – – 2,199 – – – 2,199 2,199

Transfer to income statement due  
   to disposal of investment  
   securities – – – – (2,093) – – – (2,093) (2,093)

Movement in fair value of  
   investment in real estate – – – – – (68) – – (68) (68)

Foreign currency translation 
   adjustment – – – – 133 – (1,443) (513) (1,823) (1,823)

at 31 december 2011 670,863 149,691 38,090 50,726 (11,209) 947 8,163 (330,443) (94,035) 576,828

The notes on pages 90 to 132 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of Changes in owners’ equity

for the year ended 31 December 2010

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Reserves                                                                                                                        

  Share
capital

  Share
 premium

Statutory
 reserve

  General
 reserve

Investments
 fair value 

reserve

Investment in
real estate
 fair value

reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation
Accumulated 

losses
Total

reserves

Total 
owners’ 

equity

at 1 January 2010 568,832 161,132 38,090 150,827 1,989 – 59 (209,494) 142,603 711,435

Reorganisation adjustments  
   (note 42) – – – (96,211) 8,676 – (283) 87,818 – –

adjustments resulting from 
   adoption of Fas 25 (note 43) – – – – 1,357 – – – 1,357 1,357

at 1 January 2010 (audited  
   and Restated) 568,832 161,132 38,090 54,616 12,022 – (224) (121,676) 143,960 712,792

Increase in share capital (Note 20) 103,025 – – – – – – – – 103,025

Costs related to rights issue – (10,000) – – – – – – (10,000) (10,000)

Treasury shares purchased (2,961) 725 – – – – – – 725 (2,236)

Treasury shares sold 2,358 (1,890) – – – – – – (1,890) 468

Net loss for the year – – – – – – – (150,409) (150,409) (150,409)

Movement in fair value of Investment 
  securities – – – – 3,869 – – – 3,869 3,869

Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 37) – – – 501 – – – 3,169 3,670 3,670

Movement in fair value of  
   associates – – – – (2,578) – – – (2,578) (2,578)

Movement in deferred tax relating  
  to investment securities – – – – (944) – – – (944) (944)

Transfer to income statement  
   due to impairment of investment  
   securities – – – – 4,889 – – – 4,889 4,889

Transfer to income statement  
   due to disposal of investment  
   securities – – – – (14,124) – – – (14,124) (14,124)

Movement in fair value of  
  investment in real estate – – – – – 1,015 – – 1,015 1,015

Foreign currency translation 
  adjustment – – – – (170) – 9,830 (2,519) 7,141 7,141

Transfer from general reserve – – – (4,391) – – – 4,391 – –

at 31 december 2010 671,254 149,967 38,090 50,726 2,964 1,015 9,606 (267,044) (14,676) 656,578

The notes on pages 90 to 132 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement  
of Cash Flows
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

year ended

at 31 december 
2011

At 31 December 
2010

Notes (audited)
 (Audited and 

Restated)

opeRating aCtivities

Net loss before overseas taxation (59,804) (146,349)

adjustments for:

  Depreciation and amortisation 13,14 44,438 32,763

  Gain arising on acquisition of a business 41 – (38,748)

  Income from associated companies 24 (17,816) (27,583)

  Provision for impairment - net 28 21,836 209,386

  Gain on sale of fixed assets 25 (3,178) (1,186)

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in operating assets and liabilities (14,524) 28,283

Balances with banks maturing after ninety days and including with central bank relating to  
  minimum reserve requirement (10,339) 14,498

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets

  Murabaha and other financings (214,502) (330,319)

  Musharaka financing (27,904) (14,614)

  Other assets (983) (86,549)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities

  Customers’ current accounts 107,915 228,897

  Due to banks, financial and other institutions (96,704) (116,529)

  Due to investors (40,350) 330,402

  Other liabilities (14,027) 10,145

Increase in equity of unrestricted investment account holders 280,670 212,952

Taxes paid (13,643) (28,343)

net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities (44,391) 248,823

investing aCtivities

Net (increase)/decrease 

  Mudaraba – (2,615)

  Investment in restricted investment accounts 5,161 (78,103)

  Assets acquired for leasing 11,115 174

  Investment securities (31,959) (341,631)

Dividend received from associates 7 15,915 15,766

Purchase of fixed assets (10,002) (47,011)

Investment in real estate (3,830) (20,389)

net cash used in investing activities (13,600) (473,809)
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Consolidated statement of Cash Flows

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

year ended

at 31 december 
2011

At 31 December 
2010

Notes (audited)
 (Audited and 

Restated)

FinanCing aCtivities

Treasury shares purchased – (2,236)

Treasury shares sold – 468

Share capital 20 – 103,025

net cash provided by financing activities – 101,257

Foreign currency translation adjustments 21,475 8,039

net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (36,516) (115,690)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 702,526 818,216

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 4 666,010 702,526

The notes on pages 90 to 132 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.



I T HMAAR  B ANK  B . S . C .     Annua l  Repo r t  2 01188

Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Restricted Investment Accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2011
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

At 1 January 
2011 

Net Deposits/
 (Withdrawals)

Gross 
Income

Mudarib’s 
Fee

At 31 December 
2011

Aldar Private Equity Fund* 170,324 – – – 170,324

Dilmunia Development Fund I L.P.* 175,869 – (2,842) – 173,027

Shamil Bosphorus Modaraba* 102,435 – – – 102,435

European Real Estate Portfolio* 22,814 (469) – – 22,345

Shamil China Fund* 22,779 (22,779) – – –

US Development Opportunities Fund* 18,019 – – – 18,019

Shamil Jawaher 1 50,720 (50,087) – (633) –

Shamil Jawaher 2 6,244 (6,141) – (103) –

European Real Estate Placements* 72,223 54,686 110 (856) 126,163

US Real Estate Placements* 147,652 10,501 – (361) 157,792

PPSC Placements 841,742 (703,582) 3,038 (754) 140,444

Trade Finance Placements 943 13,038 87 (17) 14,051

Listed and non–listed equities 42,795 (11,613) 2,011 (90) 33,103

Investment in Sukuk – 520 6 – 526

Other clients funds 460 (460) – – –

total 1,675,019 (716,386) 2,410 (2,814) 958,229

Funds managed on agency basis 95,380 (23,961) – – 71,419

1,770,399 (740,347) 2,410 (2,814) 1,029,648

* Income/(loss) will be recognised and distributed at the time of disposal of the underlying investments.

The notes on pages 90 to 132 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of 
Changes in Restricted investment accounts

for the year ended 31 December 2010
(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

At 1 January 2010
(Audited and Restated, 

refer Note 42) 
Net Deposits/
 (Withdrawals)

Gross 
Income

Mudarib’s 
Fee

At 31 December 
2010

Aldar Private Equity Fund* 171,824 – – (1,500) 170,324

Dilmunia Development Fund I L.P.* 182,323 – (4,373) (2,081) 175,869

Shamil Bosphorus Modaraba* 99,514 2,921 – – 102,435

European Real Estate Portfolio* 24,660 (1,846) – – 22,814

Shamil Navigator* 15,385 (15,385) – – –

Shamil China Fund* 25,574 (2,795) – – 22,779

US Development Opportunities Fund* 21,547 (3,528) – – 18,019

Shamil Jawaher 1 50,735 (15) – – 50,720

Shamil Jawaher 2 7,764 (1,520) – – 6,244

Bridge Finance Placements 20,200 (20,200) – – –

European Real Estate Placements* 77,954 (5,740) 220 (211) 72,223

US Real Estate Placements* 132,719 15,353 19 (439) 147,652

PPSC Placements 106,536 734,014 1,474 (282) 841,742

Trade Finance Placements 1,390 (444) – (3) 943

Listed and non–listed equities 38,343 3,434 1,120 (102) 42,795

Other clients funds 489 (32) 3 – 460

total 976,957 704,217 (1,537) (4,618) 1,675,019

Funds managed on agency basis 246,493 (151,113) – – 95,380

1,223,450 553,104 (1,537) (4,618) 1,770,399

* Income/(loss) will be recognised and distributed at the time of disposal of the underlying investments.

The notes on pages 90 to 132 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated  
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2011

 1.  inCoRpoRation and aCtivities

 Ithmaar Bank B.S.C. (the “Bank”) was incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain on 13 August 1984 and was licensed as an investment bank regulated by 

the Central Bank of Bahrain (the “CBB”). On 14 April 2010 the CBB approved the reorganisation of the Bank and its wholly owned subsidiary Shamil Bank 

of Bahrain B.S.C (C) (the “Shamil Bank”) into one entity under Ithmaar Bank B.S.C with an Islamic retail banking license. As a result, Shamil Bank has 

transferred its entire business, assets and liabilities to Ithmaar Bank B.S.C. effective 21 April 2010.

 Dar Al-Maal Al-Islami Trust (“DMIT”), a Trust incorporated in the commonwealth of Bahamas is the ultimate parent company of the Bank.

 The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are a wide range of financial services, including retail, commercial, 

investment banking, private banking, takaful, equipment leasing and real estate development. 

 The Bank’s activities are supervised by the CBB and are subject to the supervision of Shari’a Supervisory Board.

 The Bank’s shares are listed for trading on the Bahrain Bourse and Kuwait Stock Exchange.

 The Group’s activities also include acting as a Mudarib (manager, on a trustee basis), of funds deposited for investment in accordance with Islamic laws 

and principles particularly with regard to the prohibition of receiving or paying interest. These funds are included in the consolidated financial statements 

as equity of unrestricted investment account holders and restricted investment accounts. In respect of equity of unrestricted investment account holders, 

the investment account holder authorises the Group to invest the account holders’ funds in a manner which the Group deems appropriate without laying 

down any restrictions as to where, how and for what purpose the funds should be invested. In respect of restricted investment accounts, the investment 

account holders impose certain restrictions as to where, how and for what purpose the funds are to be invested. Further, the Group may be restricted from 

commingling its own funds with the funds of restricted investment accounts. 

 The Group carries out its business activities through the Bank’s head office, 15 commercial branches in Bahrain and its following principal  

subsidiary companies:

% owned

Voting Economic Country of Incorporation Principal business activity

Faisal Private Bank (Switzerland) S.A. 100 100 Switzerland Banking

Cantara (Switzerland) S.A. 100 100 Switzerland Investment holding

DMI Administrative Services S.A. 100 100 Switzerland Management services

Faisal Finance (Luxembourg) S.A. 100 100 Luxembourg Investment holding

Shamil Finance (Luxembourg) S.A. 100 100 Luxembourg Investment holding

Faisal Finance (Netherlands Antilles) NV 100 100 Netherlands Antilles Investment holding

Ithmaar Development Company Limited 100 100 Cayman Islands Real estate 

Faysal Bank Limited             67 67 Pakistan Banking

Sakana Holistic Housing Solutions B.S.C. (C) 63 50 Kingdom of Bahrain Mortgage finance

City View Real Estate Development Co. B.S.C. (C) 51 51 Kingdom of Bahrain Real estate 

Marina Reef Real Estate Development Co. B.S.C. (C) 51 51 Kingdom of Bahrain Real estate 

Health Island B.S.C. (C) 50 50 Kingdom of Bahrain Real estate

 During 2010, the Bank sold its investments in four subsidiaries, namely DMI Jersey Limited, MFAI Jersey Limited, Faisal Finance Jersey Limited and  

Rayten Limited to a related party (Note 37).

 Islamic Investment Company of the Gulf (Bahamas) Limited (IICG), a company incorporated in the Commonwealth of Bahamas and owned 100% by DMIT, 

is an affiliate of the Bank.
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notes to the Consolidated Financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2011

 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies 

 Effective 30 June 2010, the Bank adopted Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial 

Institutions (AAOIFI). 

 

 The Group has certain assets, liabilities and related income and expenses which are not Sharia compliant as these existed before Ithmaar Bank converted 

to an Islamic retail bank in April 2010. These are currently presented in accordance with AAOIFI standards in the consolidated financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2011 as appropriate.

 The Sharia Supervisory Board has approved the Sharia Compliance Plan (“Plan”) for assets and liabilities which are not Sharia Compliant. The Sharia 

Supervisory Board is monitoring the implementation of this Plan. The income and expenses attributable to non-Sharia compliant assets and liabilities is 

disclosed under note 40.

 The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial information of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2011.

 The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below:

 (i)  adoption oF neW aCCounting standaRd:

 The following standard which becomes effective in 2011 is relevant for the Group.

Standard Content Applicable for the financial years 
beginning or after

FAS 25 Investment in sukuk, shares and similar instruments 1 January 2011

 FAS 25 was issued in July 2010. It relates to the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of investments that exhibit characteristics of debt 

and equity instruments.

 Equity type instruments are accounted at fair value through equity or fair value through income statement as appropriate. Debt type instruments are 

accounted at amortised cost or fair value through income statement as appropriate.

 The adoption of this standard does not have any material impact on the consolidated income statement but has impact on the presentation and disclosure 

of the underlying investments. Accordingly the consolidated statement of financial position has been restated for the comparative periods and related 

accounting policies have been amended.

 (ii)  Basis oF pRepaRation

 The consolidated financial statements are prepared on a historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of investment securities carried at fair 

value through income statement and equity and investment in real estate.

 (iii)  statement oF ComplianCe

 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards issued by the Accounting and Auditing 

Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI), the Shari’a rules and principles as determined by the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank, the 

Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, CBB and the Financial Institutional Law. In accordance with the requirement of AAOIFI, for matters where no AAOIFI 

standards exist, the Group uses the relevant International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
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 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies (continued) 

 (iv)  summaRy oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies

  (a)  Basis of consolidation

 Subsidiaries

 Subsidiaries are companies in which the Group holds 50% or more of equity shares and as such exercises significant control over such companies. 

Subsidiaries, including Special Purpose entities that are controlled by the Bank, are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control and 

continue to be so consolidated until the date such control ceases. 

 Associates

 Associates are companies in which the Group has significant influence, but not control over the management of affairs, and which are neither subsidiaries 

nor joint ventures. The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the 

investment in the associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. 

The consolidated income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. Where there has been a change recognised 

directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of 

changes in owners’ equity. 

 In case of associates where audited financial statements are not available, the Group’s share of profit or loss is arrived at by using the latest available 

management accounts.

 Intra-Group balances and minority interest

 The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities and results of operations of the Bank, its subsidiary companies after adjustment  

for minority interest and equity of unrestricted investment account holders managed by the Group. All significant intra-group balances and transactions 

have been eliminated. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared on the same reporting periods as the Bank, using consistent  

accounting policies.

  (b)  Foreign currency transactions and balances

 Functional and presentation currency

 Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment  

in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is the Bank’s  

presentation currency. 

 

 Transactions and balances

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 

exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated income statement. Translation differences on non-monetary items 

carried at their fair value, such as certain investment securities are included in investments fair value reserve.

 The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 

presentation currency as follows: 

1.  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of statement of financial position;

2.  Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and 

3.  All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.
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 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (iv)  summaRy oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies (continued)

  (b)  Foreign currency transactions and balances (continued)

 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency 

instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. Translation losses arising in the case of severe devaluation or 

depreciation (other than temporary) of the currency of the net investment in a foreign operation when the latter is translated at the spot exchange rate 

at the date of consolidated statement of financial position, shall be recognised in the first place as a charge against any credit balance on the separate 

component of the shareholders’ equity and any remaining amount shall be recognised as a loss in the consolidated income statement. When a foreign 

operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the consolidated income statement as part 

of the gain or loss on sale. 

 Goodwill, intangibles and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 

translated at the closing rate.

  (c)  accounting estimates and judgements

 The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and 

judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to 

be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 1.  Classification of investments

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management decides upon acquisition of an investment, whether it should be classified as 

investments carried at fair value through income statement, held at amortised cost or investments carried at fair value through equity. The classification  

of each investment reflects the management’s intention in relation to each investment and is subject to different accounting treatments based on  

such classification.

 2.  Special purpose entities

 The Group sponsors the formation of special purpose entities (SPEs) primarily for the purpose of allowing clients to hold investments. The Group does not 

consolidate SPEs that it does not have the power to control. In determining whether the Group has the power to control an SPE, judgements are made 

about the objectives of the SPEs activities, Group’s exposure to the risks and rewards, as well as its ability to make operational decisions of the SPE.

 3.  Impairment on financing assets and investments

 Each financing and investment exposure is evaluated individually for impairment. Management makes judgements about counterparty’s financial situation 

and the net realisable value of any underlying assets. Each impaired asset is assessed on its merits, and the workout strategy and estimate of cash flows 

considered recoverable.

 4.  Liquidity mismatch

 The Group constantly monitors the liquidity mismatch arising in the normal course of the business. Periodic stress tests are carried out on liquidity position 

to assess the ability of the Bank to meet its liquidity mismatch. The stress testing also incorporates judgement based behavioural approach for various 

sources of funding, estimated inflows from disposal of assets.
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 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (iv)  summaRy oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies (continued)

  (d)  Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents as referred to in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise cash on hand, non-restricted balance with central banks 

and other banks, and short term liquid investments on demand or with an original maturity of three months or less.

  (e)  murabaha and other financings

 Murabaha financings are stated at cost less allowance for doubtful receivables. 

 The Group considers the promise made in Murabaha to the purchase orderer as obligatory.

 Other financings represent conventional loans and advances, which are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments. These are 

initially recorded at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective yield method.  

 The Group receives collateral in the form of cash or other securities including bank guarantees, mortgage over property or shares and securities for 

Murabaha and other financings where deemed necessary. The Group’s policy is to obtain possession of collateral with a market value equal to or in 

excess of the principal amount financed under the respective financing agreement. To ensure that the market value of the underlying collateral remains 

sufficient, collateral is valued periodically.

 Specific provision is made when the management considers that there is impairment in the carrying amount of Murabaha and other financings.

  (f)  musharaka financing

 Musharaka financing is stated at cost less provision for impairment.

 Specific provision is made when the management considers that there is impairment in the carrying amount of Musharaka financing.

 

  (g)  investments

 1.  Investments carried at amortised cost

 Include debt-type instruments carried at amortised cost where the investment is managed on a contractual yield basis and their performance evaluated 

on the basis of contractual cash flows. These investments are measured at initial recognition minus capital/redemption payments and minus any reduction 

for impairment.

 2.  Investments carried at fair value through equity

 Equity type instruments are investments that do not exhibit the feature of debt type instruments and include instruments that evidence a residual interest 

in the assets of an entity after deducting all its liabilities.

 Equity type investments carried at fair value through equity are those equity instruments which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, 

which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity; these are designated as such at inception. Regular-way purchases and sales of these investments 

are recognised on the trade date which is the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

 These investments are initially recognised at cost plus transaction costs. These investments are subsequently re-measured at fair value and the resulting 

unrealised gains or losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of changes in equity or equity of unrestricted investment account holders under 

“Investments fair value reserve”, until the financial asset is derecognized or impaired. At this time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 

equity is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (iv)  summaRy oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (g)  investments (continued)

 2.  Investments carried at fair value through equity (continued)

 The fair value of quoted investments in active market is based on current bid price. If there is no active market for such financial assets, the Group 

establishes fair values using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions and other valuation techniques used by other 

participants. The Group also refers to valuations carried out by investment managers in determining fair value of certain unquoted financial assets.

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In case 

of equity investments classified as financial assets carried at fair value through equity, a significant or prolonged decline in fair value of the security below 

the cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any evidence exists of significant impairment for the investment carried at fair 

value through equity, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss 

on the financial asset previously recognised in the consolidated income statement is removed from the equity and recognised in the consolidated income 

statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments previously recognised in the consolidated income statement are not subsequently reversed through 

the consolidated income statement.

 3.  Investments carried at fair value through income statement

 An investment is classified as investment carried at fair value through income statement if acquired or originated principally for the purpose of generating 

a profit from short term fluctuations in price or dealers’ margin. These investments shall be recognised on the acquisition date at cost including the direct 

expenses related to the acquisition. At the end of each reporting period, investments shall be re-measured at their fair value and the gain/loss shall be 

recognised in the consolidated income statement.

 4.  Restricted investment accounts

 Investment in restricted investment accounts is initially recorded at cost and subsequently re-measured at fair value. Unrealised losses are recognised in 

equity to the extent of the available balance, taking into consideration the portion related to owner’s equity and equity of unrestricted investment account 

holders. In case cumulative losses exceed the available balance under equity, the excess is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

 5.  Investment in real estate

 All properties held for rental income or for capital appreciation purposes or both are classified as investment in real estate. Investment in real estate held 

for capital appreciation are initially recognised at cost and subsequently re-measured at fair value with the resulting unrealised gains being recognised in 

the consolidated statement of changes in owner’s equity under investment properties fair value reserves. Unrealised losses are recognised in equity to 

the extent of the available balance, taking into consideration the portion related to owner’s equity and equity of unrestricted investment account holders. 

In case cumulative losses exceed the available balance under equity, the excess is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Investment in real 

estate held for rental purposes are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.

 6.  Mudaraba

 Mudaraba investments are recorded at cost. Decline in the value of investment which is not temporary is charged directly to the consolidated  

income statement. 
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 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (iv)  summaRy oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (g)  investments (continued)

 7.  Fair value

 For investments traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to quoted market bid prices.

 For investments where there are no quoted market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current market value 

of another instrument, which is substantially the same or is based on the assessment of future cash flows or at net asset value. The cash equivalent 

values are determined by the Group at current profit rates for contracts with similar term and risk characteristics.  

  (h)  assets acquired for leasing (ijarah)

 Assets acquired for leasing are stated at cost and are depreciated according to the Group’s depreciation policy for fixed assets or lease term,  

whichever is lower.

 A provision for doubtful receivable is made if, in the opinion of the management, the recovery of outstanding rentals are doubtful.

  (i)  Fixed assets 

 Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset 

over its estimated useful life as follows: 

Buildings 50 years

     Leasehold improvements over the period of the lease

Furniture, equipment and motor vehicles 3-10 years

Aircraft 25 years

 

 Depreciation is calculated separately for each significant part of an asset category. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated 

recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. The asset’s residual value and useful life are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, at each date of the statement of financial position.

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 

economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. All other repairs and renewals are charged to 

the consolidated income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

 Gains and losses on disposal of fixed assets are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts. 

  ( j)  intangible assets

 1.  Goodwill

 Goodwill acquired at the time of acquisitions of subsidiaries is reported in the consolidated statement of the financial position as an asset. Goodwill is 

initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary 

undertaking at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, the goodwill is tested for impairment on annual basis. At the end of the financial period, the 

goodwill is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to the cash-generating units,  

or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities 

of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (iv)  summaRy oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 ( j)  intangible assets (continued)

 1.  Goodwill (continued)

 Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount 

of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

 Negative goodwill resulting from the acquisition of business is reported in the consolidated income statement. 

 Acquisition of minority interest is accounted using the Economic Entity Method. Under the Economic Entity Method, the purchase of a minority interest is a 

transaction with a shareholder. As such, any excess consideration over the Group’s share of net assets is recorded in owners’ equity.

 2.  Computer software

 Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are 

amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives (three to five years). Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are 

recognised as an expense as incurred. 

 Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and that will probably generate 

economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include software development employee costs and 

an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight line method 

over their expected useful lives.

 3.  Other acquired intangible assets

 Other acquired intangible assets determined to have finite lives, such as core deposits and customer relationships, are amortised on a straight line basis 

over their estimated useful lives of up to twenty years. The original carrying amount of core deposits and customer relationships has been determined by 

independent appraisers, based on the profit rate differential on the expected deposit duration method. 

 Other acquired intangible assets are tested annually or more often if indicators exist for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated amortization.

  (k)  Current taxation

 There is no tax on corporate income in the Kingdom of Bahrain. However, the subsidiaries incorporated in tax jurisdictions pay tax as per local regulations.

  (l)  deferred taxation

 Deferred taxation is provided using the liability method for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

 A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward of unused tax losses and tax credits to the extent that it 

is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses and tax credits can be 

utilised. Enacted tax rates are used to determine deferred income tax.
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 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (iv)  summaRy oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies (continued)

  (m)  provision for staff benefits

 Staff benefits and entitlements to annual leave, holiday air passage and other short-term benefits are recognised when they accrue to employees.  

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the consolidated income statement in the period to which they relate. In respect of 

these plans, the Group has a legal and constructive obligation to pay the contributions as they fall due and no obligation exists to pay future benefits.

 In respect of end of service benefits, to which certain employees of the Group are eligible, costs are assessed in accordance with the labour law 

requirements of the applicable jurisdiction or by using the projected unit credit method as appropriate. Costs to be recognised under the projected unit 

credit method are estimated based on the advice of qualified actuaries. Actuarial gains and losses are spread over the average remaining service lives of 

the employees until the benefits become vested.

  (n)  due to investors

 Funds received from depositors who take the corporate risk of the Bank or its subsidiaries are classified as “Due to investors”.

  (o)  equity of unrestricted investment account holders

 Under the equity of unrestricted investment account holders (URIA), the investment account holder authorizes the Group to invest the account holders’ 

funds in a manner which the Group deems appropriate without laying down any restrictions as to where, how and for what purpose the funds should  

be invested. 

 The assets included in the equity of unrestricted investment account holders are measured on the same basis of various category of the assets as set 

out above. The amount appropriated to investment risk reserve are out of the total income from URIA assets before charging any expense relating to the 

management fee, mudarib share of profit, profit equalization reserve and profit to investment account holders. Profit equalisation reserve is created to 

maintain a certain level of return on investments for investment account holders.

  (p)  Restricted investment accounts

 Under the restricted investment accounts (RIA), the investment account holders impose certain restrictions as to where, how and for that purpose the 

funds are to be invested. The assets included in the restricted investment accounts are recorded at net book value.

  (q)  treasury shares

 These shares are treated as a deduction from the owners’ equity. Gains and losses on sale of own shares are included in owners’ equity.

  (r)  statutory reserve

 In accordance with the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law 10% of the Bank’s net income for the year is transferred to a statutory reserve until such 

time as reserve reaches 50% of the paid up share capital. The reserve is not distributable, but can be utilized as stipulated in the Bahrain Commercial 

Companies Law and other applicable statutory regulations.

  (s)  Revenue recognition

 1.  Profit participation and management fees

 Income from profit participation and management fees charged to funds managed by the Group is recognised on the basis of the Group’s entitlement to 

receive such revenue from restricted and unrestricted investment accounts as defined in the Mudaraba agreement (trust deed), except when the Group 

temporarily waives its entitlement.

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2011



I T HMAAR  B ANK  B . S . C .     Annua l  Repo r t  2 011 99

 2.  signiFiCant gRoup aCCounting poliCies (continued)

 (iv)  summaRy oF signiFiCant aCCounting poliCies (continued)

  (s)  Revenue recognition (continued)

 2.  Profit on Murabaha and other financings

 Profit on Murabaha transactions is recognised by proportionately allocating the attributable profits over the period of the transaction where each  

financial period carries its portion of profits irrespective of whether or not cash is received. However, profit accrual is suspended on Murabaha  

transactions in respect of which repayment instalments are past due for more than ninety days, unless, in the opinion of the management of the Bank, 

the accrual is justified.

 Income from other financings is accrued based on the effective return method over the period of the transaction. Where income is not contractually 

determined or quantifiable, it is recognised when reasonably certain of realisation or when realised.

 3.  Income from assets acquired for leasing

 Lease rental revenue is recognised on a time-apportioned basis over the lease term.

 4.  Income from Mudaraba contracts

 Income from Mudaraba contracts are recognised when the Mudarib distributes profits. Any share of losses for the period are recognized to the extent such 

losses are being deducted from the Mudaraba capital.

 5.  Profit on Musharaka contracts

 In respect of Musharaka contracts that continue for more than one financial period, the Group’s share of profits are recognised when a partial or final 

settlement takes place and its share of the losses are recognised to the extent that such losses are deducted from the Group’s share of Musharaka capital. 

However, in respect of diminishing Musharaka transactions, profits or losses are recognised after considering the decline in the Group’s share of the 

Musharaka capital and, consequently, its proportionate share of the profits or losses.

 6.  Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

 7.  Fees and commissions

 Fees and commissions are recognised when earned.

 Commissions on letters of credit and letters of guarantee are recognised as income over the period of the transaction. 

 Fees for structuring and arrangement of financing transactions for and on behalf of other parties are recognised when the Bank has fulfilled all its 

obligations in connection with the related transaction.

  (t)  profit allocation between group and investment account holders

 The Group maintains separate books for assets financed by owners, unrestricted and restricted investment accounts. All income generated from the assets 

financed by the investment accounts are allocated to the customers after deducting impairment provisions, profit equalization reserves, mudarib’s share of 

profit and management fees.

 Administrative expenses incurred in connection with the management of the funds are borne directly by the Group.

 Impairment provision is made when the management considers that there is impairment in the carrying amount of assets financed by the  

investment account.
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 3.  Cash, BalanCes With Banks and CentRal Banks

 31 december 2011 31 December 2010

   Relating to
 owners

  Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts total
 Relating to

 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

Cash reserve with central bank 126,707 – 126,707 113,725 – 113,725

Cash, balances with banks and central bank 251,994 – 251,994 260,245 – 260,245

378,701 – 378,701 373,970 – 373,970

 4.  Commodity plaCements With Banks, FinanCial and otheR institutions

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

     Relating to
 owners

    Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts total
     Relating to

 owners

    Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

Commodity placements 485,735 25,003 510,738 516,645 25,001 541,646

Less: Provision (6,525) – (6,525) (6,525) – (6,525)

479,210 25,003 504,213 510,120 25,001 535,121

 Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of cash flow statement are as under:

                               31 december 2011                             31 December 2010

     Relating to
 owners

    Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts total
     Relating to

 owners

    Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

Cash, balances with banks and central bank 378,701 – 378,701 373,970 – 373,970

Commodity placements with banks,  
   financial and other institutions - net 479,210 25,003 504,213 510,120 25,001 535,121

Less: Placements maturing after ninety days (65,194) (25,003) (90,197) (67,839) (25,001) (92,840)

Less: balances with central bank relating to  
   minimum reserve requirement (126,707) – (126,707) (113,725) – (113,725)

666,010 – 666,010 702,526 – 702,526
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 4.  Commodity plaCements With Banks, FinanCial and otheR institutions (continued)

 The movement in provision is as follows:

                               31 december 2011                             31 December 2010

     Relating to
 owners

    Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts total
     Relating to

 owners

    Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

At 1 January 6,525 – 6,525 6,525 – 6,525

Charge for the year – – – – – –

Utilised during the year – – – – – –

At 31 December 6,525 – 6,525 6,525 – 6,525

 5.  muRaBaha and otheR FinanCings

    31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Relating to
 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts total
Relating to

 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

Murabaha and other financings 2,196,792 799,102 2,995,894 2,185,747 610,043 2,795,790

Less: Provisions (231,693) (31,177) (262,870) (250,051) (30,259) (280,310)

1,965,099 767,925 2,733,024 1,935,696 579,784 2,515,480

 Other financings represent conventional loans and advances totalling $1,641 million (2010: $1,587 million) made by a subsidiary of the Bank.

 The movement in provisions is as follows:

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Relating to
 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts total
Relating to

 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

At 1 January 250,051 30,259 280,310 111,141 28,596 139,737

Charge for the year 36,273 918 37,191 44,681 3,400 48,081

Write back during the year (39,316) – (39,316) – – –

Utilised during the year (4,916) – (4,916) – – –

Acquisition of a business – – – 99,320 – 99,320

Exchange differences and other movements (10,399) – (10,399) (5,091) (1,737) (6,828)

At 31 December 231,693 31,177 262,870 250,051 30,259 280,310

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)



I T HMAAR  B ANK  B . S . C .     Annua l  Repo r t  2 011102

 6.  mudaRaBa

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Relating to
 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts total
Relating to

 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

Mudaraba investments 984 37,298 38,282 3,529 38,171 41,700

Less: provisions – (14,789) (14,789) – (14,789) (14,789)

984 22,509 23,493 3,529 23,382 26,911

 The movement in provisions is as follows:

2011 2010

Relating to
 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts total
Relating to

 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

At 1 January – 14,789 14,789 – 14,789 14,789

Charge for the year – – – – – –

Utilised during the year – – – – – –

At 31 December – 14,789 14,789 – 14,789 14,789
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 7.  investments in assoCiates

 Investments in associated companies, as adjusted for the Bank’s share of their results (Note 24), comprise:

% of

Name of company 2011 2010 Shareholding Country Activity

unlisted:

Solidarity Group Holding B.S.C. (C) 70,047 70,215 34 Bahrain Takaful

First Leasing Bank B.S.C. (C) 39,737 44,817 43 Bahrain Banking

Citic International Assets Management Limited 65,496 66,460 20 Hong Kong Asset management

Sanpak Engineering 659 698 31 Pakistan Manufacturing

Islamic Company for Production, Printing and  
   Packing Materials “Icopack” 3,503 3,394 23 Egypt Trading

Misr Company for Packing Materials “Egywrap” 8,162 7,867 23 Egypt Trading

Faysal Asset Management Limited 923 1,046 30 Pakistan Asset management

Ithraa Capital 4,072 4,604 23 Saudi Arabia Investment company

Naseej B.S.C. (C) 87,594 86,605 29 Bahrain Infrastructure

Chase Manara B.S.C. (C) 2,104 2,020 40 Bahrain Real estate

Islamic Trading Company E.C 1,964 1,974 24 Bahrain Trading

Emerging Markets Partnership Bahrain B.S.C (C) 871 838 40 Bahrain Asset management

Hupomone Capital Partners (H.C.P) – – 20 Singapore Asset management

CIAM - Shamil Asset Management Co. Ltd. 312 174 50 Hong Kong Asset management

listed:

BBK B.S.C 364,712 374,276 25 Bahrain Banking

650,156 664,988

 Investments in associates include conventional investments totalling $430 million (2010: $441 million).
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 7.  investments in assoCiates (continued)

 The Bank’s share of net assets of its associated companies includes the following movements analysed as follows:

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

At 1 January 664,988 706,706

Share of profit before tax 18,031 28,373

Share of tax (215) (790)

Dividends received (15,915) (15,766)

Share of fair value reserve (8,239) (6,429)

Additions  – 10,000

Provisions – (55,677)

Amortisation of intangibles (6,748) (6,748)

Exchange differences (1,746) 5,319

At 31 December 650,156 664,988

 Included in investment in associates at 31 December 2011 is $94.6 million (31 December 2010: $94.6 million) of goodwill. The movement is as follows:

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

At 1 January 94,597 150,274

Provision – (55,677)

At 31 December 94,597 94,597

 The Bank has received in-principle approval from the Central Bank of Bahrain on 6 December 2010 for the proposed acquisition of the remaining shares in 

First Leasing Bank B.S.C (C) (FLB) through a share swap, subject to compliance with various conditions. The Bank is currently in discussion with FLB on the 

proposed share swap ratio.

 Summarised financial position of associates that have been equity accounted:

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Total assets 8,531,939 7,737,721

Total liabilities 6,895,034 6,058,063

Total revenues 349,978 409,748

Total net profit 86,737 128,707
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 8.  investment seCuRities

31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

investment securities at fair value through income statement

Held for trading

Debt-type instruments - listed – – – 32,732 – 32,732

Debt-type instruments - unlisted 54,718 – 54,718 – – –

Equity securities - listed 9,835 – 9,835 8,608 – 8,608

64,553 – 64,553 41,340 – 41,340

investment securities at fair value through equity 

Equity securities - listed 104,197 – 104,197 117,079 – 117,079

Equity securities - unlisted 191,388 84,765 276,153 189,729 93,343 283,072

295,585 84,765 380,350 306,808 93,343 400,151

Provision for impairment (101,331) (940) (102,271) (100,409) (3,308) (103,717)

194,254 83,825 278,079 206,399 90,035 296,434

investment securities carried at amortised cost 

Debt-type instruments - listed – – – 51,042 – 51,042

Debt-type instruments - unlisted 888,620 – 888,620 864,340 – 864,340

888,620 – 888,620 915,382 – 915,382

Provision for impairment (6,866) – (6,866) (5,715) – (5,715)

881,754 – 881,754 909,667 – 909,667

1,140,561 83,825 1,224,386 1,157,406 90,035 1,247,441

 Investment securities include conventional investments totalling $918 million (2010: $931 million) made by a subsidiary of the Bank.

 The fair value of investment securities carried at amortised cost was $883 million (2010: $903 million).
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 8.  investment seCuRities (continued)

 The movement in provisions relating to investment securities is as follows:

31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

At 1 January 106,124 3,308 109,432 50,072 – 50,072

Charge for the year 32,289 – 32,289 65,317 1,368 66,685

Write back during the year (7,590) – (7,590) (24,423) – (24,423)

Reclassification 2,368 (2,368) – – – –

Utilised during the year (23,937) – (23,937) – – –

Exchange differences (1,057) – (1,057) 15,158 1,940 17,098

At 31 December 108,197 940 109,137 106,124 3,308 109,432

 FAS 25 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. 

Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources; unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s market assumptions. These two types 

of inputs have created the following fair value hierarchy:

 Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical investments. 

 Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the investments, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 

(that is, derived from prices). 

 Level 3 - inputs for the investments that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations 

where possible.
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 8.  investment seCuRities (continued)
 investments measuRed at FaiR value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 total

At 31 December 2011

investment securities at fair value through income statement

Debt-type instruments 54,718 – – 54,718

Equity securities 9,835 – – 9,835

investment securities at fair value through equity 

Equity securities 103,642 – 174,437 278,079

168,195 – 174,437 342,632

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 total

At 31 December 2010

investment securities at fair value through income statement

Debt-type instruments 32,732 – – 32,732

Equity securities 8,608 – – 8,608

investment securities at fair value through equity 

Equity securities 93,808 – 202,626 296,434

135,148 – 202,626 337,774

 ReConCiliation oF level 3 items

Investment securities at fair value 
through equity

2011 2010

at 1 January 202,626 174,235

Total gains/(losses) recognised in

 - Income statement 139 (3,215)

 - Equity – –

Purchases 6,292 67,229

Sales (34,579) (35,129)

Transfers into Level 3 – 30

Transfers out of Level 3 (41) (524)

at 31 december 174,437 202,626

Total gains/(losses) for the year included in consolidated statement of income for 31 December 540 (3,215)
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 9.  RestRiCted investment aCCounts

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

Investment in restricted investment accounts 140,705 79,058 219,763 141,633 83,291 224,924

Less: provisions (20,646) – (20,646) (20,646) – (20,646)

120,059 79,058 199,117 120,987 83,291 204,278

 The movement in provisions is as follows:

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

At 1 January 20,646 – 20,646 3,500 – 3,500

Charge for the year – – – 17,146 – 17,146

At 31 December 20,646 – 20,646 20,646 – 20,646

 10.  assets aCquiRed FoR leasing

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Cost
 accumulated 
depreciation

net book 
amount Cost

Accumulated
depreciation

Net book 
amount

Property 96,317 (36,896) 59,421 106,856 (36,320) 70,536

 The net book amount of assets acquired for leasing is further analysed as follows:

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to owners 47,568 58,784

Relating to unrestricted investment accounts 11,853 11,752

59,421 70,536
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 11.  investment in Real estate

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

Investment properties 418,722 – 418,722 413,140 – 413,140

Less: provisions (28,548) – (28,548) (23,548) – (23,548)

390,174 – 390,174 389,592 – 389,592

 Fair value of investment properties at the year end approximates their carrying value.

 The movement in provisions for investment in real estate is as follows:

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

At 1 January 23,548 – 23,548 6,667 – 6,667

Charge for the year 5,000 – 5,000 16,881 – 16,881

At 31 December 28,548 – 28,548 23,548 – 23,548

 12.  otheR assets

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

Accrued receivable 187,544 33,073 220,617 173,454 43,722 217,176

Due from related parties 58,321 – 58,321 63,901 – 63,901

Taxes - deferred 59,938 – 59,938 53,013 – 53,013

Taxes - current 12,962 – 12,962 13,114 – 13,114

Assets acquired against claims 22,633 – 22,633 17,985 – 17,985

Provision for impairment (48,572) (21,949) (70,521) (59,215) (21,410) (80,625)

292,826 11,124 303,950 262,252 22,312 284,564
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 12.  otheR assets (continued)

 The movement in provisions is as follows:

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

At 1 January 59,215 21,410 80,625 32,701 17,736 50,437

Charge for the year 11,376 539 11,915 41,107 3,674 44,781

Write back during the year (22,151) – (22,151) (5,000) – (5,000)

Utilised during the year (1,131) – (1,131) – – –

Exchange differences 1,263 – 1,263 (9,593) – (9,593)

At 31 December 48,572 21,949 70,521 59,215 21,410 80,625

 13.  Fixed assets

 Relating to owners  Relating to owners
 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Cost
accumulated 
depreciation

provision for 
impairment

net book 
amount Cost

Accumulated 
depreciation

Provision for 
impairment

Net book 
amount

Land and building 95,296 (5,543) – 89,753 76,569 (2,961) – 73,608

Leasehold improvements 31,671 (20,116) – 11,555 48,571 (19,236) – 29,335

Furniture and equipment 64,369 (52,093) – 12,276 61,047 (45,282) – 15,765

Aircrafts and motor vehicles 36,849 (12,070) (5,955) 18,824 36,935 (10,261) – 26,674

228,185 (89,822) (5,955) 132,408 223,122 (77,740) – 145,382

 Depreciation charge for the year ended 31 December 2011 amounted to $20.9 million (31 December 2010: $10.6 million).

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)



I T HMAAR  B ANK  B . S . C .     Annua l  Repo r t  2 011 111

 14.  intangiBle assets

 Relating to owners
 31 december 2011

Cost
accumulated 
amortisation

exchange
differences

net book 
amount

Goodwill 87,830 – (7,139) 80,691

Customer relations* 113,896 (25,169) (8,430) 80,297

Core deposits 155,547 (41,804) (21,636) 92,107

Other 16,776 (12,012) – 4,764

374,049 (78,985) (37,205) 257,859

 Relating to owners
 31 December 2010

Cost
Accumulated 
amortisation

Exchange
differences

Net book 
amount

Goodwill 87,830 – (6,415) 81,415

Customer relations* 113,896 (18,314) (6,423) 89,159

Core deposits 155,547 (34,028) (20,772) 100,747

Other 15,676 (12,407) – 3,269

372,949 (64,749) (33,610) 274,590

 Amortisation charge (including for associates) for the year ended 31 December 2011 amounted to $23.5 million (31 December 2010: $22.2 million).

 The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to cash-generating units as follows:

 31 december 
2011

 31 December 
2010

Business units of ex-Shamil Bank of Bahrain B.S.C. (C) 66,070 66,070

Faysal Bank Limited 14,621 15,345

80,691 81,415

 *Customer relations include $30 million arising from acquisition of a business (refer note 41).
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 15.  due to Banks, FinanCial and otheR institutions

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

Due to Banks 1,152,541 – 1,152,541 1,253,473 – 1,253,473

Due to financial and other institutions 464,780 – 464,780 460,552 – 460,552

1,617,321 – 1,617,321 1,714,025 – 1,714,025

 Due to banks, financial and other institutions include deposits totalling $885.5 million (2010: $878.1 million) from three counterparties having contractual 

maturity ranging from one month to 3 years. Out of these, deposits totalling $649.8 million (2010: $649.2 million) are from two counterparties which are 

subject to freeze and originating from jurisdiction under US and UN sanctions.

 Due to banks include short and medium term borrowings by the Group under bilateral and multilateral arrangement with maturities ranging from one year 

to five years.

 At 31 December 2011, there were collateralized borrowings in aggregate $177.6 million (31 December 2010: $188.8 million). 

 Cash dividends amounting to $13.8 million (2010: $3.8 million) on certain shares pledged as collateral was directly received by the lender during the year 

and adjusted against the outstanding facility amount as per the agreed terms.

 Assets which are pledged as collateral are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending and securities borrowing and  

lending activities.

 16.  due to investoRs

 Relating to owners

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Due to corporate institutions 1,028,050 1,021,204

Due to individuals 833,143 892,572

Due to financial institutions 69,252 57,019

1,930,445 1,970,795

 Due to investors represents conventional deposits accepted by a subsidiary of the Bank.

 Due to investors includes floating rate unsecured term finance certificates issued by a subsidiary.
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 17.  otheR liaBilities

 31 december 2011  31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

 Relating to
 unrestricted 

investment 
accounts total

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

Accounts payable 184,956 38,725 223,681 195,810 20,210 216,020

Derivative financial instruments liabilities 38,887 – 38,887 44,698 – 44,698

Due to related parties 5,187 – 5,187 16,293 – 16,293

Provision for taxation - current 787 – 787 6,590 – 6,590

Provision for taxation - deferred 4,892 – 4,892 4,915 – 4,915

234,709 38,725 273,434 268,306 20,210 288,516

 18.  equity oF unRestRiCted investment aCCount holdeRs

 The funds received from unrestricted investment account holders are invested on their behalf without recourse to the Group as follows:

Notes
31 december

2011
31 December

2010 

Commodity placement with banks, financial and other institutions 4 25,003 25,001

Murabaha and other financings 5 767,925 579,784

Mudaraba 6 22,509 23,382

Investment securities 8 83,825 90,035

Restricted investment accounts 9 79,058 83,291

Assets acquired for leasing 10 11,853 11,752

Investment in associates 9,240 9,240

Other assets 12 11,124 22,312

Due from the Bank 504,821 371,376

1,515,358 1,216,173

Other liabilities 17 (38,725) (20,210)

Equity of unrestricted investment account holders 1,476,633 1,195,963

 Equity of unrestricted investment account holders at 31 December 2011 includes an amount of $3.9 million (31 December 2010: $3.5 million) representing 

negative investments fair value reserve in respect of investments carried at fair value through equity.
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 18.  equity oF unRestRiCted investment aCCount holdeRs (continued)

 The movement in investments fair value reserve is as follows:

31 december
2011

31 December
2010

At 1 January (3,548) (6,543)

Net movement during the year (351) 2,995

At 31 December (3,899) (3,548)

 The average gross rate of return in respect of unrestricted investment accounts was 7.02% for 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: 6.25%) of which 

5.15% (2010: 3.7%) was distributed to the investors and the balance was either set aside as provisions and/or retained by the Bank as share of profits in 

its capacity as a Mudarib.

 Other liabilities include profit equalization reserve and the movement is as follows:

31 december
2011

31 December
2010

At 1 January 8,155 3,099

Net addition during the year 10,454 6,012

Net utilization during the year – (956)

At 31 December 18,609 8,155

 The Bank earned a management fee up to 1% of the total invested amount per annum to cover its administration and other expenses related to the 

management of such funds.

 19.  minoRity inteRest

 The consolidated financial statements include 100% of the assets, liabilities and earnings of subsidiaries. The ownership interests of the other 

shareholders in the subsidiaries are called minority interests.

 The following table summarises the minority shareholders’ interests in the equity of consolidated subsidiaries.

31 december 2011  31 December 2010

 minority % Minority %

Faysal Bank Limited 33 86,323 34 92,195

Health Island B.S.C. (C) 50 111,866 50 111,342

Cityview Real Estate Development B.S.C. (C) 49 1,663 49 1,574

Marina Reef Real Estate Development B.S.C. (C) 49 5,238 49 4,862

Sakana Holistic Housing Solutions B.S.C. (C) 50 27,251 50 27,114

Others 5 341 5 341

232,682 237,428

 Minority interest in the consolidated income statement of $1 million (2010: $10.4 million) represents the minority shareholders’ share of the earnings of 

these subsidiaries for the respective years.
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 20.  shaRe Capital

Number
of shares

(thousands) Share capital

Authorised 8,000,000 2,000,000

issued and fully paid

At 1 January 2010 2,275,329 568,832

Rights issue 412,100 103,025

Treasury shares purchased (11,842) (2,961)

Treasury shares sold 9,432 2,358

at 31 december 2010 2,685,019 671,254

Treasury shares purchased (1,564) (391)

at 31 december 2011 2,683,455 670,863

 The Bank’s total issued and fully paid share capital at 31 December 2011 comprises 2,804,050,267 shares at $0.25 per share amounting to $701 million.

 The Bank owned 120,594,984 of its own shares at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: 119,031,285). The shares are held as treasury shares and 

the Bank has the right to reissue these shares at a later date. Treasury shares purchased during the year represent shares acquired from unrestricted 

investment accounts.

 During March 2010, the Bank closed its rights issue offering which resulted in additional capital of $103 million representing 412.1 million shares at $0.25 per share.

 21.  eaRnings peR shaRe (BasiC & diluted)

 Earnings per share (Basic & Diluted) are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of issued and 

fully paid up ordinary shares during the year.

31 december
2011

31 December 
2010

Net loss attributable to shareholders ($’000) (62,886) (150,409)

Weighted average number of issued and fully paid up ordinary shares (’000) 2,718,757 2,555,507

earnings per share (Basic & diluted) – us Cents (2.31) (5.89)

 Earnings per share on non-sharia compliant income and expenses are included under note 40.

 22.  inCome FRom RestRiCted investment aCCounts

 Income from restricted investment accounts comprises profit participation as a Mudarib and investment management fees net of contribution made to 

certain restricted funds.
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 23.  inCome FRom muRaBaha and otheR FinanCings

Relating to owners

31 december 
2011

31 December 
2010

Income from Murabaha financing 21,054 22,483

Income from Other financings 238,102 161,518

259,156 184,001

 24.  inCome FRom investments

Relating to owners

31 december 
2011

31 December 
2010

Share of profit after tax from associates (note 7) 17,816 27,583

Income from investments 120,186 103,955

Income from related party transactions (note 37) – 28,040

138,002 159,578

 25.  otheR inCome 

Relating to owners

31 december
2011

31 December 
2010

Income from banking services 18,264 18,198

Fees and commission on letters of credit and guarantee 6,984 4,459

Other fee income 25,155 18,145

Foreign exchange income/(loss) (9,925) 4,043

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 3,179 1,186

Others 4,492 302

48,149 46,333

 26.  administRative and geneRal expenses

Relating to owners

31 december
2011

31 December
2010

Salaries and other benefits 90,671 71,378

Office expenses 50,737 34,933

Professional fees 7,373 8,342

Other administrative expenses 19,626 15,154

168,407 129,807
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 27.  soCial ResponsiBility

 The group discharges its social responsibilities through donations to charitable causes and organisations. 

 28.  pRovisions

The movement in provisions is as follows:

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Relating to
owners

 Relating to
unrestricted
investment

accounts total
Relating to

owners

 Relating to
unrestricted
investment

accounts Total

At 1 January 521,786 69,766 591,552 225,983 64,428 290,411

Charge for the year 90,893 1,457 92,350 238,809 7,024 245,833

Write back during the year (69,057) – (69,057) (29,423) – (29,423)

Utilised during the year (29,984) – (29,984) – (1,686) (1,686)

Acquisition of business (note 41) – – – 100,117 – 100,117

Reclassification 2,368 (2,368) – – – –

Exchange differences (10,193) – (10,193) (13,700) – (13,700)

At 31 December 505,813 68,855 574,668 521,786 69,766 591,552

 The allocation of the provision to the respective assets is as follows: 

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Relating to
owners

 Relating to
unrestricted
investment

accounts total
Relating to

owners

 Relating to
unrestricted
investment

accounts Total

Commodity placements with banks, financial 
   and other institutions 6,525 – 6,525 6,525 – 6,525

Murabaha and other financings 231,693 31,177 262,870 250,051 30,259 280,310

Mudaraba – 14,789 14,789 – 14,789 14,789

Investment in associates 55,677 – 55,677 55,677 – 55,677

Investments securities 108,197 940 109,137 106,124 3,308 109,432

Restricted investment accounts 20,646 – 20,646 20,646 – 20,646

Fixed assets 5,955 – 5,955 – – –

Investment in real estate 28,548 – 28,548 23,548 – 23,548

Other assets 48,572 21,949 70,521 59,215 21,410 80,625

505,813 68,855 574,668 521,786 69,766 591,552

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2011
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 28.  pRovisions (continued)

 Total provisions of $574.7 million (2010: $591.6 million) include $29.8 million (2010: $31 million) held as general provisions. The movement in general 

provision is as follows:

Relating to owners

31 december
2011

31 December 
2010

At 1 January 31,046 –

Charge for the year 16,349 31,046

Write back during the year (15,132) –

Utilised during the year (2,465) –

At 31 December 29,798 31,046

 29.  oveRseas taxation 

Relating to owners

31 december
2011

31 December 
2010

Current taxes (7,395) (7,507)

Deferred taxes 5,293 13,848

(2,102) 6,341

 The Group is subject to income taxes in some jurisdictions. Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some 

transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from  

the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination  

is made. 

 CuRRent tax ReCeivaBle/(payaBle)

31 december 
2011

 31 December
2010

At 1 January 6,523 (8,112)

Charge for the year (7,395) (7,507)

Payments made 13,643 28,343

Exchange differences and other movements (596) (6,201)

At 31 December 12,175 6,523

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2011
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 29.  oveRseas taxation (continued)

 deFeRRed tax asset/(liaBility)

 31 december
2011

 31 December
2010

At 1 January 48,098 5,665

Charge for the year 5,293 13,848

Changes due to fair value reserve 4,199 1,437

Acquisition of a business (note 41) – 33,557

Exchange differences and other movements (2,544) (4,097)

Adjustments resulting from adoption of FAS 25 – (2,312)

At 31 December 55,046 48,098

 30.  segmental inFoRmation

 The Group constitutes of three main business segments, namely; 

 (i) funds under management, under which the Group is managing clients’ funds as a mudarib on trustees’ basis 

 (ii) retail and corporate banking, in which the Group is extending financing to its clients, and

 (iii) asset management/investment banking, in which the Group is directly participating in investment opportunities.

 (iv) others

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Fund
management

Retail &
corporate

banking

asset
management/
investment

banking others total
Fund

Management

Retail &
corporate

banking

Asset
Management/

Investment
banking Others Total

Income 2,908 203,388 (35,106) 3,687 174,877 5,151 190,527 34,835 (4,906) 225,607

Expenses and provisions – (212,258) (19,258) (3,165) (234,681) – (254,168) (105,602) (12,186) (371,956)

Income/(loss) before 
   overseas taxation 2,908 (8,870) (54,364) 522 (59,804) 5,151 (63,641) (70,767) (17,092) (146,349)

Overseas taxation – (1,936) (74) (92) (2,102) – 6,710 (335) (34) 6,341 

Net loss for the year (61,906) (140,008)

attributable to:

Equity holders of  
   the Bank 2,908 (10,658) (54,962) (174) (62,886) 5,151 (68,714) (71,814)  (15,032) (150,409)

Minority interests – (148) 524 604 980 – 11,783 712 (2,094) 10,401

(61,906) (140,008)

Total assets 1,515,356 4,371,981 941,753 70,330 6,899,420 1,216,173 4,157,405 1,275,771 98,118 6,747,467

Total liabilities and
   equity of unrestricted
   investment account 
   holders 1,476,633 4,539,025 58,935 15,317 6,089,910 1,195,963 4,405,969 215,397 36,132 5,853,461

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 30.  segmental inFoRmation (continued)

 The Group constitutes of four geographical segments which are Europe, North America, Middle East & Africa, Asia and others

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

europe
north

america

middle 
east

& africa asia others total Europe
North

America

Middle 
East

& Africa Asia Others Total

Income 19,883 13,511 (7,537) 145,688 3,332 174,877 4,090 11,030 54,237 170,452 (14,202) 225,607

Expenses and  
   provisions (35,957) (3,592) (65,151) (129,217) (764) (234,681) (29,418) (4,889) (188,139) (139,595) (9,915) (371,956)

Income/(loss) before  
   overseas taxation (16,074) 9,919 (72,688) 16,471 2,568 (59,804) (25,328) 6,141 (133,902) 30,857 (24,117) (146,349)

Overseas taxation (875) – – (1,227) – (2,102) (1,021) – – 7,582 (220) 6,341

Net loss for the year (61,906) (140,008)

attributable to:

Equity holders of 
    the Bank (16,949) 9,919 (73,815) 15,391 2,568 (62,886) (26,349) 6,141 (132,521) 23,381 (21,061) (150,409)

Minority interests – – 1,127 (147) – 980 – – (1,381) 15,058 (3,276) 10,401 

(61,906) (140,008)

Total assets 369,771 93,957 2,782,867 3,391,846 260,979 6,899,420 368,401 105,862 2,718,758 3,263,844 290,602 6,747,467

Total liabilities  
   and equity of  
   unrestricted  
  investment account  
  holders 311,348 24,071 2,672,428 3,041,231 40,832 6,089,910 329,594 27,874 2,522,140 2,922,734 51,119 5,853,461 

 31.  Zakah

 Zakah is directly borne by the owners and investors in restricted and equity of unrestricted investment account holders. The Bank does not collect or pay 

Zakah on behalf of its owners and its investment account holders. 
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 32.  Contingent liaBilities and Commitments 

 Contingent liaBilities

31 december
2011

31 December
2010

Acceptances and endorsements 119,153 47,356

Guarantees and irrevocable letters of credit 731,625 804,084

Customer claims 413,939 103,034

1,264,717 954,474

Commitments

31 december
2011

31 December
2010

Undrawn facilities, financing lines and other commitments to finance 1,852,768 1,385,017

 33.  CuRRenCy Risk

 Assuming that all other variables held constant, the impact of currency risk on the consolidated income statement/equity based on reasonable shift is  

summarized below:

usd/pkR usd/euR usd/Bhd usd/pln

as at 31 december 2011

Total currency exposure 987,172 85,920 86,991 54,918

Reasonable shift 11.98% 3.02% 0.05% 4.95%

total effect on income/equity 118,263 2,595 43 2,718

as at 31 december 2010

Total currency exposure 780,766 51,272 31,410 57,215

Reasonable shift 0.06% 0.27% 0.01% 13.96%

total effect on income/equity 468 138 3 7,987

 The basis for calculation of the reasonable shift is arrived at by comparing the foreign exchange spot rate at 31 December as compared to the one year 

forward rate for the same period.

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 33.  CuRRenCy Risk (continued)

 The currency exposure of the assets and liabilities, of the Group, including equity of unrestricted investment account holders, is as follows:

United States
Dollar

Pakistan 
Rupee

Swiss 
Franc

Bahrain 
Dinar Euro

UAE 
Dirham

Hong Kong 
Dollar Other Total

31 deCemBeR 2011

Cash, balances with banks 
   and central bank 94,048 144,476 7,923 106,924 15,561 – 38 9,731 378,701

Commodity placements with 
   banks, financial and other 
   institutions 184,360 26,673 – 25,199 256,026 11,955 – – 504,213

Murabaha and other financings 418,036 1,619,975 – 617,512 58,180 – – 19,321 2,733,024

Musharaka financing – 42,518 – – – – – – 42,518

Investments:

  Mudaraba 23,493 – – – – – – – 23,493

  Investment in associates – 923 – 579,665 – – 65,496 4,072 650,156

  Investment securities 167,316 1,044,879 558 3,860 7,202 – – 571 1,224,386

  Restricted investment accounts 188,433 – – – 10,684 – – – 199,117

  Assets acquired for leasing 47,569 – – 11,852 – – – – 59,421

  Investment in real estate 47,551 8,415 49,745 229,569 54,809 85 – – 390,174

Other assets 26,235 170,716 4,588 9,585 54,926 3 – 37,897 303,950

Fixed assets 4,047 62,373 613 65,375 – – – – 132,408

Intangible assets 227,969 29,459 431 – – – – – 257,859

total assets 1,429,057 3,150,407 63,858 1,649,541 457,388 12,043 65,534 71,592 6,899,420

Customer current accounts 78,386 491,836 14,360 132,258 65,046 – – 10,191 792,077

Due to banks, financial and  
   other institutions 63,032 443,588 292 424,802 365,928 319,337 – 342 1,617,321

Due to investors 121,219 1,763,839 – 9,979 14,641 – – 20,767 1,930,445

Other liabilities 131,306 14,434 12,734 105,226 9,734 – – – 273,434

total liabilities 393,943 2,713,697 27,386 672,265 455,349 319,337 – 31,300 4,613,277

Equity of unrestricted  
   investment account holders 434,005 – – 1,033,996 8,632 – – – 1,476,633

 total liabilities and equity of 
   unrestricted investment 
   account holders 827,948 2,713,697 27,386 1,706,261 463,981 319,337 – 31,300 6,089,910

Contingent liabilities and 
   commitments 908,436 1,534,229 44,443 455,221 122,514 592 – 52,050 3,117,485

31 deCemBeR 2010

total assets 1,611,587 2,955,800 60,359 1,542,509 400,429 14,032 66,682 96,069 6,747,467

total liabilities and equity of 
   unrestricted investment 
   account holders 872,674 2,649,085 11,982 1,496,050 469,005 315,979 – 38,686 5,853,461

Contingent liabilities and  
   commitments 541,484 1,079,893 41,728 463,549 169,371 – – 43,466 2,339,491

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 34.  matuRity pRoFile

 The maturity profile of the assets and liabilities of the Group, including equity of unrestricted investment account holders, is as follows:

Up to 1 
month

 1 to 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years Total

31 december 2011

Cash, balances with banks and central bank 378,701 – – – – 378,701

Commodity placements with banks, financial and  
   other institutions 414,016 – 90,197 – – 504,213

Murabaha and other financings 343,547 595,297 616,929 754,491 422,760 2,733,024

Musharaka financing – – – 20,612 21,906 42,518

Investments:

   Mudaraba 5,785 – – 17,708 – 23,493

   Investment in associates – – – – 650,156 650,156

   Investment securities 73,081 13,883 796,851 246,913 93,658 1,224,386

   Restricted investment accounts – – – – 199,117 199,117

   Assets acquired for leasing 1,010 9 227 50,129 8,046 59,421

   Investment in real estate – – – 262,694 127,480 390,174

Other assets 123,199 4,516 62,507 58,787 54,941 303,950

Fixed assets – – – 64,608 67,800 132,408

Intangible assets – – – 431 257,428 257,859

total assets 1,339,339 613,705 1,566,711 1,476,373 1,903,292 6,899,420

Customer current accounts 792,077 – – – – 792,077

Due to banks, financial and other institutions 991,919 140,904 380,332 59,614 44,552 1,617,321

Due to investors 844,690 211,225 558,690 237,596 78,244 1,930,445

Other liabilities 216,618 93 49,077 854 6,792 273,434

total liabilities 2,845,304 352,222 988,099 298,064 129,588 4,613,277

Equity of unrestricted investment account holders 543,025 248,115 540,079 145,216 198 1,476,633

total liabilities and equity of unrestricted  
   investment account holders 3,388,329 600,337 1,528,178 443,280 129,786 6,089,910

Contingent liabilities and commitments 531,822 202,595 1,144,334 1,175,751 62,983 3,117,485

31 december 2010

total assets 1,824,920 699,476 900,066 1,440,925 1,882,080 6,747,467

total liabilities and equity of unrestricted  
   investment account holders 3,485,584 543,422 1,368,997 396,131 59,327 5,853,461

Contingent liabilities and commitments 1,294,032 201,483 633,380 68,268 142,328 2,339,491

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 35.  ConCentRation oF assets, liaBilities and letteRs oF CRedit and guaRantee

 Assets and liabilities of the Group, including equity of unrestricted investment account holders, and letters of credit and guarantee are distributed over the 

following industry sectors and geographical regions:

Banks and 
Financial 

Institutions
Trading and 

Manufacturing
Property and 
Construction Services

Private 
individuals Textile Other Total

31 december 2011

Cash, balances with banks and central bank 285,951 – – 92,747 – – 3 378,701

Commodity placements with banks,  
   financial and other institutions 504,213 – – – – – – 504,213

Murabaha and other financings 351,860 1,040,494 88,652 353,607 425,795 – 472,616 2,733,024

Musharaka financing – 4,559 – – – 8,464 29,495 42,518

Investments: 

   Mudaraba 984 58 19,062 128 – – 3,261 23,493

   Investment in associates 476,735 13,676 89,698 70,047 – – – 650,156

   Investment securities 1,023,174 28,104 84,681 48,468 – 914 39,045 1,224,386

   Restricted investment accounts 152,703 – 46,414 – – – – 199,117

   Assets acquired for leasing – 5,576 47,569 – 6,188 – 88 59,421

   Investment in real estate 8,415 – 381,759 – – – – 390,174

Other assets 164,265 2,056 65,672 13,324 43,533 5,997 9,103 303,950

Fixed assets 64,599 – 67,809 – – – – 132,408

Intangible assets 257,859 – – – – 257,859

total assets 3,290,758 1,094,523 891,316 578,321 475,516 15,375 553,611 6,899,420

Customer current accounts 48,443 186,293 26,358 156,981 261,841 3,655 108,506 792,077

Due to banks, financial and other 
institutions 1,617,321 – – – – – – 1,617,321

Due to investors 135,152 246,969 23,287 320,492 833,549 118,286 252,710 1,930,445

Other liabilities 53,474 12,322 54,443 17,051 81,758 – 54,386 273,434

total liabilities 1,854,390 445,584 104,088 494,524 1,177,148 121,941 415,602 4,613,277

Equity of unrestricted investment  
   account holders 58,261 455,660 77,212 235,759 566,509 – 83,232 1,476,633

total liabilities and equity of  
   unrestricted investment  
   account holders 1,912,651 901,244 181,300 730,283 1,743,657 121,941 498,834 6,089,910

Contingent liabilities and commitments 1,197,913 1,364,270 45,265 154,190 42,241 28,525 285,081 3,117,485

31 december 2010

total assets 2,996,844 626,015 1,119,027 514,474 485,285 339,596 666,226 6,747,467

total liabilities and equity of  
   unrestricted investment  
   account holders 1,742,068 757,461 402,344 483,226 1,926,320 34,063 507,979 5,853,461

Contingent liabilities and commitments 768,337 871,633 96,146 258,581 97,433 126,675 120,686 2,339,491

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 35.  ConCentRation oF assets, liaBilities and letteRs oF CRedit and guaRantee (continued)

Asia/
Pacific

Middle 
East Europe

North 
America Others Total

31 december 2011

assets

Cash, balances with banks and central bank 229,785 116,009 25,353 7,554 – 378,701

Commodity placements with banks, financial and  
   other institutions 26,673 346,409 131,131 – – 504,213

Murabaha and other financings 1,701,853 759,530 213,560 12 58,069 2,733,024

Musharaka financing 42,518 – – – – 42,518

Investments:  

  Mudaraba – 99 854 22,540 – 23,493

  Investment in associates 67,078 571,414 – – 11,664 650,156

  Investment securities 1,072,103 105,932 8,332 38,019 – 1,224,386

  Restricted investment accounts – 160,203 38,914 – – 199,117

  Assets acquired for leasing – 59,293 – 128 – 59,421

  Investment in real estate 8,415 277,204 104,555 – – 390,174

Other assets 151,589 93,452 33,196 25,704 9 303,950

Fixed assets 62,373 69,412 623 – – 132,408

Intangible assets 29,459 223,910 4,490 – – 257,859

total assets 3,391,846 2,782,867 561,008 93,957 69,742 6,899,420

Customer current accounts 549,270 163,832 59,762 8,335 10,878 792,077

Due to banks, financial and other institutions 444,662 921,198 229,373 9,538 12,550 1,617,321

Due to investors 1,920,460 9,985 – – – 1,930,445

Other liabilities 126,488 120,258 14,212 3,845 8,631 273,434

total liabilities 3,040,880 1,215,273 303,347 21,718 32,059 4,613,277

Equity of unrestricted investment account holders 351 1,457,155 8,001 2,353 8,773 1,476,633

total liabilities and equity of unrestricted  
   investment account holders 3,041,231 2,672,428 311,348 24,071 40,832 6,089,910

Contingent liabilities and commitments 2,572,332 470,903 40,484 7,186 26,580 3,117,485

31 december 2010

total assets 3,263,844 2,718,758 559,734 105,862 99,269 6,747,467

total liabilities and equity of unrestricted  
   investment account holders 2,922,734 2,522,140 329,594 27,874 51,119 5,853,461

Contingent liabilities and commitments 1,621,288 552,232 89,496 35,773 40,702 2,339,491

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 36.  Risk management 

 CRedit Risk 

 The significant concentration of credit risk at 31 December is set out in note 35.

 Non performing financing exposures are conservatively considered as financing exposures which have been past due beyond 90 days and the profit on 

these assets is not recognized in the consolidated income statement. Following are the details of non performing financing exposures relating to the Bank 

and its unrestricted investment account holders:

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts total
Relating to 

owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

gross exposure

Past due but performing financing exposures 355,641 46,913 402,554 176,001 35,774 211,775

Non performing financing exposures 390,385 173,086 563,471 383,884 166,881 550,765

746,026 219,999 966,025 559,885 202,655 762,540

Fair value of collateral 

Past due but performing financing exposures 571,578 23,902 595,480 251,093 39,096 290,189

Non performing financing exposures 658,935 237,076 896,011 579,839 210,763 790,602

1,230,513 260,978 1,491,491 830,932 249,859 1,080,791

 Included in the performing financing exposures of the Group are facilities which have been restructured during the year and hence are considered 

performing which are as follows:

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts total
Relating to 

owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts Total

Restructured financings 42,151 69,938 112,089 29,845 4,405 34,250

 Non performing financing exposures relating to restricted investment accounts aggregate $53.8 million (2010: $53.8).
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 36.  Risk management (continued)

 pRoFit Rate Risk

 The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to profit rate risk. It includes the Group’s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the 

earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.

Up to one
month

One–three
months

Three–twelve
months

One–five
years

Over
five years

Non rate
sensitive Total

31 december 2011

Cash, balances with banks and central bank 141,638 – – – – 237,063 378,701

Commodity placements with banks, financial and  
   other institutions 419,019 – 85,194 – – – 504,213

Murabaha and other financings 364,577 461,083 699,349 721,026 486,989 – 2,733,024

Musharaka financing – – – 20,612 21,906 – 42,518

Investments:

  Investment securities 58,004 22,899 608,411 162,615 108,798 263,659 1,224,386

  Assets acquired for leasing 46,038 9 227 2,560 10,587 – 59,421

Other assets 116,488 452 23,872 9,347 – 153,791 303,950

total financial assets 1,145,764 484,443 1,417,053 916,160 628,280 654,513 5,246,213

Customer current accounts – – – – – 792,077 792,077

Due to banks, financial and other institutions 970,886 153,863 421,628 69,648 42 1,254 1,617,321

Due to investors 1,021,031 173,612 656,595 73,106 187 5,914 1,930,445

Other liabilities 663 5,930 2,246 1,685 841 262,069 273,434

total financial liabilities 1,992,580 333,405 1,080,469 144,439 1,070 1,061,314 4,613,277

Equity of unrestricted investment account holders 554,919 240,431 535,897 145,187 199 – 1,476,633

total financial liabilities and equity of  
   unrestricted investment account holders 2,547,499 573,836 1,616,366 289,626 1,269 1,061,314 6,089,910

total repricing gap (1,401,735) (89,393) (199,313) 626,534 627,011 (406,801) (843,697)

31 december 2010

total financial assets 1,338,432 715,193 992,995 965,118 157,004 872,984 5,041,726

total financial liabilities and equity of  
   unrestricted investment account holders 2,475,946 522,794 1,699,925 172,421 425 981,950 5,853,461

total repricing gap (1,137,514) 192,399 (706,930) 792,697 156,579 (108,966) (811,735)
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 36.  Risk management (continued)

usd euR pkR gBp Bhd aed pln

as at 31 december 2011

Total profit rate exposure 307,778 393,961 1,011,344 28,380 50,473 319,337 54,918

Reasonable shift 0.08% 0.22% 0.15% 0.20% 0.24% 0.08% 0.40%

total effect on income 246 867 1,517 57 121 255 220

as at 31 december 2010

Total profit rate exposure 207,988 407,221 971,016 30,539 115,590 315,977 57,215

Reasonable shift 0.13% 0.41% 0.05% 0.06% 0.04% 0.20% 0.19%

total effect on income 270 1,670 486 18 46 632 109

 The basis for calculation of the reasonable shift is arrived at by comparing the interbank lending rate at the beginning and the end of the year.

 pRiCe Risk

 The table below summarises the impact of increase/decrease of equity indices on the Group’s post tax profit for the year and on other components of 

equity. The analysis is based on the assumptions that equity indices increased/decreased by 10% (2010: 10%) with all other variables held constant and 

all the Group’s equity instruments moved according to the historical correlation with the indices. 

 Impact on other 
 components of equity

2011 2010

Index

Pakistan stock exchange (+/-10%) 7,769 8,154

 37.  Related paRty tRansaCtions and BalanCes

 Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or to exercise significant influence or joint control over the other 

party in making financial and operating decisions. 

 Related parties include:

(a) Directors and major shareholders of the Bank and companies in which they have an ownership interest,

(b) Corporate, whose ownership and management is common with the bank.

(c) DMIT and companies in which DMIT has ownership interest 

(d) Associated companies of the Bank

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 37.  Related paRty tRansaCtions and BalanCes (continued)

 A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services, or obligations between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.

 Significant balances with related parties comprise:

31 december 2011 31 December 2010

Relating to 
owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts
Relating to 

owners

Relating to 
unrestricted 
investment 

accounts

assets

Commodity placements with banks, financial and other institutions - note (i) 156,846 25,003 156,520 25,001

Murabaha and other financings 205,037 12,809 205,134 12,710

Investment securities – 16,983 – 17,993

Other assets - note (i) & (ii) 58,321 – 63,901 –

liabilities

Customers’ current accounts 175 – 777 –

Due to banks, financial and other institutions 245,537 – 228,937 –

Unrestricted investment account – 87,757 – 103,788

Other liabilities 5,187 – 16,293 –

Funds managed by related parties 19,831 – – 19,831

 At 31 December 2011 restricted investment accounts funds invested with related parties amounted to nil (31 December 2010: $57.5 million).

 The Group entered into the following significant transactions with related parties during the year:

31 december  
2011

31 December  
2010

Income from financings and short-term liquid funds 3,532 3,912

Dividends received 15,915 15,766

Fee expense – 4,308

Expense recovery 11,772 12,315

Profit paid 134 77

Income from sale of financings and investments - note (iii) – 29,423

Profit from sale of investment - note (iv) – 24,128

 Note (i) - The Group has obtained pledge of specific assets totalling $149.7 million (31 December 2010: $177.8 million) against the outstanding exposure.

 Note (ii) - During the quarter ended 30 September 2010, the Group sold its investment in certain subsidiaries (investment holding companies) to a related party 

for a consideration of $4.9 million. No gain or loss was realised on this transaction.

 Note (iii) - During the quarter ended 30 September 2010, the Group recorded a profit of $29.4 million through the sale of investment in real estate, financings 

and receivables carried at book value of $12.9 million to a related party for a consideration of $42.3 million. The consideration was settled in-kind by transfer 

of investments in associate and restricted investment accounts with a book value of $42.3 million and the profit on sale reflect the write back of previous 

impairment charges (note 28).

 Note (iv) - During the quarter ended 30 June 2010 the Group recorded a profit of $24.1 million through the sale of investment in associate carried at book value of 

$0.012 million to a related party for a consideration of $24.1 million. The consideration was settled in-kind by transfer of investment in real estate and investment 

securities with a book value of $24.1 million and the profit is included in the consolidated income statement under income from related party transactions.

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 38.  Capital management

 The Group’s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of balance sheets, are:

 -  To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets where the entities within the Group operate;

 -  To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other  

      stakeholders; and

 -  To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

 The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group for the years ended 31 December (computed under Basel II 

regulations as prescribed by the CBB):

31 december 
2011

31 December
2010

Tier 1 688,947 718,029

Tier 2 49,217 48,477

Total Capital Base 738,164 766,506

Total Risk-Weighted Exposures 5,730,979 5,805,934

Capital Adequacy Ratio 12.88% 13.20%

 39.  pRoposed dividend

 The Board of Directors has not proposed any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010: Nil).

 40.  non-shaRia Compliant inCome and expenses 

 The Group has earned certain income and incurred certain expenses from conventional assets and liabilities. These conventional assets and liabilities are 

covered by the Sharia Compliance Plan. The details of the total income and total expenses are as follows: 

Year ended

31 december 
2011

31 December 
2010

inCome

Group’s share of income from funds under management 2,078 950

Income from other financings 238,102 161,518

Income from investments 134,951 138,779

Other income 21,173 42,893

gross income 396,304 344,140

Less: profit paid to banks, financial and other institutions (net) - note (i) (228,584) (170,413)

total income 167,720 173,727

notes to the Consolidated Financial statements
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 40.  non-shaRia Compliant inCome and expenses (continued)

Year ended

31 december 
2011

31 December 
2010

expenses

Administrative and general expenses note (i) (128,015) (83,546)

Depreciation and amortisation (29,167) (13,613)

total expenses (157,182) (97,159)

Net income before provision for impairment and overseas taxation 10,538 76,568

Provision for impairment (net) (1,733) (109,772)

Net income/(loss) before overseas taxation 8,805 (33,204)

Overseas taxation (1,340) 7,246

net inCome/(loss) FoR the yeaR 7,465 (25,958)

attributable to:

Equity holders of the Bank 7,614 (39,623)

Minority interests (149) 13,665

7,465 (25,958)

Basic and diluted earnings per share us cts 0.28 US cts (1.55)

 Note (i) - Expenses relate to entities which are consolidated line by line and exclude associates.

 Note (ii) - One of the subsidiaries presently operating as a conventional bank has increased the number of its Islamic branches during the year to 45 

(2010: 13 branches) out of total 257 branches (2010: 225 branches).

 41.  aCquisition oF a Business

 One of the Group’s subsidiary, Faysal Bank Limited (FBL), acquired 99.37% of the Pakistan operations of Royal Bank of Scotland (RBS) on 15 October 2010.

 The acquisition has been dealt with in accordance with IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”. The initial accounting for a business combination involves 

identifying and determining the fair values to be assigned to the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities and the cost of the 

combination. At the time of acquisition of RBS, the management was in the process of carrying out a detailed exercise for the fair valuation of assets 

and liabilities, and due to the proximity of the acquisition to the year ended 31 December 2010, the fair value amounts reported at 31 December 

2010 included certain provisional balances. In such cases, IFRS 3 allows the acquirer to account for the acquisition using provisional values if the initial 

accounting for the acquisition can be determined only provisionally by the year end. However, adjustments to these provisional values consequent 

to completion of the initial accounting of the acquisition are required, under IFRS 3, to be incorporated in the consolidated financial statements with 

effect from the acquisition date, within a period of twelve months from the acquisition date. The fair values were finalised during 2011. Therefore, 

the consolidated financial statements for the comparative period have been restated to reflect the final values of the identified assets of RBS and the 

resultant adjustment to gain on acquisition.
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 41.  aCquisition oF a Business (continued)

 The fair value of the net assets acquired are as follows:

Amount

Fair value of net assets acquired

Fair value of net assets of RBS (excluding intangible assets) 78,463

Fair value of intangible assets of RBS - gross 30,033

Less: deferred tax on intangible assets (10,512)

Fair value of intangible assets of RBS - net 19,521

Fair value of total net assets acquired 97,984

Fair value of 99.37% share of net assets 97,367

less: purchase consideration

Cash consideration (Euro 41 million) for 99.37% share 58,619

gain on acquisition - net 38,748

 The remaining 0.63% non-controlling interest in RBS was acquired subsequently by FBL through issuance of ordinary shares at 31 December 2010 and the 

resultant gain of $0.281 million has been recognised in equity for the year ended 31 December 2010 in accordance with IFRS 3.

 42.  ReoRganisation

 On 14 April 2010 the CBB approved the reorganisation of the Bank and its wholly owned subsidiary Shamil Bank of Bahrain B.S.C. (C) (the “Shamil Bank”) 

into one entity under Ithmaar Bank B.S.C. with an Islamic retail banking license. As a result, Shamil Bank transferred its entire business, assets and 

liabilities to Ithmaar Bank B.S.C. effective 21 April 2010. Accordingly, the balances of owners’ equity and statement of changes in restricted investment 

accounts as at 1 January 2010 have been restated.

 43.  CompaRatives

 Prior year figures have been restated where necessary to conform to the current year presentation due to implementation of FAS 25: Investment in sukuk, 

shares and similar instruments and other restatements:

Previously
reported Adjustment Restated

31 december 2010

Investment securities 1,240,836 6,605 1,247,441

Other assets 287,271 (2,707) 284,564

Total assets 6,743,569 3,898 6,747,467

Minority interest 236,092 1,336 237,428

Reserves (17,238) 2,562 (14,676)

 Comparative figures for previous year have been regrouped where necessary to conform to the current year presentation.
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 1.  BackgrounD

 The Public Disclosure (PD) module of the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) rulebook was introduced with effect from January 2008. The disclosures in this 

report are in addition to the disclosures set out in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, presented in 

accordance with Financial Accounting Standards (FAS) issued by the Accounting and Auditing Organisation for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI). These 

disclosures are mainly related to compliance with the Basel II Pillar III Quantitative disclosure requirements and should be read in conjunction with the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements and annual report for the year ended 31 December 2011.

 2.  Basel II Framework

 CBB has issued Basel II guidelines for the implementation of Basel II capital adequacy framework for Banks incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain.

 The Basel II framework provides a risk based approach for calculation of regulatory capital. The Basel II framework is expected to strengthen the risk 

management practices across the financial institutions.

 The Basel II framework is based on three pillars as follows:

 Pillar I: Minimum capital requirements including calculation of the capital adequacy ratio

 Pillar II: Supervisory review process which includes the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process

 Pillar III: Market discipline which includes the disclosure of risk management and capital adequacy information

 3.  methoDology

 As per the requirements of CBB’s Basel II capital adequacy framework, the method for calculating the consolidated capital adequacy ratio for the Group is 

summarized as follows:

 Line by line consolidation is performed for the risk exposures and eligible capital of all the subsidiaries within the Group with the exception of Ithmaar’s 

banking subsidiaries incorporated outside Kingdom of Bahrain which are operating under Basel II compliant jurisdictions, where full aggregation is 

performed of the risk weighted exposures and eligible capital as required under Prudential Consolidation and Deduction module (PCD).

 Pro-rata aggregation of risk weighted exposures and eligible capital of Ithmaar’s significant investments (20% – 50%) in banking and other financial 

entities as required under PCD module.

 4.  approaches aDopteD For DetermInIng regulatory capItal requIrements

 The approach adopted for determining regulatory capital requirements under CBB’s Basel II guidelines is summarised as follows:

Credit Risk Standardised approach

Market Risk Standardised approach

Operational Risk Basic Indicator approach

 5.  group structure

 The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared and published on a full consolidation basis, with all subsidiaries being consolidated in 

accordance with AAOIFI. However, the CBB’s consolidated capital adequacy methodology accommodates both line-by-line and aggregation forms of 

consolidation.

 Line by line consolidation is performed for the risk exposures and eligible capital of all the subsidiaries within the Group except for the following:

Subsidiary Country of Incorporation Ownership Approach

Faysal Bank Limited Pakistan 66.6 percent Full Aggregation

at 31 December 2011
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 6.  consolIDateD capItal structure For capItal aDequacy purpose

a tIer 1 capItal

Issued and fully paid-up ordinary capital 670,863

reserves

General reserves 56,725

Statutory reserve 38,090

Share Premium 149,614

Others (19,464)

Accumulated losses (209,985)

Minority interest in the equity of subsidiaries 113,733

Aggregation 216,307

sub-total 1,015,883

regulatory deductions:

Goodwill (80,692)

Loss for the year (63,618)

total tier 1 capital before pcD deductions 871,573

B tIer 2 capItal

General Provision 25,407

Unrealized gains arising from fair valuations (45%) 2,629

Aggregation 49,217

total tier 2 capital before pcD deductions 77,253

c total avaIlaBle capItal (a+B) 948,826

D general DeDuctIons From tIer 1 & 2 unDer pcD moDule

Deduction of unconsolidated financial subsidiaries which are aggregated or deducted (99,635)

Deduction of unconsolidated financial associates which are aggregated or deducted (44,122)

Excess over maximum permitted large exposure limit (66,905)

total Deductible Items (210,662)

e total elIgIBle capItal (c-D) 738,164

 

at 31 December 2011
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 7.  DIsclosure oF the regulatory capItal requIrements For creDIt rIsk unDer stanDarDIzeD approach

 exposure FunDeD By selF FInance

Risk weighted
assets

Capital
requirement

Claims on Other Sovereign 53,698 6,444

Banks 151,225 18,147

Corporate Portfolio 402,768 48,332

Investments in Securities 852,173 102,261 

Holding of Real estate 1,177,470 141,296 

Regulatory Retail 4,651 558 

Residential Mortgage 36,323 4,359 

Past due financings 64,757 7,771 

Other assets 240,920 28,910 

Aggregation 1,737,435 208,492 

total 4,721,420 566,570 

 exposure FunDeD By unrestrIcteD Investment accounts (urIa)

Risk weighted
assets

Capital
requirement

Corporate Portfolio 68,134 8,176

Equity portfolio 31,345 3,761

Holding of Real estate 56,270 6,752

Regulatory Retail 100,901 12,108

Past due financings 22,003 2,641

total 278,653 33,438

at 31 December 2011
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 8.  gross creDIt exposures:

Gross credit
exposure

Average gross
credit exposure

credit risk exposure relating to on-balance sheet assets is as follows:

Cash, balances with banks and central banks 378,701 376,336

Commodity placements with banks, financial and other institutions 504,213 519,667

Murabaha and other financings 2,733,024 2,624,252

Musharaka financing 42,518 28,566

Investments 2,546,747 2,575,247

Other assets 303,950 294,256

Fixed assets 132,408 138,895

Intangible assets 257,859 266,225

total on-balance sheet credit exposure 6,899,420 6,823,444

credit risk exposure relating to off-balance sheet items is as follows:

Financial guarantees and irrevocable letters of credit 850,778 851,109

Financing commitments, Undrawn facilities and other credit related liabilities 2,266,707 1,877,379

total off-balance sheet credit exposure 3,117,485 2,728,488

total credit exposure 10,016,905 9,551,932

total credit exposure financed by urIa 1,515,358 1,365,766

total credit exposure financed by urIa (%) 15% 14%

 Average gross credit exposures have been calculated based on the average of balances outstanding during the year ended 31 December 2011.

 9.  geographIcal DIstrIButIon oF creDIt exposures:

Asia/Pacific Middle East Europe North America Others Total

on-balance sheet items

Cash, balances with banks and central banks 229,785 116,009 25,353 7,554 – 378,701

Commodity placements with banks, financial and other institutions 26,673 346,409 131,131 – – 504,213

Murabaha and other financings 1,701,853 759,530 213,560 12 58,069 2,733,024

Musharaka financing 42,518 – – – – 42,518

Investments 1,147,596 1,174,145 152,655 60,687 11,664 2,546,747

Other assets 151,589 93,452 33,196 25,704 9 303,950

Fixed assets 62,373 69,412 623 – – 132,408

Intangible assets 29,459 223,910 4,490 – – 257,859

total on-balance sheet items 3,391,846 2,782,867 561,008 93,957 69,742 6,899,420

off-balance sheet items 2,572,332 470,903 40,484 7,186 26,580 3,117,485

total credit exposure 5,964,178 3,253,770 601,492 101,143 96,322 10,016,905

 The Group uses the geographical location of the credit exposures as the basis to allocate to the respective geographical region as shown above.

at 31 December 2011
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 10.  InDustrIal DIstrIButIon oF creDIt exposures:

Banks and
 financial

 institutions
Trading and

manufacturing
Property and
 construction Services

Private
 Individuals Textile Others Total

on-balance sheet items

Cash, balances with banks  
   and central banks 285,951 – – 92,747 – – 3 378,701

Commodity placements with 
   banks, financial and other  
   institutions 504,213 – – – – – – 504,213

Murabaha and other financings 351,860 1,040,494 88,652 353,607 425,795 – 472,616 2,733,024

Musharaka financing – 4,559 – – – 8,464 29,495 42,518

Investments 1,662,011 47,414 669,183 118,643 6,188 914 42,394 2,546,747

Other assets 164,265 2,056 65,672 13,324 43,533 5,997 9,103 303,950

Fixed assets 64,599 – 67,809 – – – – 132,408

Intangible assets 257,859 – – – – 257,859

total on-balance sheet items 3,290,758 1,094,523 891,316 578,321 475,516 15,375 553,611 6,899,420

off-balance sheet items 1,197,913 1,364,270 45,265 154,190 42,241 28,525 285,081 3,117,485

total credit exposure 4,488,671 2,458,793 936,581 732,511 517,757 43,900 838,692 10,016,905

 11.  maturIty BreakDown oF creDIt exposures:

Up to 
1 Month

1-3 
Months

3-12 
Months

1-5 
Years

5-10 
Years

10-20 
Years

Over 20 
Years Total

on-balance sheet items

Cash, balances with banks  
   and central banks 378,701 – – – – – – 378,701

Commodity placements with 
   banks, financial and other  
   institutions 414,016 – 90,197 – – – – 504,213

Murabaha and other financings 343,547 595,297 616,929 754,491 373,249 49,511 – 2,733,024

Musharaka financing – – – 20,612 21,906 – – 42,518

Investments 79,876 13,892 797,078 577,444 808,375 1,646 268,436 2,546,747

Other assets 123,199 4,516 62,507 58,787 54,941 – – 303,950

Fixed assets – – – 64,608 67,800 – – 132,408

Intangible assets – – – 431 – 257,428 – 257,859

total on-balance sheet items 1,339,339 613,705 1,566,711 1,476,373 1,326,271 308,585 268,436 6,899,420

off-balance sheet items 531,822 202,595 1,144,334 1,175,751 50,765 12,218 – 3,117,485

total credit exposure 1,871,161 816,300 2,711,045 2,652,124 1,377,036 320,803 268,436 10,016,905

at 31 December 2011
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 12.  relateD-party Balances unDer creDIt exposure:

 A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. The related party balances included under credit 

exposure at 31 December 2011 were as follows:

Affiliated companies 461,448

Directors & key management 13,551

total 474,999

 concentratIon oF rIsk to InDIvIDual counterpartIes where the creDIt exposure Is In excess oF the 15% InDIvIDual oBlIgor lImIt:

Non-banks 161,487

total 161,487

 13.  past Due anD ImpaIreD FInancIngs anD relateD provIsIons For ImpaIrment:

Gross 
exposure

Impairment
 provisions

Net 
exposure

analysis by industry

Manufacturing 234,963 143,501 91,462

Agriculture 12,382 2,748 9,634

Construction 39,554 7,292 32,262

Finance 31,480 1,958 29,522

Trade 105,202 57,398 47,804

Personal 62,310 26,554 35,756

Real estate 45,668 24,979 20,689

Government 488 438 50

Technology and telecommunications 634 385 249

Transportation 4,321 2,549 1,772

Other sectors 26,469 12,988 13,481

total 563,471 280,790 282,681

ageing analysis

Over 3 months up to 1 year 87,769 7,050 80,719

Over 1 year up to 3 years 95,533 30,777 64,756

Over 3 years 380,169 242,963 137,206

total 563,471 280,790 282,681

at 31 December 2011
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 13.  past Due anD ImpaIreD FInancIngs anD relateD provIsIons For ImpaIrment (continued):

Relating to
 owners

Relating to
 unrestricted
 investment

 accounts Total

movement in impairment provisions

At 1 January 251,518 45,778 297,296

Charge for the year 36,273 1,457 37,730

Write back during the year (39,316) – (39,316)

Utilized during the year (4,916) – (4,916)

Exchange differences (10,004) – (10,004)

at 31 December 233,555 47,235 280,790

 14.  past Due anD ImpaIreD FInancIngs By geographIcal areas:

Gross 
exposure

Impairment
 provisions

Net 
exposure

analysis by geography

Asia/Pacific 331,915 207,644 124,271

Middle East 198,206 52,061 146,145

Europe 33,350 21,085 12,265

total 563,471 280,790 282,681

 15.  DetaIls oF creDIt FacIlItIes outstanDIng that have Been restructureD DurIng the year:

 Restructured financings during the year ended 31 December 2011 aggregated to $112.1 million. This restructuring had an impact of $10.1 million on 

present earnings during the year ended 31 December 2011. Further, this restructuring is expected to have positive impact of $2.7 million on the Group’s 

future earnings. Extension of maturity dates was the basic nature of concessions given to all the restructured facilities.

at 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Basel II pillar III quantitative Disclosures



I T HMAAR  B ANK  B . S . C .     Annua l  Repo r t  2 011 143

 16.  creDIt exposures whIch are covereD By elIgIBle FInancIal collateral:

Gross 
Exposure 

Eligible 
Financial

 Collateral

exposure funded by self Finance

Corporate portfolio 1,521,150 36,893

Banks 105,059 372

Retail 263,663 35,566

Public Sector Entities 90,273 19

Past due financings 169,161 18,002

total 2,149,306 90,852

exposure funded by unrestricted Investment accounts

Corporate portfolio 293,358 62,205

Past due financings 76,157 21,995

total 369,515 84,200

 17.  DIsclosure oF regulatory capItal requIrements For market rIsk unDer the stanDarDIzeD approach:

Risk weighted assets Capital requirement

31 December 
2011

Maximum 
Value

Minimum 
Value

31 December
 2011

Maximum 
Value

Minimum 
Value

Foreign exchange risk 152,097 152,097 69,894 18,252 18,252 8,387 

Aggregation 150,601 150,601 117,640 18,072 18,072 14,117 

total 302,698 302,698 187,534 36,324 36,324 22,504 

 18.  DIsclosure oF regulatory capItal requIrements For operatIonal rIsk unDer the BasIc InDIcator approach:

 For regulatory reporting, the capital requirement for operational risk is calculated based on basic indicator approach. According to this approach, the Bank’s 

average gross income over the preceding three financial years is multiplied by a fixed alpha coefficient. 

 The alpha coefficient has been set at 15% under CBB Basel II guidelines. The capital requirement for operational risk at 31 December 2011 aggregated to 

$51.4 million.

at 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Basel II pillar III quantitative Disclosures
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 19.  tIer one capItal ratIos anD total capItal ratIos:

Tier One 
Capital Ratio

Total 
Capital Ratio

Ithmaar consolidated 12.02% 12.88%

Significant Bank subsidiaries whose regulatory capital amounts to over 5% of group consolidated  
    regulatory capital whether on a stand-alone or sub-consolidated basis is as follows:

Faysal Bank Limited 8.29% 10.60%

 20.  equIty posItIon In BankIng Book:

 At 31 December 2011, the Group’s investment securities aggregated to $1,224.4 million. Out of the total investment securities, $105.9 million were listed 

investment securities and the remaining $1,118.5 million represented unlisted investment securities. 

 Cumulative realized losses from sale of investment securities during the year amounted to $8.1 million. Total unrealized losses recognized in the 

consolidated statement of changes in owners’ equity amounted to $8.9 million.

 At 31 December 2011, capital requirements using standardized approach aggregated to $43.9 million for listed investment securities and $59.8 million for 

unlisted investment securities before aggregation/pro-rata aggregation of investments in Banking and other financial entities.

 21.  gross Income From muDaraBa anD proFIt paID to Investment account holDers:

 31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Income from unrestricted investment accounts 67,926 61,546 48,835 50,033 54,500 71,893

Less: return to unrestricted investment accounts (65,018) (56,395) (44,796) (37,868) (44,781) (46,073)

Group’s share of income from unrestricted investment accounts as a Mudarib 2,908 5,151 4,039 12,165 9,719 25,820

 For the year ended 31 December 2011 the return to unrestricted investment account holders based on the average balance outstanding during the  

year stood at 5.2%. The Group’s share of income from unrestricted investment account (Mudarib) including management fee for the year ended  

31 December 2011 as a percentage of gross income from unrestricted investment accounts stood at 7%.

at 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Basel II pillar III quantitative Disclosures
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 22.  movement In proFIt equalIzatIon reserve anD provIsIons – urIa:

 31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

profit equalization reserve

As at 1 January 8,155 3,099 3,645 2,072 764 4,795

Net addition 10,454 6,012 – 1,573 1,308 –

Net utilization – (956) (546) – – (4,031)

as at 31 December 18,609 8,155 3,099 3,645 2,072 764

Amount appropriated as a percentage of gross profit 15% 10% – 3% 2% –

provisions

As at 1 January 69,766 64,428 46,563 38,334 37,906 27,310

Net addition 1,456 5,465 17,865 8,229 428 10,596

Net utilization – (127) – – – –

Reclassification (2,367) – – – – –

as at 31 December 68,855 69,766 64,428 46,563 38,334 37,906

 At 31 December 2011, the ratio of profit equalization reserve and provisions to equity of unrestricted investment account holders stood at  

1% and 5% respectively.

 At 31 December 2011, the ratio of financings to URIA stood at 53%.

 23.  average DeclareD rate oF return on general muDaraBa DeposIts:

 31 December

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

 Percentage

7  Days 0.30 0.50 0.50 0.52 0.75 0.75

30 Days 2.31 3.00 3.17 3.26 4.25 4.02

90 Days 2.90 3.25 3.25 3.27 4.50 4.27

180 Days 3.25 3.50 3.50 3.51 4.70 4.52

360 Days 3.50 3.70 3.63 3.68 4.95 4.77

at 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Basel II pillar III quantitative Disclosures
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 24.  proFIt rate rIsk:

 Profit rate risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in the market profit rates. 

USD PKR EUR BHD HKD PLN

Total profit rate exposure 307,778 1,011,344 393,961 50,473 65,534 54,918

Rate shock (assumed) (+/-) 2% 2% 2% 2% 2% 2%

total estimated impact (+/-) 6,156 20,227 7,879 1,009 1,311 1,098

 25.  currency rIsk:

 Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Substantial portion of the Group’s 

assets and liabilities is denominated in US Dollars, Bahraini Dinars and Pakistan Rupee. Bahraini Dinars and Saudi Riyal are pegged to US Dollars and as 

such currency risk is minimal.

 The significant net foreign currency positions at 31 December 2011 were as follows:

Euro 8,897

UK Sterling 622

Kuwaiti Dinar 404

UAE Dirham (302,665)

Australian Dollar 4,733

Hong Kong Dollar 62,835

Saudi Riyal 8,118

Polish Zloty 58,900

Egyptian Pound 12,327

 26.  legal contIngencIes anD complIance:

 At 31 December 2011, the Group had contingent liabilities towards customer claims aggregating to $413.9 million. The management is of the view that 

these claims are not likely to result into potential liabilities.

at 31 December 2011

(Expressed in thousands of United States Dollars unless otherwise stated)

Basel II pillar III quantitative Disclosures
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Share Information

 shareholDIng structure

Range
No. of Shareholders No. of Shares % of Shares

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

1-10,000 118 119 625,630 610,022 0.02 0.02

10,001-100,000 2,273 2318 48,486,026 50,499,140 1.73 1.80

100,001-1,000,000 443 431 147,774,553 139,887,776 5.27 4.99

1,000,001-10,000,000 139 142 453,886,460 463,690,560 16.19 16.54

Over 10,000,000 32 31 2,153,277,598 2,149,362,769 76.79 76.65

Total 3,005 3,041 2,804,050,267 2,804,050,267 100.00 100.00

 shareholDIng By natIonalIty

Country
 31 December 2011  31 December 2010

no. of shareholders no. of shares % of shares No. of Shareholders No. of Shares % of Shares

Bahamas 3 1,384,545,224 49.38 3 1,384,545,224 49.38

Bahrain 951 255,673,218 9.12 974 259,462,710 9.25

Saudi Arabia 951 465,155,877 16.59 944 468,488,441 16.71

Other GCC Countries 680 461,171,845 16.45 682 455,847,831 16.26

Other Countries 420 237,504,103 8.47 438 235,706,061 8.41

Total 3,005 2,804,050,267 100.00 3,041 2,804,050,267 100.00

 no. oF shares owneD By the government

no. of shares

Ministry of Finance, Social Insurance Organisation (Pension) 27,456,000

Total 27,456,000

 

 maJor shareholDers oF Ithmaar Bank B.s.c.

Shareholder no. of shares %

1. Dar Al-Maal Al-Islami Trust 790,416,000 28.19

2. Islamic Investment Company of Gulf 594,129,224 21.19

Others 1,419,505,043 50.62

Total 2,804,050,267 100.00

 Major shareholders, as defined by Bahrain Bourse, are those who hold 5% or more of the issued share capital. Only the above two shareholders met this 
criterion on 31 December 2011.
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share Information

 InFormatIon on movement In numBer oF shares

Year Details Basis No. of Shares Issued Total No. of Shares

2006 IPO 360,000,000 360,000,000

2007 Share split 4 for 1 1,080,000,000 1,440,000,000

Bonus issue 1 for 5 288,000,000 1,728,000,000

Share swap 446,499,970 2,174,499,970

2009 Bonus issue 1 for 10 217,449,997 2,391,949,967

2010 Rights issue 412,100,300 2,804,050,267

 perFormance In the BahraIn Bourse

 stock code: Ithmr

 share prIce relatIve to InDIces - 2011

Benchmark
Open High Low Close

% Change 
in 2011

Ithmr’s share price (in us$) 0.125 0.125 0.065 0.065 (48.00)

Commercial Banks Sector Index 2,005.59 2,155.31 1,803.29 1,814.05 (9.55)

Bahrain All Share Index 1,432.26 1,639.62 1,133.21 1,143.69 (20.15)

Esterad Index 1,509.60 1,830.09 1,204.97 1,218.26 (19.30)

Dow Jones Bahrain Index 121.05 125.12 96.01 98.20 (18.88)

 Ithmr share traDIng

       2011       2010

Volume, No. of shares 45,433,873 125,708,423

Value, BD 1,615,440 7,123,652

 market capItalIsatIon anD turnover 

Benchmark

2011 2010

market cap 
(BD)

% of total 
market cap

share 
turnover (%)

Market Cap 
(BD)

% of Total 
Market Cap

Share 
Turnover (%)

Ithmr 68,713,252 1.10 2.35 132,140,869 1.75 5.39

Sector 2,393,210,243 38.26 2.09 2,567,870,918 33.96 1.72

Market 6,254,410,718 100.00 1.63 7,562,517,045 100.00 1.43
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share Information

 rankIng

 ITHMR’s ranking in 2011 out of the 42 local listed companies in the Bahrain Bourse.

Value of 
Shares Traded 

(BD)

Volume of 
Shares Traded

No. of 
Transactions Market Cap 

(BD)

Share 
Turnover

No. of 
Trading Days

Ranking 10 3 7 14 9 9

 traDIng Days

2011 2010

no. of 
Days %

No. of 
Days %

ITHMR 103 42.04 226 91.50

Market 245 100.00 247 100.00

 traDIng oF DIrectors anD executIve management shares

The only trading of Directors and Executive Management shares during 2011 was the purchase of 205,000 shares by Director Sheikh Zamil Abdullah Al-Zamil 

on 19 January 2011. Any interests in the shares of a bank held by the spouse(s) or children of a Director or an Executive Manager, or any other person the 

control of whose interest in such shares lies ultimately with the Director or Executive Manager.

Scott A. Creswell, Assistant General Manager, Head of Legal, General Counsel and Company Secretary, is the only member of the Executive Management team 

holding Ithmaar shares. He holds 906,400 shares.
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Glossary of Key Financial Terms Used

capital adequacy ratio
The percentage of risk-adjusted assets supported by 

capital as defined under the framework of risk-based 

capital standards developed by the Bank for International 

Settlements (BIS) and as modified to suit local 

requirements.

cost to Income ratio
Total expenses expressed as a percentage of total 

income; a measure of operational efficiency.

earnings per share
Profit (or loss) attributable to shareholders divided by the 

weighted average number of issued and paid up shares 

during the year.

Ijarah or Ijara
A lease agreement whereby a bank or financier buys 

an item for a customer and then leases it to him over 

a specific period, thus earning profits for the Bank by 

charging rental. The duration of the lease and the fee are 

set in advance. During the period of the lease, the asset 

remains in the ownership of the lessor (the Bank), but 

the lessee has the right to use it. After the expiry of the 

lease agreement, this right reverts to the lessor.

Impairment
An occurrence when the value of an asset is less than the 

carrying amount; a measure of asset quality.

Intangible asset
An identifiable non-monetary asset without physical 

substance held for use in the production or supply of 

goods and/or services.

liquid assets
Assets that are held in cash or in a form that can be 

converted to cash readily.

market capitalisation
Number of shares in issue multiplied by the market value 

of a share at a particular point in time.

mudarib
An entrepreneur or investment manager in a Mudarabah 

contract who puts the investor’s funds in a project 

or portfolio in exchange for a share of the profits. A 

Mudarabah is similar to a diversified pool of assets held 

in a discretionary asset management portfolio.

mudaraba
An investment partnership, whereby the investor provides 

capital to the entrepreneur (the ‘mudarib’) in order to 

undertake a business or investment activity. While profits 

are shared on a pre-agreed ratio, losses are borne by the 

investor alone. The mudarib loses only his share of the 

expected income. The investor has no right to interfere 

in the management of the business, but can specify 

conditions that would ensure better management of his 

money. A joint Mudaraba can exist between investors 

and a bank on a continuing basis. The investors keep 

their funds in a special fund and share the profits before 

the liquidation of those financing operations that have 

not yet reached the stage of final settlement. Many 

Islamic investment funds operate on the basis of joint 

Mudarabah.

murabaha
Cost plus financing. A form of credit that enables 

customers to make a purchase without having to take out 

an interest-bearing loan. The Bank buys an item and sells 

it to the customer on a deferred basis. The price includes 

a profit margin agreed by both parties. Repayment, 

usually in instalments, is specified in the contract.

musharaka
An investment partnership in which all partners are 

entitled to a share in the profits of a project in a mutually 

agreed ratio. Losses are shared in proportion to the 

amount invested. All partners contribute equity funds 

and have the right to exercise executive powers in that 

project, similar to a conventional partnership structure or 

the holding of voting stock in a limited company. 

Permanent Musharaka: An Islamic bank participates in 

the equity of a project and receives a share of the profit 

on a pro rata basis. The length of contract is unspecified, 

making it suitable for financing long-term projects. 

Diminishing Musharaka: This allows equity participation 

and sharing of profits on a pro rata basis, with the bank 

gradually reducing its equity in the project and ultimately 

transferring ownership of the asset to the participants; 

while the entrepreneur progressively purchases the 

bank’s equity, until the Bank has no equity and thus 

ceases to be a partner.

price earnings multiple
Market price of a share divided by the earnings per share 

(not applicable when the latter is negative).

return on average assets
Net profit (or loss) expressed as a percentage of the 

average total assets employed during the accounting 

period; a measure of profitability.

return on average equity
Net profit (or loss) expressed as a percentage of average 

total equity; a measure of profitability.

return on average paid in capital
Net profit (or loss) attributable to shareholders expressed 

as a percentage of the average issued and paid up share 

capital; a measure of profitability.

return on average shareholders’ equity
Net profit (or loss) attributable to shareholders expressed 

as a percentage of the average total owners’ equity; a 

measure of profitability.

sharia
Islamic jurisprudence. Islamic cannon law derived from 

three sources: the Quran, the Hadith and the Sunnah. A 

“Sharia-compliant” product meets the requirements of 

Islamic law.

sharia supervisory Board
A committee of Islamic scholars available to an Islamic 

financial institution for guidance and supervision in the 

development of Sharia-compliant products.

sukuk
An Islamic bond. An asset-backed bond which is 

structured in accordance with Shariah and may be 

traded in the market. A Sukuk represents proportionate 

beneficial ownership in the underlying asset, which will 

be leased to the client to yield the return on the Sukuk.

takaful
Islamic insurance based on the principle of mutual 

assistance. Takaful provides mutual protection of assets 

and property and offers joint risk-sharing in the event of 

a loss by one of the participants. It is similar to mutual 

insurance in that members are the insurers as well as the 

insured.

total equity
The sum of paid up share capital, reserves and  

minority interest.

total owners’ equity 
The sum of paid up share capital and reserves.
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Corporate Information

name oF company Ithmaar Bank B.S.C.

legal Form Ithmaar Bank B.S.C. is a Bahrain-based licensed Islamic retail bank regulated by the Central Bank of 

Bahrain, formerly an investment bank, completed a comprehensive reorganisation with its then  

wholly-owned subsidiary, Shamil Bank of Bahrain B.S.C. (c) in April 2010.

Ithmaar Bank B.S.C. is incorporated as a Bahrain shareholding company under Bahrain Commercial 

Companies Law (Law No. 21 of 2001) with its shares listed on the Bahrain Bourse and the Kuwait  

Stock Exchange.

company regIstratIon numBer CR 15210

stock exchange lIstIngs Bahrain Bourse and Kuwait Stock Exchange

stock coDe “ITHMR”

regIstereD oFFIce Seef Tower, Building 2080, Road 2825, Al Seef District 428 

P. O. Box 2820, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

Telephone: +973 1758 4000, +973 1758 5000

Facsimile: +973 1758 4017, +973 1758 5151

Swift Code: FIBHBHBM

E-mail: info@ithmaarbank.com

Website: www.ithmaarbank.com

heaD oFFIce Seef Tower, Building 2080, Road 2825, Al Seef District 428

P. O. Box 2820, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain

accountIng year enD 31 December

complIance oFFIcer Tawfiq Mohammed Al-Bastaki

Assistant General Manager - Chief Risk & Compliance Officer

company secretary Scott A. Creswell

Assistant General Manager, 

General Counsel and Company Secretary

auDItors PricewaterhouseCoopers

P.O. Box 21144, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain



corporate Information

prIncIpal operatIng suBsIDIarIes anD 
assocIates

Faysal Bank lImIteD

Full-service retail banking institution that operates in Pakistan.

Ithmaar banking group ownership and control: 66.7%

www.faysalbank.com

BBk

One of the largest commercial banks in Bahrain with a presence in Kuwait, India and Dubai.

Ithmaar banking group ownership and control: 25.4%

www.bbkonline.com

FaIsal prIvate Bank

Swiss-based bank providing Islamic financial services.

Ithmaar banking group ownership and control: 100%

www.faisalprivatebank.com

Ithmaar Development company

Developer and manager of major development projects including real estate, infrastructure, resorts,  

commercial buildings etc.

Ithmaar banking group ownership and control: 100%

www.ithmaarbank.com

sakana holIstIc housIng solutIons

Housing solutions through mortgage finance based on Islamic Sharia principles.

Ithmaar Bank and BBK each own 50%, resulting in Group controlling stake of 62.7% of Sakana.

www.sakanaonline.com

solIDarIty group holDIngs

One of the largest takaful (Islamic insurance) companies in the world.

Ithmaar banking group ownership and control: 33.8%

www.solidarity.com.bh

naseeJ

Fully integrated real estate and infrastructure development company.

Ithmaar banking group ownership and control: 29.5%

www.naseejproperties.com

FIrst leasIng Bank

Sharia-compliant equipment leasing in markets covering Bahrain, UAE, Kuwait, Qatar and Oman.

Ithmaar banking group ownership and control: 43.8%

www.1stleasingbank.com

The Ithmaar Paradox, our 2010 Annual Report which was a candid account of the Bank’s position and prospects was well received by 

organisations around the globe that recognise best practices in financial reporting. It was ranked No. 67 in the list of Top 100 Annual Reports 

of the World and No. 34 in the list of Top 50 Annual Reports of the EMEA region at the annual Vision Awards of the League of American 

Communications Professionals, competing with 5,000 entries from around the world. It also won the Gold for the Most Improved Annual 

Report Worldwide in addition to its category Platinum at this same competition. The report also won two Golds including Gold for the  

Best Chairman’s Letter at the New York-based ARC Awards, the world’s largest Annual Report Competition.
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